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1. This case arises before the Commission on exceptoothe Initial Decision
(ID or Initial Decision) issued by the PresidingrAihistrative Law Judge (ALJ)
(Carmen A. Cintron) on August 13, 2015.

2. This case involves allegations by Staff of the Cassion’s Office of
Enforcement (Enforcement Staff) that BP America,lB& Corporation North America
Inc., BP America Production Company, and BP Ené&ggnpany (collectively, BP)
executed a scheme to profit from the market camustin the aftermath of Hurricane Ike
by manipulating the price of natural gas in the ston region in violation of section 1c.1
of the Commission’s regulatioigAnti-Manipulation Rule), and section 4A of the
Natural Gas Act (NGAJ. In the ID, the ALJ found that BP had violated tae,

and in particular found that the Texas trading tedBP’s Southeast Gulf Texas desk
(Texas Team) engaged in uneconomic trading of dayi-fixed-price natural gas

at Houston Ship Channel and related transport tofrabgas from Katy, Texas to
Houston Ship Channel with the requisite intentepr@ssing the PlatGas Dailyindex
prices at Houston Ship Channel to benefit largaarfcial spread positions held by BP
that settled off the index prices during the peffrean September 18, 2008 through
November 30, 2008 (Investigative Period).

3. We affirm the ALJ’s decision. The record showd BR’s trading practices
during the Investigative Period were fraudulentieceptive, undertaken with the
requisite scienter, and carried out in connectith @ommission-jurisdictional
transactions. After reviewing the statutory fastfwr civil penalties under the NGA,

we find that it is appropriate in this case to assecivil penalty in the amount of
$20,160,000 and require BP to disgorge unjust fgrdfreceived as a result of its
manipulation of the Houston Ship Chanfls Dailyindex in the amount of $207,169.
We also deny BP’s request for rehearing (Rehed&emuest) of the order establishing a
hearing in this proceeding.

1 BP America Inc., et 1152 FERC { 63,016 (2015).
>18 C.F.R. § 1c.1 (2015).
$15U.S.C. § 717c-1 (2012).

* BP America Inc. et 31147 FERC 1 61,130 (2014) (Hearing Order).
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l. Overview

A. Statutory and Requlatory Prohibition

4. Section 4A of the NGA makes it unlawful for “anytigyi’ to utilize any
“manipulative device or contrivance” “in connectisith” Commission-jurisdictional
transactions. Specifically, section 4A provides fibllowing:

It shall be unlawful for any entity, directly ordmmectly, to

use or employ, in connection with the purchase ale ®f
natural gas or the purchase or sale of transpontaervices
subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission, any
manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance ilasse
terms are used in section 10(b) of the Securitiesh&nge

Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78j(b))) in contraventionsafch rules
and regulations as the Commission may prescribe as
necessary in the public interest or for the prodecdf natural

gas ratepayers.

5. The Commission implemented section 4A of the NGAalgpting the
Anti-Manipulation Rule in Order No. 670which provides in relevant part:

(a) It shall be unlawful for any entity, directty indirectly,
in connection with the purchase or sale of natgea or the
purchase or sale of transportation services suligcthe
jurisdiction of the Commission,

(1) To use or employ any device, scheme, or egtifi
to defraud,

(2) To make any untrue statement of a materidldac
to omit to state a material fact necessary in otder
make the statements made, in the light of the

15 U.S.C. § 717c-1See als&Energy Policy Act of 2005, Pub. L. No. 109-58,
§ 315, 119 Stat. 594, 691 (2005) (codified at 15.0. § 717c-1).

® Prohibition of Energy Market Manipulatio©rder No. 670, FERC Stats.
& Regs. 1 31,202 (2006) (Order No. 670).
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circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, or

(3) To engage in any act, practice, or course of
business that operates or would operate as a fraud
deceit upon any entity.

6. In Order No. 670, the Commission explained thdtdlid is a question of fact that
is to be determined by all the circumstances otds®” and that “include[s] any action,
transaction, or conspiracy for the purpose of impgj obstructing or defeating a well-
functioning market® For purposes of establishing scienter, the Comonissquires
reckless, knowing, or intentional actions takeranjunction with a fraudulent scheme,
material misrepresentation, or material omission.

B. Relevant Natural Gas Markets

7. Enforcement Staff alleges that the manipulativeesadin this case involves the
Texas Team and their activities that focused orHiieston Ship Channel natural gas
market. The Houston Ship Channel natural gas m@kenatural gas market in
southeast Texas that generally covers an indusiga extending from the east side of
Houston to Galveston Bay and northeastward to éreAtthur and Beaumont aréA.

A number of interstate and intrastate gas pipelopesate in the area of the Houston Ship
Channel market, including the Houston Pipeline &yst

8. The Katy, Texas natural gas market is located aedtupstream of Houston Ship
Channel. Katy is interconnected to a number oélpies and is connected to Houston
Ship Channel via the Houston Pipeline Systémilenry Hub is a natural gas pipeline
supply point and market hub in Louisiana on whi@wNYork Mercantile Exchange
(NYMEX) natural gas futures contracts settle. Herub is often considered the pricing

"18 C.F.R. 8 1c.1.

8 SeeOrder No. 670, FERC Stats. & Regs. 1 31,202 at.P 50
° See id PP 52-53.

19See, e.gEnforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at viii
1 See, e.gid.

12 5edid. at ix.
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reference point for the U.S. natural gas market @whole because of its liquidity, and the
difference between the price of natural gas at iAélub and that at a local natural gas
trading location is typically called “basis™

9. The PlattsGas Dailyindex is a natural gas index published by Platta daily
basis each business day at the end of tradingiaugdocations across the country.
These locations include Houston Ship Channel, Kaatg, Henry Hub. Platts produces
the Gas Dailyindex by collecting a daily price survey of margatticipants who
voluntarily agree to report their trades for inatumsin the index. Thé&as Dailyindex is
based on the volume-weighted average price ofaperted fixed-price, next-dal
physical trades at each location occurring prict2B0 am CT> PlattsGas Daily
publishes a daily index for each business day\otlg the end of trading and, at the end
of each month, a monthly average for each publisheation by averaging th@as Daily
prices for that month. During the period at issuthis proceeding, BP reported to Platts
its next-day fixed-price physical transactions]uding at Houston Ship Channel and
Katy, for inclusion in th&as Dailyindex®

C. Relevant Products and Positions

10. Physical natural gas transactions require the boryseller to make or take actual
delivery of the physical natural gas commodity. ddytrast, financial transactions are
settled in cash without any requirement to makeke physical delivery of natural g4s.
In the case of financial natural gas transactiartsader with a “long” financial position
experiences a net financial gain relative to tlosigon if the value of the underlying
product against which that financial position igpd increases in value prior to selling
out the long position, or prior to the settlemehthat financial instrument. Conversely, a

13 Seeid. at viii; Ex. OE-001 at 35:2-10.

14 As relevant to this case, fixed-price transactionslve the purchase or sale of
natural gas at a specified dollar amount per nmlBsitish Thermal Units (MMBtu) that
is agreed upon at the time the parties enter h@dransaction, and next-day transactions
involve making or taking delivery of the naturakghe next day at a specific location.
SeeEnforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at xii-i

1>SeelD at P 68 n.48 (citing Ex. OE-211 at 41 n.22).
® See idP 34 n.12; Ex. OE-001 at 42:17-43:10; Ex. OE-08548t7-20.

17 SeeEx. OE-001 at 33:7-10.
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trader with a “short” financial position experiesce net financial gain relative to that
position if the value of the underlying product mg&which that financial position is
priced falls prior to covering the short positian,prior to the settlement of that financial
instrument®®

11. Both physical and financial natural gas transastimay be consummated on
electronic trading platforms or by direct or brakg@transactions. Electronic trading
platforms, such as the CME Globex and the Intefnental Exchange, Inc.’s (ICE)
WebICE, offer market participants the ability tarisact with other counterparties
electronically anytime, anywhet&. These electronic trading platforms allow all éted
verified participants to observe and participatéhmmarket in real-time. Depending on
the product, trades executed on an electronicriggpliatform may be bilateral or
exchange cleared. Brokered market transactionthase that are facilitated by a broker
who helps to connect buyers and sellers and csliebroker fee. Direct transactions are
those that take place when a buyer or seller dyreontacts a counterparty with which
they wish to do business. Participants in direct larokered transactions may monitor
the electronic exchanges and rely on them for mtiseovery”

12. When trading physical natural gas, a trader magepéa“bid” or an “offer.” A bid
indicates that a trader wants to buy a specifieahtjity of natural gas, at a specified price,
and at a specified location. An offer, by contrasdicates that a trader wants to sell a
specified quantity of natural gas, at a specifigdgp and at a specified location. When
another market participant agrees to sell at #detr's bid price, that participant has “hit
the bid.” When another market participant agredsuly at the trader’s offer price, that
participant has “lifted the offer.” The “bid-askgread” is the price differential between
the highest bid shown by a buyer and the lowestraffiown by a sellét.

13. One type of physical natural gas position is a loaseposition. Baseload
positions are physical contracts that flow equabants of gas each day of the flow
month? In the context of baseload positions, the hotf¢he position must become

8 See idat 38:3-7.

19 Subject to exchange trading schedules and hours.
0 SeeEx. OE-001at 35:20-36:12.

I See idat 39:17-40:6.

22 SeeEnforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 8.
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“flat,” or “flatten” their daily starting positiooy the end of each trading day in the
month. For example, if a trader has a net longtmbaseload position (i.e., the trader
has purchased a physical quantity of natural gakdminot yet sold the full physical
quantity to another counterparty), then the tradest sell a net amount of natural gas
equal to the starting baseload position by theafrehch trading day in the month to
flatten that long positioi® A trader must take physical delivery of the baadlnatural
gas position, flatten his or her physical posite@th day prior to delivery, or face a
potential penalty?

D. BP’s Houston Ship Channel-Henry Hub Spread Positiomnd
Hurricane lke

14. As relevant to this case, BP had a financial nagaa position that included short
Gas Dailyindex exposure at Houston Ship Channel and &ag Dailyindex exposure
at Henry Hub®™ BP’s shoriGas Dailyindex exposure at Houston Ship Channel would
benefit if the Houston Ship Chanr@hs Dailyindex decreased and BP’s loGgs Daily
index exposure at Henry Hub would benefit if thenryeHubGas Dailyindex increased.
These positions combined to create a “spread”iposihat would benefit when the
difference, or spread, between the Houston Shim@#iaand Henry Huksas Daily

index prices grew wide®. In other words, BP’s spread position would firatig benefit
from a lower Houston Ship Chanr@és Dailyindex price relative to the Henry Hub
Gas Dailyindex price?’

15. BP had its Houston Ship Channel-Henry Hub spreadipo in place when
Hurricane Ike made landfall on September 13, 2@0t¢h interrupted the natural gas
market and caused Houston Ship Cha@ed Dailyindex prices to decrease sharply
relative to Henry Hulésas Dailyindex prices. This resulted in a sizeable realjaexdit

and unrealized (i.e., potential) profit for BP’s itédon Ship Channel-Henry Hub financial
spread position. The more slowly the Houston &ipnnel-Henry Hulias Daily

spread narrowed each day until the end of Septertiiiemore money BP stood to make

23 SeeEx. OE-001 at 38:18-39:1.

4 See idat 39:1-3.

% See, e.glD at P 6.

® See id.See als&Ex. OE-001 at 51:20-22.

" See, e.gEx. OE-001 at 53:9-12.
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on its spread positioff. In particular, Enforcement Staff withess PatricBérgin
(Bergin) testified that the value of BP’s spreadipon in late September would retain
$19,800 for every cent that BP could slow the naimg of the Houston Ship Channel-
Henry Hub spreatf As a result, BP had a financial incentive to stbe shrinkage of
the Houston Ship Channel-Henry Hub spread thatieame Ike had created.

E. BP’s Manipulative Scheme

16. Enforcement Staff alleges that BP devised a maaipa scheme after it
discovered that its Houston Ship Channel-Henry Bjutead position had benefited in the
aftermath of Hurricane Ike, and realized thathd spread persisted, it had the potential
to be worth millions of dollar® Enforcement Staff further alleges that BP’s schevas
to manipulate the price of Commission-jurisdictibimansactions through uneconomic
trading of next-day, fixed-price natural gas at ktom Ship Channel, and transportation
of natural gas from Katy to Houston Ship Chanmelh manner designed to artificially
suppress the Houston Ship Chan@ak Dailyindex price relative to Henry Hub, and
thereby benefit BP’s Houston Ship Channel-Henry Hpitead position. In short, what
Enforcement Staff has alleged is a cross-producglated-position manipulation, a type
of scheme that the Commission has encounteredigtjctional markets, in which an
entity makes uneconomic trades or transport irpthesical market in order to influence
average prices at a particular location and thebamefit derivative financial positions
whose value is in some measure tied to those ptices

2 |D at PP 7, 36.
291d. P 37 (citing Ex. OE-001 at 110:13-16).

9BP America Ing.et al, 144 FERC { 61,100, Enforcement Staff Repod
Recommendation at 1 (2013).

31 See, e.g., Barclays Bank PLGt4 FERC 61,041, at P 129 (2013) (describing
a related-position manipulatiorBdrclay9; Constellation Energy Commodities Group,
Inc., 138 FERC 1 61,168 at PP 11-17 (2012) (settleimelgtr describing related-position
scheme in power market&gnergy Transfer Partners, L.,PL20 FERC { 61,086
at PP 5-14 (2007) (order to show cause descrilglaged-position scheme in natural gas
markets).



Docket Nos. IN13-15-000 and IN13-15-001 -10 -

17. Specifically, Enforcement Staff alleges that BPrded its next-day, fixed price
natural gas trading and transport in the followenght different ways after Hurricane lke:

a. a shift almost entirely to net selling at HoustdnpSChannel, such that
BP became the seller with the largest market shates next-day,
fixed-price market at Houston Ship Channel durlng lhvestigative
Period,

b. an increase in the percentage and volume of Bieslfprice sales at
Houston Ship Channel;

c. a shift to selling heavier volumes at Houston SEli@annel early in the
trading day, including selling 35 percent of its @ Houston Ship
Channel before Katy even began trading;

d. a shift to buying at Houston Ship Channel latehmday as compared
to earlier periods;

e. a shift to transporting substantially more gas tmston Ship Channel
from Katy using BP’s Houston Pipeline System tramsp

f. anincrease in the percentage of sales at HoustipnChannel that were
uneconomic compared to contemporaneous pricestgt Ka

g. a shift to posting aggressively lower offers conaglaio other sellers at
Houston Ship Channel; and

h. an increase in the frequency of sales made bygittids®

18. Enforcement Staff alleges that these changesdinggaand transport patterns
forced the Houston Ship Chanrighs Dailyindex price downward, thereby slowing the
shrinkage of the Houston Ship Channel-Henry Hulkapand benefiting BP’s spread
position®® By the end of September, BP had made $3,49912pfbfits on its spread

2|D at P 9. As noted above, a bid indicates thaader wants tbuy a specified
guantity of natural gas at a specified price. A by contrast, indicates that a trader
wants tosell a specified quantity of natural gas at a specibiece. When another market
participant agrees to sell at the trader’s bidgyribat participant has “hit the bidSee
Ex. OE-001 at 39:17.

¥ See, e.glD at P 10.
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position, which was a substantially greater pribfen BP had made in any prior month in
2008 on similar spread positiofis.

19. BP thenincreased its short exposure to the Housthom ChanneGas Dailyindex
for both October and November 2008. Through mb&atober 2008, BP maintained a
Houston Ship Channel-Henry Hub short spread posédimounting to more than seven
contractd® per day*® The November Houston Ship Channel-Henry Hub sspetad
position of 24 contracts per day was larger thais BPread positions going into any
other month of 2008 besides Marth.

20. In addition, BP built up its physical baseload giosiduring the Investigative
Period so that it had a net long baseload pos#idfaty, which gave BP a large supply
of Katy gas “that they had to seff®” BP had the option to sell this gas at Katy or
Houston Ship Channel, but during the Investigaeeiod, BP sold it heavily at

Houston Ship Channél. Before Hurricane Ike, in early September, BP’s

September daily physical baseload positions wenergdly balanced between

long Katy and short Houston Ship Channel. HoweB&rexpanded its long Katy
baseload position, becoming net longer at Katyudhothe rest of September. BP then
substantially increased its long baseload posfoi®October at Katy while decreasing its
October short baseload position at Houston Shi;@éla BP did the same for

% 1d. P 37 (citing Ex. OE-001 at 79-80).

% Contracts are stated in terms of multiples oftttechmark NYMEX natural gas
futures contract of 10,000 MMBtu. MMBtus is a naift British Thermal Units. For
example, 31 contracts are 310,000 MMBtus.

*|D at P 38. BP had a greater Houston Ship Chadeaty Hub spread position
of 17.5 contracts per day when Hurricane lke hBaptemberSeed. at P 115 n.87.
However, BP’s Houston Ship Channel-Henry Hub shpread position was only
approximately three contracts per day going intto@er, and BP then increased this to
7.8 contracts per day by October 3 and increasddurther later in OctoberSeeEx.
OE-001 at 82.

3"ID at P 38.
%8 1d. P 39.

¥d.
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November, which again resulted in a larger Novenmie¢idong physical baseload
position at Katy"’

21. Enforcement Staff withess Dr. Rosa M. Abrantes-M@tazrantes-Metz) testified
that, in the Investigative Period, BP substantialreased usage of its daily firm
transportation capacity on the Houston Pipelinaegswhich connects Katy and
Houston Ship Channét. Abrantes-Metz testified that BP shifted to trasrsipg more

gas to Houston Ship Channel using its Houston Pip&ystem capacity without regard
to profit during the Investigative Period and imear greater losses on transport during
the Investigative Period as compared to the tratesdrom January 2, 2008 through
September 10, 2008 (Pre-Investigative Perfddyhe natural effect of increasing supply
at Houston Ship Channel relative to demand wasdaae prices.

22. On November 5, 2008, a member of BP’s Texas Tedayt@ Luskie (Luskie),
had a conversation with a senior BP official Jafadker. Soon after this conversation,
Luskie called another member of the Texas Teangyar&omfort (Comfort). This
telephone call was recorded by BP. Enforcemerit 8itages that BP’s manipulative
scheme was revealed by Luskie during this conversatith Parker and the recorded
phone call with Comfort? Enforcement Staff withess Abrantes-Metz found, thfier

the November 5 call, BP stopped losing money amsfrart and its transport performance
was more consistent with its performance in Sepgertiirough November 2007.
Similarly, Enforcement Staff witness Bergin testifithat BP’s physical trading at
Houston Ship Channel was profitable over the redeiof November 2008 after the
November 5 calf?

1d. P 40.
“1d. P 53.
“21d. P 56.
*3 See, e.gid. PP 85, 100-03.
*1d. P 56.

°1d. P 76.
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F. Impact on Jurisdictional Markets

23. Enforcement Staff alleged, and the ALJ found, Bfats scheme directly affected
sales and transport of natural gas subject to tmarfission’s jurisdiction in at least
three ways. First, the ALJ found that by manigatathe index prices at Houston Ship
Channel, the scheme directly affected the valugatiiral gas subject to the
Commission’s jurisdiction sold by third parties atnleast 46 occasions during the
Investigative Period, and therefore the schemeimvasnnection with purchases or
sales subject to the Commission’s jurisdictfdrSecond, the ALJ found that
Enforcement Staff proved that the scheme diredtgcted the value of “cash-out”
transactions performed by pipelines during the stigative Period” Cash-outs are
Commission-jurisdictional transactions used by |igs to correct imbalances in the
transportation systeffi. Because there were cash-out transactions in 8epte October,
and November whose prices were tied to the HouStop Channel index that BP had
manipulated, the ALJ found that the scheme wagimection with purchases or sales
subject to the Commission’s jurisdictiéh.Finally, the ALJ found that on at least

52 occasions during the Investigative Period, BR¥sas Team had also sold
Commission-jurisdictional natural gas pursuanotoyhose prices were directly
affected by, BP’s manipulative scheffle.

Il Procedural History

24. On August 5, 2013, the Commission issued an Oal&hbw Cause (Order

to Show Cause) and Notice of Proposed Penratiirecting BP to show why the
Commission should not find that BP violated theiAanipulation Rule and section 4A
of the NGA by manipulating the next-day, fixed-gricatural gas market at Houston Ship
Channel from mid-September 2008 through NovembgRB08—i.e., during the
Investigative Period. In the Enforcement Staff & pnd Recommendation

“°1d. P 147.
“71d. P 153.
% 1d.
1d.
*01d. P 156.

> BP America Ing.et al, 144 FERC 1 61,100 (2013).
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accompanying the Order to Show Cause (Staff Regonfprcement Staff alleges that
BP engaged in the manipulative scheme at Houstgn@&annel described above with
scienter and in connection with jurisdictional santions>?

25. The Order to Show Cause further directed BP to sivhwit should not pay NGA
civil penalties in the amount of $28,000,000 arshdrge $800,000 in unjust profits, plus
interest, resulting from market manipulation, anadification to these amounts as
warranted.

26. On October 4, 2013, BP filed an answer to the Or@&how Cause and motions
to dismiss. BP denied all material allegationthm Order to Show Cause and contended
that the Commission lacked jurisdiction over tl@sactions alleged to have violated the
Commission’s regulations and NGA, and thereforeiested dismissal without further
action.

27. On December 4, 2013, Enforcement Staff filed ayéplBP’s answer to the
Order to Show Cause and motions to dismiss. OriDbeer 19, 2013, BP filed a motion
for leave to file a response and a proposed regponsSnforcement Staff's reply and
Enforcement Staff, in turn, sought leave to fileua-reply, which leave the Commission
denied to both parties.

28. Inits Hearing Order issued May 15, 2014, the Cossion denied BP’s motions

to dismiss and directed the ALJ to determine whelkeviolated section 4A of the NGA
and the Commission’s Anti-Manipulation Rule. Then@nission further directed the
ALJ to make findings respecting subject mattersgiGtion and each of the elements of a
manipulation claim, as described in section 1c.thefCommission’s regulations. The
Commission also ordered the ALJ to ascertain fatevant for any application of the
Commission’s Penalty Guidelinés.As noted, the Commission also denied BP and
Enforcement Staff leave to file a response andepis, respectively, under the

authority of Rule 213(a)(2) of the Commission’s &ubf Practice and Procedure,

18 C.F.R. § 385.213(a)(2) (201%).

>2|d., Staff Report at 35, 69-71.
53 Seel8 C.F.R. § 1c.1(a); Order No. 670, FERC Stats.e@®R { 31,202 at P 49.

>4 See Revised Policy Statement on Penalty Guidell3&sFERC 61,216
(2010).

>>Hearing Order at P 11.
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29. BP filed the Rehearing Request of the Hearing Oodelune 13, 2014. On

July 14, 2014, the Commission issued an order mxgunéhearing for further
consideratiori’ BP’s Rehearing Request is currently pending Ccssimin action.

In this order, the Commission denies BP’s RehedRieaguest, for the reasons set forth
below.

30. Enforcement Staff filed its Initial Testimony on@ember 22, 2014, as amended
on October 23, 2014. BP Filed its Responsive fresty on January 6, 2015. On
February 13, 2015, Enforcement Staff filed its RelTestimony’’ The record of

the hearing, which commenced on March 30, 2015candluded on April 15, 2015,
consists of 2,657 transcript pages and 325 extiibiEnforcement Staff called at the
hearing two experts for summary direct testimongr(@ with pre-filed written expert
testimony)—Abrantes-Metz and Bergin—and eleven eshréal fact withesses (as well
as offering pre-filed written testimony of six ¢fose fact witnesses). BP called live
two expert withesses for summary direct testimatgr(g with pre-filed written
testimony)—Matthew Evans (Evans) and Richard G. &h{&mead)—both of whom
Enforcement Staff cross-examined at the heating.

31. BP also took live testimony at the hearing of six of the eleven witnesses
called by Enforcement Staff (those who had offgresdfiled written testimony), and
cross-examined at the hearing Enforcement Statperts Abrantes-Metz and Bergin
and the five adversarial fact witnesses who didpnetfile testimony. BP waived
cross-examination of Enforcement Staff’s third expér. Ehud Ronn (Ronn), and
Ronn’s pre-filed testimony and exhibits were adeditas part of the hearing record by
stipulation of the parties. By joint motion, theréstigative testimony and related
exhibits of James Parker were entered into therdeco

32. Initial post-hearing briefs were filed on May 1815, and reply briefs were filed
on June 12, 2015.

*° BP America Inc., et glOrder Granting Rehearing for Further Considergtio
Docket No. IN13-15-001, (July 14, 2014) (delegdedter order).

>’ SeeBP Br. on Exceptions at 6-7.
*8 SeeEnforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 5.

*9 Sedd. at 4-5 (description of hearing and pre-hearingaliscy).
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33. The ALJ issued the ID on August 13, 2015, whichatoded that “the evidence in
this case supports the finding that BP violatedi8es 1c.1 of the Commission’s
Regulations and 4A of the NGA” The ID found that BP, through its Texas Team,
participated “in a scheme to manipulate the mabketelling next-day, fixed price
natural gas at [Houston Ship Channel] during thestigative Period, in such a way that
they managed to suppress Gas Dailyindex and benefit their financial positiorfg.”

The ID further found that BP engaged in its marapiue scheme with the requisite
scienter and in connection with jurisdictional santion$? As requested by the
Commission, the ID also made findings with respedhe applicability of certain
provisions of the Commission’s Penalty Guidelinasdd on the record developed at the
hearing concerningnter alia, BP’s prior conduct and the failure of its compta
program with respect to the alleged unlawful trgdin issué>

34. On September 14, 2015, BP filed a brief on exceptto the ID (BP Br. on
Exceptions). On October 5, 2015, Enforcement Sileft a brief opposing BP’s
exceptions (Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Excersjo

35. BP takes exception to the ID in its entif8tgnd asserts sixty-six (66) specific
exceptions to the findings and conclusions sehforthe ID®° BP’s specific exceptions
primarily rest upon BP’s disagreement with: (1§ tB’s application of the burden of
proof and its finding that Enforcement Staff msthurden of proof® (2) the ID’s
findings that the record evidence supported a figdif manipulatior? (3) the ID’s

1D at P 82.

®11d. (“BP took affirmative actions by and through itaders with no profit
explanation for Texas [T]eam’s primary responsipiis physical day asset traders other
than unlawful gains through successful market maatpn of the Gas Daily index price
at [Houston Ship Channel].”).

%2 See idPP 128, 146.

% See, e.gid. PP 278-279.
° BP Br. on Exceptions at 2.
®1d. at 7-13.

%1d. at 8.

71d. at 8-10.
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findings regarding the relative merits of the asal/and theories presented by
Enforcement Staff’'s witnesses and BP’s witnessed tlae relative credibility of

those witnesse¥;(4) the ID’s conclusion that BP possessed manipelantent®® (5) the
ID’s determination that the Commission has jurisdit over the transactions at issue in
this proceeding® and (6) the ID’s application of and findings rélatto certain
provisions of the Commission’s Penalty Guidelifies.

36. Enforcement Staff endorses the ALJ’s ID, assettwad) the controlling law and
evidentiary record created in this proceeding fallpport the ID’s findings as to all
issues set for hearing, including whether it israppate for the Commission to exercise
jurisdiction and whether BP violated section 1d.the Commission’s regulatiors.
Enforcement Staff opposes 65 of BP's 66 specifiepions to the 13°

I"l. Procedural Issues

A. BP’s Rehearing Request of the Commission’s HearinQrder

37. Inits Rehearing Request, BP seeks to re-argueuadgapf notice, the sufficiency
of Enforcement Staff’s manipulation and jurisdiciab allegations, scienter, and the
application of the Penalty Guidelines—arguments Bfapreviously raised, and the
Commission considered and rejected in the Hearimg3* Significantly, BP does not

*®1d.

®|d. at 10.

°1d. at 10-11.

1d. at 11-13.

2 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 4.

31d. Enforcement Staff does not oppose BP exceptiomébhich BP asserts
that the ID erred in finding that Enforcement Staffl BP abused the protective order
process.See idat 50 n.207; BP Br. on Exceptions at 13. This ptoa is addressed
below in section IV.C.2.

"* CompareRehearing Request at 5-7 (listing issues reldtrjgrisdiction (issues
1-4), adequacy of notice (issue 5), sufficiencynainipulation claim (issue 6), standard
for scienter (issue 7), sufficiency of allegatidissue 8) and application of the
Commission’s Penalty Guidelines (issueWith Hearing Order at PP 35-37 (notice),

(continued...)
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raise any materially new arguments or intervenimgnge in controlling law or facts that
would merit reconsideration. Accordingly, we affithe Commission’s prior rulings
and, therefore, deny BP’s Rehearing Request.

38. While denying BP’s Rehearing Request, we do addnesgediately below (and in
the relevant scienter and jurisdictions sectionsusfdiscussion herein of the ID’s
findings) the arbitrariness arguments that BP saiiséts Rehearing Request and related
exceptions.

1. The Hearing Order’s Denial of BP’s Motion to Dismis for
Inadequate Notice and Insufficient Manipulation Allegations

39. The Hearing Order expressly found that “[Enforceth8iaff alleges a type of
conduct that would violate the Anti-ManipulationIRas a threshold legal matter,” and
further specified that “[t]he types of conduct pimted in Order No. 670 include the
physical trading and transport of natural gas withintent to artificially affect prices and
benefit financial positions, as [Enforcement] Stdféged here™ Indeed, the
Commission has not been alone in finding that actkertaken to influence or affect
market prices, rather than legitimate economic-thaseisions to buy or sell (or to offer
or withdraw supply), may constitute market manigialaoutside the genuine interplay of
supply and demand.

38-41 (sufficiency of manipulation claim), 15-38r{sdiction), 43-44 (scienter) and
48-49 (penalty).

> Hearing Order at P 36 & n.96 (citing for companiga’' S| Communications,
Inc. v. The Shaar Fund, Ltd&493 F.3d 87, 100 (2d Cir. 2007) (citiBgnst & Ernst v.
Hochfelder 425 U.S. 185, 199 (1976) (Manipulation in thews#ies markets “connotes
intentional or willful conduct designed to deceoredefraud investors by controlling
or artificially affecting the price of securitie})” See als&GEC v. BadianNo. 06
Civ. 2621(LTS)(DFE), 2008 WL 3914872, at *4 (S.DYNAug. 22, 2008) (“Market
manipulation is the deliberate and knowing attetapihterfere with the free and efficient
operation of the market by manipulative acts innaation with the purchase or sale of
securities.”).

® See Barclaysl44 FERC 1 61,041 at PP 50-58 (discussing hoporetents
“intentionally manipulated Commission-jurisdictidnqdnysical markets” where the
“evidence demonstrates that the intentional amgs#ithe positions and trading to
influence price were not based on normal supplydgamdand fundamentals, but rather on
the intent to effect a scheme to manipulate thesighy markets in order to benefit the

(continued...)
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40. The Commission recognized the potential influerfoeaoly, heavy-volume trades
on the development of a volume-weighted averagepsuch as th@as Daily IndexX’

Financial Swaps.”)see also, e.g., In re Amaranth Nat. Gas Commodiiieg 587 F.
Supp. 2d 513, 534 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (“[A] legitimatansaction combined with an
improper motive is commodities manipulationQargill v. Hardin, 452 F.2d 1154, 1163
(8th Cir. 1971) (“The methods and techniques ofimalation are limited only by the
ingenuity of man. The aim must be therefore taaier whether conduct has been
intentionally engaged in which has resulted iniagowhich does not reflect basic forces
of supply and demand.”}J.S. v. Radley659 F.Supp.2d 803, 813 (S.D. Tex. 2009)
(“Courts and the CFTC have broadly defined pricaimaation in the civil context as
the ‘intentional exaction of a price determinedfémces other than supply and
demand.”) (quotingrey v. CFTG 931 F.2d 1171, 1175 (7th Cir. 1991)). In theteust
context, the Supreme Court has ruled: “[M]arkehipalation in its various
manifestations is implicitly an artificial stimulagpplied to (or at times a brake on)
market prices, a force which distorts those priedactor which prevents the
determination of those prices by free competitimme.” U.S. v. Socony-Vacuum Oil
Co.,, 310 U.S. 150, 223 (1940).

" SeeHearing Order at P 41 (“[Enforcement Staff] argtrest ‘marking the open’
sets the tone early and could have a large impathedevelopment of the daily volume
weighted average price” of the Houston Ship Cha@as Dailyindex.) (citation
omitted). The potential to not only outperform higo to influence or manipulate a
volume-weighted average price is the subject obictmrable trade press discussi@ee,
e.g.,Grant JohnseWWAP flawed in measuring total cost of tra8ension &
Investments (Feb. 20, 2006) (“Trading has a greatkerence on the [volume-weighted
average price] as the order size increase as ameatdaily volume, which typically is
the case for illiquid securities.”®vailable at
http://www.pionline.com/article/20060220/PRINT/6 @7 03/vwap-flawed-in-
measuring-total-cost-of-tradsee id (“Manipulation: The [volume-weighted average
price] of any security changes over the trading @&mayrades are printed in the market.
Thus, a trader can increase control of the [voluveeghted average price] by
increasing the pace of order execution and padiicig heavily in the market.”see also
Matt Levine,Banks Will Charge Extra for Not Manipulating FBloombergView
(Feb. 10, 2015) at n. 3 (“A classic benchmark isir@-weighted average price in equity
markets. There is a whole industry of ways forksaio beat the [volume-weighted
average price], and to pass on some of the satongsu.”), available at
http://bloombergview.com/articles/2015-02-09/bamkli-charge-extra-for-not-
manipulating-fx.
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The Hearing Order thus directed that “[t]he ALJ ncaypsider . . . whether [alleged
manipulative] activities sent false signals or etiégl prices in a way that was not
reflective of the genuine interplay of supply aredréind.”®

41. As the Commission succinctly stated:

A fundamental responsibility of the Commissionasensure
that prices are ‘just and reasonable,” and consdlyue
market-based pricing depends on the ‘accuracyaliéty
and transparency’ of the index prices used toeséttdes.
[Enforcement Staff] has sufficiently alleged, aghaeshold
matter, that BP’s conduct—including its “markingeth
open’—violated the Anti-Manipulation Rule. BP’steanhpt
to distinguish [Enforcement Staff's] allegations orfr
‘marking the close’ in futures contracts missesrtiegk. The
pricing period of natural gas indices is the voluweighted
average price for the specified period. Thusafdrily index
such as Houston Ship Chan&as Daily the relevant pricing
period might be the trading day (or certain howsrd) the
day) when reported prices are averaged by voluni@is
period of time is analogous to the two-minute clgsperiod
in futures markets when qualifying trades are ayeda’

We affirm the Commission’s prior ruling.

8 Hearing Order at P 39.

91d. P 40 (footnotes omitted). On the ground thaeduates price and period,”
BP criticizes the sentence in the Hearing Ordergtedes: “The pricingeriod of natural
gas indices is the volume-weighted averpgee for the specified period.” Rehearing
Request at 30 (quoting Hearing Order at P 40 (esiplaaded)). It certainly would have
been clearer for the Commission to have statedeado now: “The pricing of natural
gas indices is based on the volume-weighted avgmage of transactions during the
specified period.”SeeMethodology and Specification Guide, Platts: Naoktherican
Natural Gas(2014) at 4 (cited in Hearing Order at P 40 n.1(0%ihe daily midpoint,
commonly called the GDA (Gas Daily average), iswbkime-weighted average of all
the transactions reported to Platts that are usedltulate the index for each point.”).
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2. BP’s Rehearing Request and Exceptions Regarding Adaacy of
Notice and Sufficiency of Manipulation Claim Allegdions

42. Inits Rehearing Request, BP asserts that the htg@nider denies due process by
failing to provide adequate notice of potentialtypermissible behavior, in particular,
that the transport and trading activity allegeddnjorcement Staff would be
impermissible® BP acknowledges that the Energy Policy Act of®20@ight not

require the Commission to ‘identify in advance gv&@ngle fact pattern or scheme that
could give rise to a claim of manipulation,” buaiens that “due process requires notice
that extends beyond ‘any’ conduét.”BP claims that “[n]either the Commission nor
Enforcement Staff has provided any notice to BEherindustry that open-market trades
may be considered manipulativ&.”

43. BP also asserts that the Hearing Order is arbiadycapricious because it failed
to reject Enforcement Staff's “implausible theotifat “marking the open” is a basis for
a manipulation claim and also failed to accept BRésember 19, 2013 response (i.e., to
Enforcement Staff’s reply to BP’s answer to the @i Show Causéy.

44. On exceptions, BP continues to make the argumentabhoreduced to a single
paragraph—that Enforcement Staff's theory of “magkihe open” or “framing the
market” does not state a cognizable manipulatiamtbecause it “has never been
determined to be illegitimate in any applicablecedent.?*

45. BP further argues that the Commission acted arlijtia the Hearing Order by
determining that Rule 209 of the Commission’s RuieBractice and Proceddre

governs the sufficiency of jurisdictional allegatsoin the Staff Report accompanying the
Order to Show Caug8.

8 Rehearing Request at 6 (Statement of Issue N@6537.
®11d. at 31.

®21d. at 35.

% d. at 9-10.

8 BP Br. on Exceptions at 65.

818 C.F.R. § 385.209 (2015).

8 Rehearing Request at 7 (Statement of Issue N88S39.
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3. Commission Determination on Adequacy of Notice and
Sufficiency of Manipulation Claim Allegations

46. BP asserts that the Commission acted arbitrarithenHearing Order by not
dismissing Enforcement Staff’'s manipulation claiaséd on a “framing the market”
theory for lack of adequate notice and insufficieffc BP does not dispute that in

Order No. 670 the Commission gave notice that eingag any scheme or device for the
purpose of impairing, obstructing, or defeatingarnission-jurisdictional market could
fall within the scope of the Anti-Manipulation Rul®&or can it genuinely be disputed
that the types of conduct prohibited in Order B0 include the physical trading and
transport of natural gas with the intent to ari#fiky affect prices used in the formation of
an index, which in turn benefits financial posispas Enforcement Staff alleges here.
The Commission rejects BP’s claim that it lackeddqhte notice that such conduct
could be found to violate the Anti-Manipulation Rf BP also claims that “[w]hen
reduced the “framing the market theory rests on allegasichat BP’s trading was too
heavy early in the day and was not sufficientlyfipable.”® In fact, the Commission

87 Upon adoption of the Anti-Manipulation rule, ther@mission gave notice that
engaging irany scheme or device, including for the purpose adcfhg (i.e., impairing,
obstructing, or defeating) a “well-functioning matK could fall within the scope of the
Anti-Manipulation Rule.SeeHearing Order at P 36 & n.96. That “any” conduct
prohibited in Order No. 670 would include the unsmmic physical trading and transport
of natural gas with the intent to artificially afteprices and benefit financial positions is
no surprise. Indeed, competitive pricing dependthe “accuracy, reliability and
transparency” of the index prices used to setldds; and the Commission has sought to
ensure that such reported indexes are free fromamtiyity that may reflect an attempt
to manipulate energy price indicedd. P 40 n.103 (citing prior orders and regulations
concerning price discovery in natural gas markefs.the Commission previously
noted, “[n]othing in the [NGA] statute or our regtibns requires the Commission to
identify in advance every single fact pattern dresoe that could give rise to a claim of
manipulation.” Id. P 36. Just as the U.S. Supreme Court has steet{h]ovel or
atypical methods should not provide immunity frdra securities laws,” novel schemes
or methods do not provide immunity from the Antithjaulation Rule in the
Commission-regulated marketSeeHearing Order at P 37 n.99 (quotiSgperintendent
of Ins. v. Bankers Life & Gas Gal04 U.S. 6, 10 n.7 (1971) (quotiAgT. Brod & Co. v.
Perlow, 375 F.2d 393, 397 (2d Cir. 1967))).

8 SeeHearing Order at P 36.

% Rehearing Request at 32.
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relied on considerably more than such an admitt&eiyuced” version of Enforcement
Staff's allegations in setting this case for a imgar

Here, the Staff Report includes specific allegatiaf BP’s
use of Houston Pipeline transport to ship natued gom
Katy to Houston Ship Channel, not for the purpode o
increasing supply to meet actual or perceived deimbnt to
engage in heavy selling of natural gas at the apfethe
Houston Ship Channel Markahcluding by ‘hitting bids’ in
unprofitable transactions with the intent to sugprerices,

motivated by a desire to benefit BP’s . . . finahgiositions
that settled based on a related Houston Ship Chasas
Daily index®

47. Moreover, Enforcement Staff's theory, and ultimateof at the hearing (as
discussed below), rest not only on evidence of afitable transport and trading, but also
on BP’s significant change in trading patternsg@sirmed by econometric analyses,
involving uneconomic transport to Houston Ship Glerand increased early and heavy
trading at artificially low prices at Houston Shgmannel, where BP became the largest
net seller during the Investigative Period, as w&elsubstantial corroborating evidence
of scienter—i.e., showing the intent to suppressptice of the Houston Ship Channel
Gas Dailyindex to benefit certain financial positions.

48. BP mischaracterizes and oversimplifies the substah&nforcement Staff's
theory by asserting that “[tjhe ‘marking the open*framing the market’ theory asserts
that early trading behavior by one market partictpaill significantly dictatdemphasis
added)] later trading activity ather[emphasiBP’s] market participants’® Consistent
with the 1D, we understand Enforcement Staff's tiyedo be more nuance€d. We

% Hearing Order at P 38 (emphasis added).
%1 Rehearing Request at 28.

%2 SeeHearing Order at P 41 (“[Enforcement] Staff argtrest ‘marking the open’
sets the tone early and could have a large impatite@development of the daily volume-
weighted average price.”See alsdD at P 48 (“Heavy one-directional selling earty i
the trading session has a greater likelihood ofrfipan indirect, informational impact on
the bids, offers, and prices of subsequent markeicgpants. Knowing this, market
manipulators attempt to indirectly influence oth@arket participants to shift their
trading in the direction that benefits the manipadd).
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therefore understand that Enforcement Staff's “frapthe market” theory does not
require accepting, as BP suggests, that one mpaketipant will “significantly dictate”
another market participant’s trading later in tlag.dInstead, Enforcement Staff’s theory
recognizes that large-volume trades will weigh ligaon a volume-weighted index, and
that means that large-volume trades executed istthe relevant trading period will

have an impact on the developing index, which in ttan influence the trading decisions
that other market participants may decide to matay in the same trading period.

49. Even case law on which BP relies shows that maaijur in the securities
markets “connotes intentional or willful conducsamed to deceive or defraud investors
by controlling or artificially affecting the pricef securities.*® Mere dissimilarities
between schemes in securities cases and Enforc&tadfis allegations are not grounds
for dismissal. As the Supreme Court has statetd'finfvel or atypical methods should
not provide immunity from the securities laws,” mbgchemes or methods do not
provide immunity from the Anti-Manipulation Rule the Commission-regulated
markets™ Because fraud is fundamentally a question of fattte proper inquiry is

% See ATSI Communications, Inc. v. The Shaar Fund4B8 F.3d 87, 100
(2d Cir. 2007) (citingernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder25 U.S. 185, 199 (1976)) (cited in
Rehearing Request at 35). Similarly, Enforcemeéatf @lleges here an intentional
scheme to artificially depress the Houston Shiprdke&éGas Dailyindex to benefit
financial positions that settle off that index.

% SeeHearing Order at P 37 n.99 (quotiBgperintendent of Ins. v. Bankers Life
& Gas Caq, 404 U.S. 6, 10 n.7 (1971) (quotiAgT. Brod & Co. v. Perlon375 F.2d 393,
397 (2d Cir. 1967))).

% The Commission has stated that “fraud is a veri$pecific violation, the
permutations of which are limited only by the imaagion of the perpetrator. Therefore,
no list of prohibited activities could be all-insiue.” Investigation of Terms and
Conditions of Public Utility Market-Based Rate Amtlzations 114 FERC { 61,165,
at P 24 (2006)see alsdOrder No. 670, FERC Stats. & Regs. 1 31,202 &;P 2
Lincoln Paper & Tissue LLC144 FERC 61,162, at P 36 (2013) (“The Commissio
need not imagine and specifically proscribe in adesevery example of fraudulent
behavior.”);Competitive Energy Services, LLTCI4 FERC { 61,163, at P 50 (2013);
Richard Silkman144 FERC 1 61,164, at P 50 (20118)Re Make-Whole Payments and
Related Bidding Strategie$44 FERC { 61,068, at P 83 (2013) (“as Order@No.
emphasizes, fraud is a question of fact to be neted by all of the circumstances of a
case, not by a mechanical rule limiting manipulatio tariff violations.”).
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whether Enforcement Staff proved its allegationmahipulative activity by a
preponderance of evidence, and not whether thefigpscheme at issue in this case is
unique?® BP argues that “[u]nlike the two-minute closirgripd [in futures settlements]
that forms the basis of a ‘banging the close’ malaition theory, th&as Dailyindex is
computed based on the trades that occur througholtiple hoursof trading, up until
the industry nomination deadline,” during whichipdr“prices can and do fluctuaté”
However, prices can and do fluctuate during théopgan which a futures settlement
price is determined, just as during the period Imiclv the Houston Ship Channel

Gas Dailyindex is determined. The relevant point is whepiteces—here, the

Houston Ship Channéas Dailyindex based on a volume-weighted average price of
transactions—during any such period are subjegtanipulation’

% By comparison, the Securities and Exchange Cononi§SEC)does
investigate attempts to manipulate volume-weiglategtage prices, for example, as used
in exchange ratios for convertible debt instrumentsiergers.See, e.g., SEC v. Badjan
No. 06 Civ. 2621(LTS)(DFE), 2008 WL 3914872, at #1(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 22, 2008);
SEC v. Rhino Advisors, Inc. and Thomas Badiin. Action. No. 03 Civ. 1310 (RO)
(S.D.N.Y. Feb. 26, 2003) (complaint alleging matapion in connection with short
selling to depress price and benefit conversioa @bnvertible debenture into shares of
stock based on a volume-weighted average pre)jable at
https://www.sec.gov/litigation/complaints/comp180@8y;, see also SEC v. Rhino
Advisors, Inc. and Thomas Badjdnt. Rel. No. 18003 (Feb. 27, 2003) (announcing
settlement of actionpvailable athttps://www.sec.gov/litigation/litreleases/Ir1800@n.

9" Rehearing Request at 29 (emphasis original).

% See In re Amaranth Natural Gas Commodities Lii®7 F. Supp. 2d 513, 534-
35 (S.D.N.Y. 2008)aff'd, 2013 U.S. App. LEXIS 19444 (2d Cir. 2013) (allegas that
Amaranth manipulated natural gas contract pricesngaging in so-called “slam the
close” trades during the thirty-minute period inigthNYMEX natural gas futures are
determined by the volume-weighted average of tietimas ). Regardless of whether the
time-period during which an index or settlementetis determined is two-minutes,
thirty minutes (as iimarantt), or several hours (as inGas Dailyindex), or some other
period of time, the essential point remains: aim@-weighted average price-based
index, like the Houston Ship Chanrighs Dailyindex, plausibly can be subject to
manipulation by trading that takes place duringtiime period in which the volume-
weighted average of transactions forming the indesalculated, including by high-
volume early trades at deceptively low prices watesl to the genuine economics of
supply and demand that suppress the volume-weigndkeck.
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50. BP also makes the conclusory assertion that “[kdnliading heavily during the
futures settlement period, there is no rationa¢imive to trade heavily early in the day
when the index is calculated using other partidigiamnades throughout the trading day at
prices that can vary significantly from your owl.”At a minimum, whether BP’s
alleged manipulative conduct could be justifieddgitimate economic rational
incentives raises disputed material issues of feltich alone justifies the Commission’s
decision to set this matter for a hearing. Moreptree mere fact that other market
participants’ trades are also used in calculatidgily volume-weighted index of
transactions, like the Houston Ship Chartaat Dailyindex, does not negate the
existence of, or manipulative effect of early, wmlk/ heavyolumetransactions, by the
largestnet selling market participant, at lower priceattare intended to suppress the
volumeweighted index, as alleged hefé.

% Rehearing Request at 30-31.

19 Eor illustrative purposes, we continue our appékipg example from
the Hearing OrderSeeHearing Order at P 41 n.106. Assume an apple-pickes
three bags of apples weighing five-pounds eachnaiket and starts off trading by
selling the first five-pound bag for $2.00, the@ed five-pound bag for $2.05, and the
third five-pound bag for $2.10. Now assume thheoapple-pickers trade bags of apples
throughout the day, at prices that vary from $3d08$5.00, ranging from one-pound to
three-pound bags, for an additional sixteen powhdpples. At the end of the trading
day, ten bags of apples weighing thirty-one powardssold, at prices that range from the
opening price of $2.00 to the closing price of $5.Y et the end-of-day apple index
price, if calculated based on the volume-weightegtage of transactions during the
period, would be only $2.99. The end-of-day voluweaghted index price is thus less
than the price of all other bags of apples sokbabus prices throughout the day by all
apple pickers other than the initial high-volum#éese In short, this simple example
illustrates the potential anchoring—“marking theeng or “framing”—effect early,
heavy transactions can have on the developmentlailyavolume-weighted index, even
as subsequent trades vary significantly in priceughout the trading day.

Price Volume Volume-Weighted Average Price
$2.00 5 Ibs. $2.00
$2.05 5 Ibs. $2.03
$2.10 5 Ibs. $2.05
$3.00 1 lbs. $2.11
$3.50 2 Ibs. $2.26
$4.0( 2 Ibs. $2.4¢4

(continued...)
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51. BP’s assertion that “[t]he fundamental flaw” in Brdement Staff’'s “theory and
the Commission’s Order is that ‘early and heavglitrg’ at the Houston Ship Channel is
not a scheme or artifice to defraud” misses thekfér Early, volume-heavy trading at
Houston Ship Channel can be part of a schemeiGcartb defraud when the intent and
effect is to artificially suppress the volume-weiggh Houston Ship Chann@las Daily
index to benefit financial positions that settlétbft index. As the Commission
previously stated: “Trades undertaken solely fumabfide economic purposes are not
violative of [the Anti-Manipulation Rule], but theery same trades, if intended to
manipulate the market, are indeed prohibit&d.”

52. BP also asserts that “rational economic reasorss foxitrading ‘early’ when BP
had a long baseload position.” The Commissioniptesly ruled “[a]t the hearing, BP
may present evidence as to its business purposeh) will be considered along with
[Enforcement Staff's] evidence of manipulation etermining whether a claim for
manipulation has been establishé¥."However, as discussed herein, the ID found no
credible or convincing evidence to support suchrass justification to outweigh the
inference of manipulation established by Enforcen$taff's evidence.

53. In short, the Commission did not act arbitrarilydenying BP’s motions to
dismiss and ordering a hearing on this matteigint lof Enforcement Staff’s plausible
theory of early, heavy-volume, uneconomic open-mankanipulation at Houston Ship
Channel to benefit related financial positidf{s.

$3.50 3 lbs. $2.58
$4.00 2 |bs. $2.69
$3.50 3 lbs. $2.78
$5.00 3 lbs. $2.99

191 Rehearing Request at 27.

192 Hearing Order at P 42Cf. United States v. Dohert969 F.2d 425, 429-30
(7th Cir. 1992) (agreeing with five other circuduwrts that “bare check kiting” scheme
involving otherwise legal activity falls within tHscheme to defraud” prohibition of the
bank fraud statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1344).

193 Hearing Order at P 42.

194 Bp cites the Second Circuit’s decisiomrAMSI Communications, Inc. v. The
Shaar Fund, Ltd493 F.3d 87, 100 (2d Cir. 2007) and the Soutbestrict Court of
New York’s decision irin re Amaranth Natural Gas Commodities Liti§87 F. Supp. 2d

(continued...)



Docket Nos. IN13-15-000 and IN13-15-001 -28 -

54. Nor did the Commission act arbitrarily in not acivegp BP’s additional response
(along with Enforcement Staff's proposed sur-refygonsidering its Hearing Order.
BP was permitted to file an answer to the Orde8how Cause, which is all the
Commission’s rules requird> Moreover, to the extent that BP desired to presen
additional evidence, BP was given notice and fppartunity to be heard on any and all
evidence presented at the hearing. BP, theredaffered no prejudice from having to
wait until the hearing to present any additionatlence.

55. BP’s argument that the Commission arbitrarily fodinat Rule 209 governs the
sufficiency of allegations in the Enforcement SRéport accompanying the Order to
Show Cause, and that this will create a “doubledded” for parties appearing before the
Commission on private complaints rather than emfiorent actions, is without merit.
While applying Rule 209, the Commission previousiynd that Enforcement Staff
sufficiently alleged all the elements of a claimnadinipulation, including sufficient
jurisdictional allegations to survive a facial deabe to subject matter jurisdictioff.

513, 534 (S.D.N.Y. 2008%ff'd, 2012 U.S. Appl. LEXIS 19444 (2d Cir. 2013), foet
unremarkable proposition that “open-market activitithout more cannot constitute
market manipulation.” Rehearing RequaisB5-36 (emphasis added). BP overlooks that
Enforcement Staff here has alleged far more tham tnading in the open market.
Similarly, BP also quotes from the Southern Dist@ourt of New York’s decision in
SEC v. Masri523 F. Supp. 2d 361, 367 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) (quottd. Advantage Fund,
Ltd. v. Colkitt 272 F.3d 189, 205 (3d Cir. 2001) (“The difficultysuch ‘open market’
cases, where the activity in question is not exglygsrohibited, is to ‘distinguish
between legitimate trading strategies intendedtiipate and respond to prevailing
market forces and those designed to manipulategpdand deceive purchasers and
sellers.”). Rehearing Request at 36. However,sach “difficulty” only confirms that
the Commission’s decision to send this matterhearing for specific findings and
conclusions based on a live record was not arlitrar

195 5ee18 C.F.R. § 385.213(a)(3)(2015).

1% Hearing Order at PP 17, 20-21. In contrast, BBs®n the Commission’s
order inNat’l Energy & Trade, LP v. Tex. Gas TransmissiolnC, 121 FERC 61,064,
at P 61 (2007), in which the Commission found dp=adly that the “fraud” — not the
jurisdictional — element of a claim for manipulatibad not been sufficiently state8ee
also ATSI Communications, Inc. v. The Shaar Futdl, 493 F.3d at 101 (“A claim of
manipulation, however, can involve facts solelyhwitthe defendant’s knowledge;
therefore, at the early stages of litigation, trentiff need not plead manipulation

(continued...)
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B. The ID’s Reliance on theBarclays Order Was Not Error

56. BP claims the ID inappropriately relied on the Cassion’s decision iBarclays
144 FERC 1 61,041, which is presently undergoi@gnovoreview by a federal district
court’®” BP argues that “althoudbarclaysmay express the Commission’s position on
the issues addressed therein, it cannot be deereeedential unless and until affirmed

by the district court that now has jurisdiction ptteat case **®

57. However, the mere fact that a Commission ordendeude novoreview by a
federal district court does not prohibit relianbereon by the Commission, Enforcement
Staff, or the ALJ. To the contrary, the ID was bduo followBarclaysif factually and
legally on point, and otherwise was free to folltsweasoning and its underlying
precedent by analogy’

C. Burden of Proof; Review of Initial Decision

58. On exceptions, BP argues that the ALJ shifted tirddn of proof to BP and
applied the incorrect standard of proof, while eigrding evidence proffered by BB.
We disagree.

59. Section 7(c) of the Administrative Procedure AcP@), 5 U.S.C. 8§ 556(d),
requires that “the proponent of a rule or orderthasburden of proof,” which the
Supreme Court has construed as the ultimate “bustipersuasion” on an isste.

to the same degree of specificity as a plain missgntation claim.”)SEC v. Badian
2008 WL 3914872 at * 4 (same).

197See FERC v. Barclays Bank PLC, ef @lase No. 2:13-cv-02093-TLN-DAD
(E.D. Cal. Petition to Affirm Order Assessing CiAenalties filed Oct. 9, 2013).

1% Bp Br. on Exceptions at 17.

19 5eelD at P 33 n.11see alscCleveland Elec. llluminating Cp29 FERC
1 63,044, at 65,138 (1984) (presiding judge boorfdltow Commission precedent on
appeal to U.S. Court of Appeals until overturnedhmst court).

110BP Br. on Exceptions at 14-16.

M Director, Office of Workers’ Compensation ProgramsSreenwich Collieries
512 U.S. 267, 269-71, 275 (1994) (quoting 5 U.8.656(d) and J. McKelvegvidence
64 (4th ed. 1932)).
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However, when the party with the burden of proad&bkshes grima faciecase
supported by credible and credited evidence—a#tldefound the evidence
Enforcement Staff proffered at the hearing—thentilnelen of producing evidence to
rebut, defeat or otherwise outweigh the evidenppasriing a claim falls upon the
opposing party*? As BP acknowledges, “the burden of production it to BP to
produce evidence once [Enforcement Staff] estaidishprima facie casé*® Such
burden of production of evidence is distinct frand does not shift, the ultimate burden
of persuasion on a claif? Nor is the burden of production limited to reingtor
meeting a legal presumption, as BP suggests, Iplieapequally to rebutting or defeating
aprima faciecase on which Enforcement Staff bears the ultiroatden of persuasion.

60. The ID shows that the ALJ understood that Enforagrse¢aff had the burden of
proof—i.e., the burden of persuasion—on its claaall times. For example, in
reaching the conclusion that “Enforcement Staff itseburden of proof**the ID
weighed the testimony and documentary evidenceastippg a finding of manipulative
conduct and of the requisite scienter:

a. “The evidence in this case shows that during threstigative Period the
Texas [T]eam sold next-day, fixed price physica ga[Houston Ship
Channel] uneconomically with the intent to manipehe Platts’

112 Eor example, i.undell v. Anchor Construction Specialists,.|r223 F.3d
1035, 1039-41 (9th Cir. 2000), the Ninth Circuitu@toof Appeals found that a
Bankruptcy Court did not shift the burden of pessoa by requiring a debtor “to produce
evidence sufficient to negate thema facievalidity of the filed claim.” Rather, the
Ninth Circuit held, “[t]o defeat the claim, the esfor must come forward with sufficient
evidence and ‘show facts tending to defeat therckay probative force equal to that of
the allegations of the proofs of claim themselvelsl! at 1039 (citing/Nright v. Holm
931 F.2d 620, 623 (9th Cir.1991)).

113 BP Br. on Exceptions at 15.

114 5eeNat’| Mining Ass’'n v. Dep't of Labgr292 F.3d 849, 871-72 (D.C. Circuit
2002) (“Greenwich Collieriezarefully distinguishes agency regulations th#t e
burden of proof (prohibited by the APA ‘except @lseywise provided by statute,’

5 U.S.C. 8§ 556(d)) from regulations that shift bugden of production (which the APA
does not prohibitsee512 U.S. at 270-80, 114 S.Ct. 2251 (distinguistoanglen of proof
from burden of production)).”).

115SedD at P 33.
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[Houston Ship Channefbas Dailyindex price in order to benefit
related financial positions that profited by lovjidiouston Ship
ChannellGas Dailyprices.**®

b. “As established by the evidence in this case, duttie Investigative
Period the Texas [T]eam added short [Houston Shgn@el] financial
spread positions which benefitted from suppressfdhe [Houston
Ship Channelzas Dailyindex.”*’

c. “As aresult of [Hurricane lke], prices at [HoustBhip Channel]
decreased sharply relative to Henry Hub. This teduh sizeable
realized profit and unrealized (potential) profit the Texas [T]eam’s
[Houston Ship Channel]-Henry Hub financial spreadifion.™*®

d. “Enforcement Staff [expert] withess Bergin testifihat the value of
the Texas [T]eam’s spread position in late Septemioaild retain
$19,800 for every cent that they could slow theaaing of the
[Houston Ship Channel]-Henry Hub spredtf”

e. “Bergin’s testimony is given substantial weightorGequently, it is
concluded that the Texas [T]eam believed that thetential for gain on
the [Houston Ship Channel]-Henry Hub spread (ef/émely just slowed
the narrowing of the spread by a few pennies a dayld outweigh
any incremental losses from selling more heaviljHatuston Ship
Channel].*?°

f. “The Texas [T]eam traded successfully in the sedmadtiof September
2008 and slowed the shrinkage of the spread. r&sut, they increased

1°1d. P 34 (footnote omitted).
171d. P 35.
1814, P 36.
1914, p 37.

12014, P 117 (footnote omitted).
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. The intermarket analysis

their short exposure to the [Houston Ship Chan@ef Dailyindex for
both October and November 2008

. “Dr. Abrantes-Metz and Bergin confirmed the mangtive scheme by

examining the trading data before and during tvedtigative
Period.*?*

. “As Dr. Abrantes-Metz testified, the unique confige of changed

trading patterns by the Texas [T]eam in the Ingasive Period do not
make economic sense and cannot be explained byajenarket
conditions.*?®

“The changed trading patterns confirm the outlihthe manipulative
scheme set forth in the November 5 recorded &&1.”

“Dr. Abrantes-Metz’s testimony is given considembleight.**

[s]howing that [BP] clea® make more
uncompetitive offers at [Houston Ship Channel] {(ttegulted in sales)
is directly relevant to determining whether thersvan intent to
manipulate. The more they disregarded clear ag@topportunities, by
failing to adjust their Katy and/or [Houston Shipdhnel] offers, the
more likely they had an ulterior (manipulative) metfor the resulting
uneconomic [Houston Ship Channel] offer-based g§le¥®

121
Id.
122 |d
123 Id
124 |d

125
Id.

126|d.

P 38.

P 114.

P 68.

P 59 n.41 (citing Ex. OE-211 at 113:4-9).



Docket Nos. IN13-15-000 and IN13-15-001 -33-

61. The ID also considered whether BP provided evideéncebut or defeat
Enforcement Staff's evidence, including the exped fact witness testimony:

a. “Evans does not provide econometric analysis osiclans [sic]
contemporaneous communications of BP employ&gs.”

b. “Dr. Abrantes-Metz rebutted Evans’s seasonalityneld?®

c. “Luskie testified that the spread is what dictatéether you flow or not
flow, the real-time spread?

d. “[T]he traders do not address the key groundsEoif¢rcement Staff's
expert Bergin’'s] conclusion that their trading ldbpston Ship Channel]
and use of [Houston Pipeline System] transportrdyitine Investigative
Period was intended to manipulate the [Houston ShigpnnellGas
Daily index."™*°

e. “Comfort agreed with Dr. Abrantes-Metz['s] findirigat in the [Pre-
Investigative Period] they typically waited a longeriod to make the
first sale at [Houston Ship Channel] than theyidithe Investigative
Period.*3!

f. “Evans does not answer Dr. Abrantes-Metz’s conolughat there was
a unique confluence of changed trading patterrthéyexas [T]eam in
the Investigative Period that do not make econ@mitse and which
cannot be explained by general market conditidifs.”

127,

128 |d
129 Id
130 Id

131
Id.

132|d.

P 62.

P 63.

P77.
P 78.

P 62.
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g. “Comfort also did not dispute Dr. Abrantes-Metz[fs]ding that the
Texas [T]eam became the seller with the largesesihahe next-day
fixed-price market at [Houston Ship Channel]” andrious changes in
trading patterns on which he was cross-examin&d.”

h. “[l]t is concluded that Evans[’] testimony is navgn any weight.**

62. The ID found that “BP did not have a valid just#imn and did not explain the
increases in their financial position” and that] ‘falid explanation of its trading would
have been a valid defense to the manipulation elsafg® BP mistakenly argues that
these conclusions shifted the burden of proof asieegarded BP’s contrary expert
testimony™*° To the contrary, while finding that Enforcemenafémet its burden of
establishing @rima faciecase of manipulation, the ID properly considerdxbtner BP
presented any credible and convincing evidencelefitimate business purpose to defeat
Enforcement Staff's casé’ This is not a shifting of the burden of prootther it is the

1331d. P 78 (internal record cites omitted).

1341d. P 68 n.52.

1351d. P 38 & n.16. BP cites to other similar findingattBP did not rebut
Enforcement Staff's case&seeBP Br. on Exceptions at 16 n.93 (citing ID at P(“BP
did not adequately justify or explain this conduslating to increased financial
positions.”);id. P 77 (“Comfort or BP have not adequately explaitiedchanges in their
trading behavior.”)id. P 99 (“Comfort or BP have not offered a legitimakglanation of
this trading.”);id. P 105 (“*Comfort has never provided an explanatiowloy the
Texas [T]eam’s trading and use of transport waseotg used to affect the index to
help their paper position.”)).

136 BP Br. on Exceptions at 16 (citing ID at P 38 &6).

13" The Commission previously stated that “[a]t tharireg, BP may present
evidence as to its business purpose, which willdresidered along with Enforcement
Staff's evidence of manipulation in determining Wiex a claim for manipulation has
been established.” Hearing Order at Ps&#& alsdBarclays 144 FERC 1 61,041 at P 61
(“[A]n entity’s business purposes will be relevamtan inquiry into manipulative intent,
but a ‘legitimate business purpose’ is not a digpes affirmative defense to
manipulation.”)).
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weighing of competing evidence, which is what tinelér of fact (i.e., the ALJ at the
hearing) must d&*®

63. In short, we find that the ID concluded, after weig the evidence, that
“Enforcement Staff met its burden of proof”’ to shthat BP engaged in conduct with the
requisite scienter to constitute manipulation urid2C.F.R. 8§ 1c.1 and section 4A of the
NGA—not that BP had the burden and failed to proddnot engage in
manipulation. We next review the ID’s determinatigegarding manipulative conduct,
scienter, and jurisdiction, based on the recordenge and BP’s exceptions.

V. Violation of Anti-Manipulation Rule

64. The Anti-Manipulation Rule prohibits any entity fro (1) using a fraudulent
device, scheme or artifice, or making a materiarapresentation or a material omission
as to which there is a duty to speak under a Cosiomsfiled tariff, Commission order,
rule or regulation, or engaging in any act, pragtar course of business that operates or
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any er{ghvith the requisite scienter; (3) in
connection with the purchase, sale or transmissiaratural gas electric energy subject
to the jurisdiction of the Commissidf?’

65. Enforcement Staff thus bore the burden of provirmgnipulative conduct and
scienter “in connection” with a jurisdictional tisaction. We next examine the ID’s
findings and BP’s exceptions with respect to akkéelements of a claim of
manipulation.

138 See Director, Office of Workers’ Compensation Pawgs v. Greenwich
Collieries 512 U.S. 267, 280 (1994) (“When the party witd Burden of persuasion
establishes a prima facie case supported by ‘desditd credited evidence,’ it must
either be rebutted or accepted as true.”).

13935eelD at P 33:see alsad. P 128 (“Based on the evidence in this record
it is found that BP through the Texas [T]eam, actét intent to manipulate the
[Houston Ship Channefbas Dailyindex to benefit their financial position. Additally,
it is found that this intent meets the requisitester requirement under the
Commission’s Anti-Manipulation Rule.”).

1405ee0Order No. 670, FERC Stats. & Regs. 1 31,202 at.P 49
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A. Manipulative Conduct

66. The ID adopted Enforcement Staff's findings that@Rnged its next-day fixed-
price natural gas trading and transport in eightsaduring the Investigative Period, and
that this trading by BP during the Investigativei&®was unprofitable. The ID
concluded that this evidence supported the finthiag BP manipulated the market and
suppressed th8as Dailyindex to benefit its financial positions$. In this section we
address BP’s exceptions to these findings regatitirgpnduct.

67. We also address BP's related challenges to thenlBsues concerning the ID’s
references to the “confluence” of BP’s conduct; ofsthe Pre-Investigative Period; use
of the Katy Ship Sheets; trading evidence at adtira locations, at other times, and by
other market participants; the non-manipulativeralhtive explanations alleged by BP;
and credibility of witnesses.

1. Changes in BP’s Trading Behavior During Investigatve Period

68. As noted above, Enforcement Staff sought to prbeeBP changed its pattern of
next-day, fixed price natural gas trading and HooufRipeline System transport in the
following eight ways identified by Enforcement Stakpert Abrantes-Metz during the
Investigative Period (as compared to the Pre-Imyatste Period) to artificially suppress
the Houston Ship Chann@las Dailyindex and benefit its financial positions:

a. a shift almost entirely to net selling at HoustdnpSChannel, whereby
BP became the seller with the largest market shatee next-day,
fixed-price market at Houston Ship Channel,

b. anincrease in the percentage and volume of Bieslfprice sales at
Houston Ship Channel;

c. a shift to selling heavier volumes at Houston SEli@annel early in the
trading day, including selling 35 percent of its @& Houston Ship
Channel before Katy even began trading;

d. a shift to buying at Houston Ship Channel latehmday as compared
to earlier periods;

e. a shift to transporting substantially more gas tmston Ship Channel
from Katy using BP’s Houston Pipeline System tramsp

14lsedD at P 32.
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f. anincrease in the percentage of sales at HoustipnChannel that were
uneconomic compared to contemporaneous pricestgt Ka

g. a shift to posting aggressively lower offers conelaio other sellers at
Houston Ship Channel; and

h. an increase in the frequency of sales made bydgibids.

69. After weighing the evidence—including analyses aliivninous trading data and
testimony from expert and fact withesses—the IDnhtbthat “this unique confluence of
changed trading patterns, which furthered the seh®nsuppress the [Houston Ship
Channel]Gas Dailyindex, sets apart the Texas [T]Jeam’s behaviohénlhvestigative
Period from their behavior in the [Pre-InvestigatReriod] and cannot be explained by
any economic or profit rationale, by general madaetditions, or by comparison to the
behavior of the other two largest sellers at [Hons$hip Channel]™? Accordingly, the
ID concluded “that the evidence in this case suspbee finding that BP violated
Sections 1c.1 of the Commission’s Regulations ahod#the NGA.™*

70. On exceptions, BP faults the ID for adopting AbesAMetz’'s analyses of six of
the eight changé¥'in trading patterns identified above. BP doesamatlenge the first
and fourth of Enforcement Staff's conclusions relgag the changes in BP’s trading
patternsi.e., BP’s shift to net selling at Houston Ship @hal and BP’s shift to buying at
Houston Ship Channel later in the d&y.In BP’s words, this “six-legged stool,” consists
of Abrantes-Metz’s analyses of:

a. BP’s proportion of trading in “fixed-price” instrusnts versus other
instrument types;

b. the relative earliness of BP’s daily trading;

12|d. P 42.
“31d. P 82.
1%“SeeBP Br. on Exceptions at 30-39.

145\We address these two trading patterns in thecsechelow on next day fixed
price sales (section IV.A.1.a), and the timing ofghase and sales at Houston Ship
Channel (section IV.A.1.b), respectively.
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c. the volume of gas shipped by BP from Katy to Housstip Channel
and the relationship between the shipped volumelamdnd-of-day
price spread between Katy and Houston Ship Channel;

d. intraday trading and frequency of “uneconomic” tingdwith which BP
engaged in “uneconomic” trading; and

e. the “distance” between the prices of BP’s offetiatied sales at
Houston Ship Channel and the next best offersamibarket at Houston
Ship Channel by non-BP participants; and

f. BP’s execution of trades by “hitting bids.”

71. Inthe sections below, we address the analysesgobf & the six changes in BP’s
trading behavior that BP challenges on exceptiarsummary, we find that BP has not
successfully rebutted Enforcement Staff's allegeticegarding any of the changes in

BP’s trading behavior during the Investigative Bdrihat Enforcement Staff identified.

a. Next Day-Fixed Price Sales Analysis

i Initial Decision

72.  The ID concluded that BP became the seller witHdlgest market share in the
next-day, fixed price market at Houston Ship Chadneng the Investigative Peridd®
Citing the analysis from Abrantes-Metz, the ID fduhat BP increased its market share
by over five times relative to its Pre-Investigativeriod market share. The ID noted
that BP accomplished this in part by shifting to selling at Houston Ship Channel for
98 percent of days in the Investigative Periody@sosed to 30 percent of the days in the
Pre-Investigative Periot’

73.  The ID further concluded that BP increased thegrgege and volume of its
fixed price sales at Houston Ship Chanf&lAgain citing the analysis from Abrantes-
Metz, the ID found that BP increased its Houstormp &hannel fixed price sales volume

Y8 D at P 42.
1¥471d. PP 44, 52.

1481d. P 42.
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by 344 percent per flow day in the InvestigativeiGteas compared to the Pre-
Investigative Period?®

74. The ID found that these changed trading patterns wensistent with an effort to

reinforce artificial downward pressure on the HonsBhip Channebas Dailyindex!*°

ii. BP Exceptions

75. BP argues that the ID fails to consider that theafeleam'’s fixed-price trading
was not unusual when compared to its trading ardtcations, its historical trading at
Houston Ship Channel, and the trading of other etgplarticipants at Houston Ship
Channef*>*

76. BP claims that the ID improperly adopts Enforcentgtaiff's allegations and did
not consider BP’s claims that it increased itsgatkefixed-price selling at both Katy and
Houston Ship Channel during the Investigative ReF 6 BP concludes that “[t]o
credibly attribute the increase in fixed-price sa¢ [Houston Ship Channel] to the
alleged manipulative scheme to suppress pricddatgton Ship Channel], one must find
an absence of the fixed-price instrument shifhatalternative sales locations for which
there has been no allegation that BP manipulated o>

77. Similarly, BP asserts that during five months ia Bre-Investigative Period

and “on a longer run history” BP engaged in simigaels of fixed-price sales at
Houston Ship Channét! BP further notes that even earlier within the-Preestigative
Period there are five months in which BP’s percgataf fixed price trading on sales at
Houston Ship Channel is between 90 and 100 peateatal fixed price sales at that
point™® BP also faults the ID for failing “to even considvhether BP’s increase of

191d. P 44.

12014, PP 45, 161.

151 BP Br. on Exceptions at 31.

152 |d

1531d. at 32 n.158 (citing Ex. BP-037 at 17:14-17).
41d. at 31-32. See als&Ex. BP-037 at 18:12-16.

155BP Br. on Exceptionat 32; Ex. BP-037 at 19.
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fixed price sales was consistent with the market aole and with the trading of other
large market participants that were making salé&af and [Houston Ship Channeff®

iil. Commission Determination

78. Notably, BP does not dispute or rebut Abrantes-Metzo findings regarding
her analysis of BP’s next day fixed-price tradinddauston Ship Channel during the
Investigative Period, that BP: (1) became thees@lith largest market share of fixed-
price sales; and (2) increased the percentagea@nche of its fixed price sales. In fact,
BP fails to respond to the first finding that BRe@me the seller with the largest market
share during the Investigative Period.

79. Regarding the second finding, BP’s expert Evangeded that BP’s proportion

of next-day fixed-price sales at Houston Ship Clehimtreased during the Investigative
Period as compared to the Pre-Investigative Pérfotlloreover, Evans couched his
arguments in terms of thproportion or percentagef fixed price trading historically, at
Katy and by other market participants, but nevedyaed thevolumesof such fixed price
trading. An evaluation of the volumes of fixedgeritrading is consistent with Abrantes-
Metz's first finding that BP became the seller wiltle largest market share of fixed-price
sales. When considering volumes, it is clear BRit increase in fixed price sales during
the Investigative Period is anomalous.

80. For example, Abrantes-Metz showed that BP soldvanage of 31,599 MMBtus
of fixed-price sales per flow day in the Pre-Inigative Period, but sold 140,288
MMBtus of fixed-price sales per flow date in thevdistigative Period. Abrantes-Metz
further used 2007 data to demonstrate the robustfdeer findings to show that during
the same timeframe as the Investigative Period@v2BP only sold an average of
43,110 MMBtus of fixed-price sales per flow d5}.

81. Similarly, the data also demonstrates that thecame in BP’s average daily
volume of fixed-price sales at Houston Ship Chanioeing the Investigative Period was

1%6BP Br. on Exceptionat 31. See also idat 50-51 (citing Tr. 2515:10-23
(Evans)).

157TEx. BP-037 at 16:6-12.

18 Ex. OE-129 at 43, 46-47.
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more than four times higher than BP’s increaseverage daily volume of fixed-price
sales at Katy">*

82. In addition, Abrantes-Metz noted that if, as BPgesgjs, other market participants
were also selling increased volumes of fixed-psakes during the Investigative Period
due to some market-wide phenomed®BP’s market share of fixed price sales during
the Investigative Period would have remained nearés prior levels of 5 to 10 percent.
Instead, she noted that BP increased its shaireaf price sales at Houston Ship
Channel to 26 percent during the Investigativedeefi*

83. In short, after considering all the evidence, thedasonably concluded that
Abrantes-Metz’s observed increase in market shaed price sales and “shift” in BP’s
trading toward fixed-price instruments at HoustdimpSChannel during the Investigative
Period was supported by the evidence, which Bmadiduccessfully rebut.

b. Timing Analysis of Sales and Purchases at Houstorhi®
Channel

i Initial Decision

84. The ID found credible Abrantes-Metz’s testimony amalyses that the BP Texas
Team shifted to earlier, heavy selling at Housthip&hannel during the Investigative
Period in order to influence price formatiti. “[TJo maximize the effect of a

1%9gee, e.gEx. OE-211 at 68-69 (showing that BP’'s marketsiud sales
transacted at Houston Ship Channel was higherrimnestigative Period relative to
comparable baseload months, while BP’s market sbfagales transacted at Katy in the
Investigative Period did not deviate much from canaple baseload months).

180 5eeTr. 2515:19-23 (Evans) (“[S]ome of what she’s peihto as BP’s change
could logically be just BP’s part of the marketk thverall market changed, and that’s
really the ultimate driver of why BP changed, isd&ase everyone changed on average.
(cited in BP Br. on Exceptions at 50-51).

161 Ex. OE-129 at 39, 47.

152D at P 47 (“The earliest trades convey the finstilable concrete information
about price, price direction, and volume in thatkeon each day. The information of
these early trades becomes incorporated into the bffers, and prices by subsequent
market participants and can persist throughoutrdding sessions.”).
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manipulation, a manipulator will want to trade moegy early in the day and at
artificially low prices, and this is what the Te{ageam did.*®* The ID also found
credible Abrantes-Metz's testimony and analysesBirashifted to later purchasing at
Houston Ship Channel during the Investigative REf0

85. Enforcement Staff's expert Abrantes-Metz showed dluaing the first

five minutes of the trading day—which is the mosawly traded interval in the

Houston Ship Channel market (approximately 11 pgrogdaily volume) and, therefore,
presents the greatest opportunity to influencesgrethe Texas Team’s share of

sales at Houston Ship Channel increased from arageef 3 percent during the
Pre-Investigative Period to 42 percent in the Itigasive Period® The ID explained

that more than half the time during the InvestigatPeriod, the Texas Team either made
the first sale or sold within 28econd®f the first trade at Houston Ship Channel—as
compared to a median time of 19 mihutesduring the Pre-Investigative Peridd.
Abrantes-Metz testified that BP sold 50 percentdlaily gas by 7:35 a.m. at

Houston Ship Channel during the Investigative Rer&s compared to only 36 percent in
the Pre-Investigative Period (nearly a 1.4 foldéase)-*’

86.  Abrantes-Metz’s analysis showed that the Texas Talamshifted to buying later
in the day at Houston Ship Channel as compared fre-Investigative Period trading.
For example, she showed that by 7:49 a.m. in tediRrestigative Period, BP had
typically bought 50 percent of their daily Houst®hip Channel gas purchases, but by
7:49 a.m. during the Investigative Period, they pacthased only 17 percent of the their
total for the day®®

18314, P 49.
1%41d. PP 42, 49.
1851d. P 48.
18014, P 51.

1871d. P 409.

168|d.
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ii. BP Exceptions

87. BP argues that the ID erred in accepting AbranteszM analyses of the timing
of BP’s Houston Ship Channel sales and purchaBBsdoes not dispute that it shifted to
earlier selling and later buying at Houston Shia@tel during the Investigative Period,
but claims that the timing of its trades in thedstigative Period was not a “marker” of
manipulation when “viewed in a historical conte}t”” BP asserts that “Evans
demonstrated . . . that the participation ratesgByin the first three trades of the day at
Houston Ship Channel] during the flow months framuary 2006 to December 2011
make clear that BP’s participation rates duringlthestigative Period were not
unusual.*™

88. BP also asserts that the ID errs by ignoring arediarding the timing of BP’s
trading at other marketd! BP claims that Evans demonstrated that the dweadiness
of trades by BP at Houston Ship Channel in thedtigative Period wakessthan its
earliness at the composite of the non-manipulai&y Kcations. BP further argues that
the ID fails to consider that BP would not be expddo simultaneously increase its
participation in early trades in the Katy markét$ were seeking to execute a
manipulative scheme at Houston Ship Chanffel.

89.  According to BP, “Evans also demonstrated thatithang of BP’s [Houston

Ship Channel] sales in the [Investigative Periodkwimilar to the next two largest
sellers over the earlier time windows of the mognat Houston Ship Channel during that
period.””® BP argues that “the ID also errs because it giss BP’s ‘earliness’ rebuttal

without explanation**

%9 BP Br. on Exceptions at 32.
101d. at 33.
171 Id

172
Id.

1731d. at 33.

1741d. at 53.
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iil. Commission Determination

90. We affirm the findings in the ID that BP shifteddarlier, heavy selling and later
purchase¥” at Houston Ship Channel during the Investigatiggd®l, as demonstrated in
the analyses from Abrantes-Metz. We find thagttlempting to refute these findings,
BP’s expert Evans inappropriately aggregates pseshand sales into “trades” when
analyzing the timing of BP’s fixed price tradingrauston Ship Channel. A
fundamental feature when analyzing the timing ofsBihd other sellers’ trades at
Houston Ship Channel and Katy involved distinguigthsales from purchases. This
distinction between purchases and sales is impdregause the claim of manipulation
against BP involves its transport to a®dling behavior at Houston Ship Channel to
suppress prices that affect tBas Dailyindex, and increasdulyingat Katy to facilitate
such sales at Houston Ship Channel. The ID thasoreably concluded that “[w]hen
separated, the data is clear that the Texas [Tyeasralmost exclusively selling in the
first three trades at Houston Ship Channel andrgpiyi the first three trades at Katy/®
In contrast, BP fails to articulate why Evans’slgses of earliness is correct to ignore
whether each transaction is a buy or 58Il

91. In response to Evans’s arguments that the earlofd3B’s trades at Houston
Ship Channel was not a marker of manipulation whewed over a longer time frame,
Abrantes-Metz extended her earliness analysis twa2R07. This longer timeframe
analysis continued to demonstrate on several diftemeasures that BP’s Houston Ship
Channel’'ssalesshifted to earlier in the trading day during thedstigative Period
relative to prior time period<® Accordingly, we find Evans’s rebuttal analysis
unpersuasive on this point.

7> As noted above, BP does not dispute in its BrieEgceptions that it shifted to
purchasing later at Houston Ship Channel duringrilaestigative Period.

178D at P 66 (citing Ex. OE-211 at 79:12-80:2).

177 BP Br. on Exceptions at 54 (citing Tr. 2523:12¢E8ans)). Notwithstanding
BP’s assertions, the ID specifically recognized gkltes-Metz’s finding that BP’s shift to
early buying at Katy was consistent with the malapue scheme, because BP was
“actually increasing its net Katy long positiontla¢ beginning of the day, providing the
traders with even more gas to sell and transpdHiooiston Ship Channel] as part of the
scheme.” ID at P 51.

18 Ex. OE-211 at 78-79, App. A.
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92.  We also find Evans’s alternative “earliness rastilarly unpersuasive’’

Evans asserted, without evidentiary support, thitstands to reason that one’s
proportion of trading at any moment of the day widog expected to be higher if, for
example, one is 75 [percent] of the overall nundidrades rather than 10 [percent] of
the overall number of trades in the same mom¥ftYet Evans provided no explanation
or evidentiary basis for assuming that a marketigpant’s proportion of trading at “any
moment of the day’—e.g., the first three tradethefday—would increase in proportion
to a market participant’s overall participatiorntire daily market. Moreover, when
Abrantes-Metz recalculated Evans’s “earliness satiny separating BP’s purchases from
sales, she continued to show that BP shifted teeeanles at Houston Ship Channel
during the Investigative Peridd'

93. Finally, the ID correctly rejected BP’s claim thhe Texas Team’s early selling
was similar to the early selling of the next twogkest overall sellers in the Houston Ship
Channel market during the Investigative Period—ifigdthat this claim was based “on a
deceptive assertion that the Texas [T]eam'’s ‘volawiieading in the first 15 minutes
lags behind’ these other two sellet&?”Upon closer inspection, Abrantes-Metz
demonstrated that BP’s expert focused only on srdlolt occurred in the 15 minute
interval between 6:50 am and 7:05 am each tradaygpéithe Investigative Period,
regardless of when the first trades actually oezlion a given day, which varied daify.
Thus, when corrected to account for varying stares for daily trading each date at
Houston Ship Channel, the ID properly found thatélkpert calculations BP relied upon
showed that the Texas Team “outpaced all othesrsatluring the first 15 minutes of
trading or that they dominated early selling duriinig time.”%*

179 SeeEx. BP-037 at 27:6-16. Evans’s “earliness” ragiderived by dividing the
percentage of BP’s patrticipation in the first thb@msactions (purchases and sales) of the
day by BP’s overall percentage share (by volumetgnaumber) of transactions in all
trades at Houston Ship Channel for the day.

1801d. at 27:10-13.
181 Ex. OE-211 at 80.
182D at P 66.

1831d. (citing Ex. OE-211 at 82:19-83:10).

184|d.
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C. Uneconomic Use of Houston Pipeline System

i Initial Decision

94. The ID found credible Abrantes-Metz’s testimonytttiee Texas Team
substantially increased its usage of BP’s daily ftrapacity on Houston Pipeline System
in order to sell gas at Houston Ship Channel aanaksfrorted gas to Houston Ship
Channel without regard to transport economics, i@ Houston Ship Channel-Katy
price spread) during the Investigative PeritdThe ID accepted her testimony that the
increase in Houston Pipeline System transport us@agenot justified by the price spread
between Katy and Houston Ship Channel, that the3 @&eam’s losses on transport were
significant when compared with the time period®pto the Investigative Period, and
that these changes in trading behavior were camsigtith an intentional effort to

suppress the Houston Ship Char@ak Dailyindex®®

95. Using a regression analysis, Abrantes-Metz fouatlltbth prior to the
Investigative Period and after the November 5 medmphone call, BP shipped more
volume of gas when the price spread between KatyHouston Ship Channel was
greater than the cost of transport, consistent kaitional, profit-seeking conduct.
However, during the Investigative Period, thatist&ially significant relationship
between volume shipped and price spreads disapp&aren fact, not only did BP
transport gas from Katy to Houston Ship Channeheut regard for economics in the
Investigative Period, but also it transported &staally significant larger quantity of gas
despite the lack of a positive price spré&d.

il BP Exceptions

96. BP takes exception to Abrantes-Metz’s transpomaggjon analysis, arguing that
her analysis: (1) incorrectly us&hs Dailyend-of-day prices; (2) fails to account for

1851d. PP 53-57.
1861d. P 53.
1871d. PP 56-57.

188 Ex. OE-129 at 88:4-12.
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other decision criteria that influence transpotunees; and (3) does not consider other
time periods with comparable baseload positiShs.

97. First, BP claims that usinGas Dailyend-of-day prices in a regression analysis is
inappropriate because such prices are a poor tediogprevailing intraday spread®.

BP uses the example from Evans’s analysis of Octbbe2008 intraday prices to argue
that, during times of that day when both Houstoip &hannel and Katy were both
actively traded, the intraday price at Houston Stiyannel was above or equal to the
Katy price yet the volume-weighted average pricdtiat day showed that Houston Ship
Channel was lower than Katy averdde BP also contends that both Luskie and
Enforcement Staff's expert witness Bergin testifieat the use of th&as Dailyprices is

a poor indicator of prevailing intraday spread esic”> Furthermore, BP points out that
Abrantes-Metz’s own analysis revealed that in 4@t of the time during the
Investigative Period, the intraday price differahbetween Houston Ship Channel and
Katy was in the opposite direction as comparethéocbrrespondinas Dailyprice
differential %3

98. BP argues that using intraday prices instea@ad Dailyprices in a regression
analysis is more appropriate. BP claims that Egams alternative regression models
demonstrate that the relationship between HousimgliRe System transport volumes

and Houston Ship Channel-Katy spreads remainstidtaig both the Investigative
Period and the Pre-Investigative Perfdt BP’s support for these assertions is a 2-3 hour
snapshot of 26 trading days that show intraday &id$ouston Ship Channel and Katy
and BP’s sales at those huif3.BP claims that these intraday trading snapshaie/s

189 BP Br. on Exceptions at 33-35.

1904, at 34.

1911d. at 34 & n.168 (citing Ex. BP-037 at 43:1-4).
19214, at 61.

1931d. at 62.

194 |d

19 SeeEx. BP-037 at App. B.
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that the Texas Team was behaving economically liglsing its sales to a more
expensive hub®

99.  Second, BP claims that Abrantes-Metz’s “regressmmalel failed to account for
other rational decision criteria that influencegipe transport volumes?® BP explains
that Evans testified that a change to baseloadiposis likely a driver of the amount of
capacity that a shipper would transport,” and thatariety of additional factors could
also prompt changes to transportation capacitizatibn,” including changes in
volatility, liquidity and risk from the Pre-Invegttive Period to the Investigative
Period*®

100. Finally, BP claims that Abrantes-Metz’'s regressamialysis did not consider time
periods “beyond the limited [Pre-Investigative Bdtj a period with physical baseload
positions that are not comparable to the [InvestigePeriod].**® BP argues that its
historical transportation utilization in the Invigsttive Period was similar or less than its
utilization in comparable period&’

iil. Commission Determination

101. We find that the ID did not commit error in adogftiAbrantes-Metz’s findings
based on her regression analysis. The analysismgmated that a statistically
significant relationship between a difference ifyd&as Dailyprices at Houston Ship
Channel and Katy and BP’s daily transport levestd in the Pre-Investigative Period
but disappeared in the Investigative Pefitid.

102. Contrary to BP’s exceptions, the ID appropriateye “considerable weight?
to Abrantes-Metz’s regression analysis usBags Dailyprices based on the record

1% Bp Br. on Exceptions at 62.
19714, at 35.

198|d.

191d. at 34.

291d. at 33.

211D at PP 57, 64.

20214. P 68.
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evidence that: (i) BP’s traders and complianceadepent also use@as Dailyprices,
which are an industry standard of daily benchmasded in the settlement of financial
contracts and daily and monthly physical contrd®t€i) such volume-weighted average
prices tended to reflect prevailing intra-day pispeeads; and (iii) daily transport
volumes used in the regression analysis are datechly a sum of all transactions
during a given flow day and thereby represent ajmegate daily figure and not an
intraday one, making volume-weighted average grm@ Gas Dailya more appropriate
measure of overall daily price level for estimatthg relationship between daily Houston
Pipeline System transport and daily price I€V2l.

103. We further find that BP quotes Bergin out of comt@ken arguing that he
supports use of intraday priciAy. As Enforcement Staff notes, Bergin’s testimongt ha
nothing to do with the use @as Dailyprices, and instead related to how BP’s net long
Katy baseload position in the Investigative Pedatinot justify its increased
uneconomic trading at Houston Ship Charffiel.

2931d. P 68 nn.49-50 (citingnter alia, Luskie, Comfort, and Simmons testimony).
The Texas Team kept track of the volume-weightestaye price of trades at Katy and
Houston Ship Channel over the course of the tradagin their Katy Ship Sheets, and
that volume-weighted average price was used to atartheGas Dailyindex, which in
turn was used to measure their profit and lossciestsal with transportSeeEx. OE-211
at 52:7-11.See alsdD at P 68 n.51 (citing Ex. OE-257 and Tr. 173611/39:5
(Bergin)).

204D at P 68. Moreover, we find that Evans’s “cotesl” regression analyses
using intraday prices contain numerous errors ABi@ntes-Metz notes, Evans
inexplicably used a time-weighted average of aflasised differences in best available
price bids at Katy and Houston Ship Channel (@ecjuding offers) during only a limited
one and two hour window, which included periodobefKaty even began tradingee
Ex. OE-211 at 59:10-17. We also find Evans’s giegdhevidence of “price based
switching” on 26 days lacking because it is alsatkd to a narrow two-hour window per
trading day and only shows bids and not offe@eeEx. BP-037 at 46-47, App. B.

205BP cites to Bergin’s direct testimony that “[ajroeaomic decision does not
require that a particular trade turn out to havenberofitable at the end of the day — but it
means that the trade was the most profitable optidhe time of the decision.3ee
BP Br. on Exceptions at 35 & n.169.

20% seeEnforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 2@rfditing Ex. OE-001
at 115:1-12).
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104. BP argues thabas Dailyprices are not a reliable indicator of prevailingaday
spreads and highlights Abrantes-Metz’s own analsistving that 40 percent of the time
during the Investigative Period, the intraday pddéerential between Houston Ship
Channel and Katy was in the opposite directiorhefdorrespondinas Dailyprice
differential.

105. What Abrantes-Metz’s analysis demonstrated wasithide majority of all
minutes (more than 60 percent) within each tradiang in 2008, the intraday price
differential was in the same direction as @&s Dailyprice differential. If, as BP
assertsGas Dailyprices were a poor indicator of prevailing intragaices, and the

Texas Team relied on intraday prices to optimizeusage of the Houston Pipeline
System transport, the regression analysis shoulbdenable to find a statistically
significant relationship between a difference ifyd&as Dailyprices at Houston Ship
Channel and Katy and Houston Pipeline System t@ahsigage by the Texas Team. The
regression analysis however did find this statdiycsignificant relationship during the
Pre-Investigative Period and no such relationshiing the Investigative Peridd’

106. BP also faults Abrantes-Metz’s regression modehfuirconsidering that “other
rational decision criteria influence pipeline trpog volumes.?® Yet BP failed to
provide evidentiary or statistical support foragt#ticisms in this regard, which the 1D
found were based on mere conjecture about “possiliernative explanation®® For
example, BP states that Evans’s testimony explaim&tch change to baseload position
“Iis likely a driver of the amount of capacity that a shippeuld transport,” and that “a
variety of additional factorsouldalso prompt changes to transportation capacity
utilization.”*° The ID reasonably found that the mere hypothktitegations that

297 The regression analysis found that the relatignsbtween Houston Ship
Channel and Katy spread and the Texas Team’s wandpring the Pre-Investigation
Period was statistically significant at the 95 petcconfidence level. The regression
analysis found that in the Pre-Investigative Perfodevery penny increase in the
Houston Ship Channel to Katy price spread, the 3&eam shipped, on average, an
additional 3,952 MMBtusSeeEx. OE-129 at 91.

298 BP Br. on Exceptions at 35.
1D at P 68 n.52.

298P Br. on Exceptions at 35 (emphasis added); 5909ZEvans).
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changes in volatility, liquidity or riskcould alsoprompt changes to transportation
capacity utilization,” are insufficient to find emrwith the ID’s findings**

107. BP finally argues that the use of Houston PipeSgstem transport in the
Investigative Period was similar or less than itkzation in prior years during
comparable seasonal periods, which was overlookekbbantes-Metz’s selective
comparison of transport utilization in the Inveatige Period versus Pre-Investigative
Period?*? However, based on expert and fact witness testjithe ID reasonably
rejected BP’s seasonality arguméhit.In particular, Enforcement Staff's expert Bergin
testified that the mere presence of a particulas@e does not guide trading behavior and
or transport utilizatio™* while BP’s trader Luskie testified that the spréadhat
dictates whether you flow or not flow, the realimpread™ Thus, the fact that
Houston Pipeline System transport in the Investiga®eriod was similar or less than its
utilization in prior years during particular seaabperiods has no bearing on the
regression results.

211 BP Br. on Exceptions at 35 (emphasis added). Mane we find that
Abrantes-Metz’s regression model does account frket conditions that were not
captured by the Houston Ship Chan@els Dailyprice spread. It does so indirectly by
including a one day lag of Houston Pipeline Systemsport volume as an independent
variable in the regression analysis. By includimg variable, the model is forced to
account for the impact that the previous day’sdpamt values have on today’s transport
volumes. If the previous day’s transport volumesdriven by what BP called “other
rational decision criteria,” then their impact tcaunted for when Abrantes-Metz's
regression model estimates a relationship betwesayts Houston Pipeline System
transports and today’s Houston Ship Channel ang giate spread.

2121d.: Ex. BP-037 at 41:1-41:4.
231D at P 63.
2141d. (citing Ex. OE-161 at 28:14-18).

2151d. (citing Tr. 574:17-575:13; 584:7-25 (Luskie)).



Docket Nos. IN13-15-000 and IN13-15-001 -52 -

d. Inter-Market Analysis

i Initial Decision

108. The ID also accepted, after considering Evanstgims, Abrantes-Metz’s
“inter-market analysis to test whether the Texaan elisregarded better arbitrage
opportunities in the Investigative Period® Enforcement Staff's expert compared BP’s
bid-based and offer-based sales at Houston Shipr@havith the team’s bids and offers
at Katy (adjusted for the cost of transport) atgame moment in time when both markets
were active’

109. Based on this bid-to-bid and offer-to-offer comparn, the inter-market analysis
showed that BP’s uneconomic trading on the offée sicreased from 46 percent in the
Pre-Investigative Period to 78 percent in the Itigasive Period, while its uneconomic
trading on the bid side remained relatively sinfifdr Abrantes-Metz found that BP’s
moment-to-moment trading decisions did not refeecational, profit-maximizing
approach to arbitraging prices between Katy andstuShip Channét? The ID
agreed with Abrantes-Metz’s conclusions, findingttthe “‘offer-to-offer comparison’

21614, p 509,

2171d. In particular, “[i]f the Texas [T]eam hit a bid fdouston Ship Channel],”

then Abrantes-Metz “determined whether the besteroporaneous Katy bid (i,ehe
highest active bid price) was ‘within the cost@rsport—meaning that the [Houston
Ship Channel] bid that the Texas [T]eam hit wasgretter than the best Katy bid by at
least $0.013. When the contemporaneous Katy b&within the cost of transport, the
Texas [T]eam would have been able to sell by Iyttire Katy bid and received a
higher return than they did by selling at [Hous&mp Channel] and incurring transport
costs. Otherwise, it would have been more profikimizing to hit the Katy bid and
avoid the $0.013 variable [Houston Pipeline Systearjsport cost.” Ex. OE-129

at 102:15-103-2. Similarly, if a Texas Team sads\the result of a lifted offer at
Houston Ship Channel, Enforcement Staff's experkéal to see whether the

Texas Team’s contemporaneous offer (i.e., the lbaffsr) was greater than the

Texas Team’s Houston Ship Channel offer that wisedliiminus $0.013). Ex. OE-129
at 103:4-7. She categorized as “uneconomic” thaddased and offer-lifted sales at
Houston Ship Channel that were within the costarigport. Ex. OE-129 at 103:7-9.

281D at P 60 (citing Ex. OE-211 at 116:6-8).

219|d.
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tests whether the Texas [T]eam made less competfiers at [Houston Ship Channel]
in the Investigative Period®

ii. BP Exceptions

110. BP takes exception to the ID’s acceptance of titerimarket analysis claiming
that “Abrantes-Metz compared [Houston Ship Chansalgs prices to what she believed
were the analogous alternative trade prices thatdvmave been executed in the Katy
markets.*?! BP argues that the ID fails to address evideaised at the hearing that
Abrantes-Metz thereby relied on “fictitious traddghe Katy offer prices,” instead of
comparing the price of a trade that could have leax@cuted with certainty at the same
moment??? BP also contends that the inter-market analysisd to account for the
different and changing market conditions that ocibetween the trade that was
executed at Houston Ship Channel and the tradevdmatater executed in connection
with the offer-based analysi§® Finally, BP argues that the ID fails to acknovgedhat
the bid-side analysis of the inter-market modehgtaba lower rate of uneconomic trades
in the Investigative Period as compared to thelRvestigative Period, which BP claims
supports its position. BP adds that this resulisicrue whether the entire day is
assessed, or whether the period only after theKsy trade of the day is asses$&l.

iil. Commission Determination

111. We affirm the findings in the ID regarding Abrarfdetz’s inter-market analysis
and reject BP’s exceptions. The evidence showsAthiantes-Metz's offer-to-offer

?201d. P 59 n.41. As Abrantes-Metz further explaineMy‘initial offer-to-offer
comparison showed a jump in the instances in wthietbest Katy offer was less
economic than a Texas [T]eam offer than what wesdliat [Houston Ship Channel].
This means that in the Investigative Period, theafdT]eam could have, but repeatedly
did not adjust their Katy offers lower (or theirghiston Ship Channel] offers higher) to
ensure equally profitable sales via offers at eitheation on a moment-to-moment
basis.” Ex. OE-211 at 106:19-107:2.

221 BP Br. on Exceptions at 38.
222|d. at 38-39 (citing Ex. BP-037 at 51:22-23 and Ex. OB-at 115:7-10).
?21d. at 39.

2241d. (citing Ex. BP-037 at 55:3-6 and Ex. OE-211 at:12%



Docket Nos. IN13-15-000 and IN13-15-001 - 54 -

comparison tests whether BP made less competitigesat Houston Ship Channel as
compared to Katy during the Investigative Peridd. Abrantes-Metz explains in her
testimony, “the Texas [T]eam could increase or lotleir offer at either Katy or
[Houston Ship Channel] at any time . . . if the 3&XT]eam was willing to sell via an
offer at [Houston Ship Channel] . . . they shouddnbeen willing to post (or adjust)
their offer at Katy such that their Katy offer wduiave been the equivalent of their
[Houston Ship Channel] offer price minus the cdgtansport.#?

112. BP argues that the offer-to-offer analysis compéfiesl offers at Houston Ship
Channel to active offers that were “not executeith@atsame moment of a comparable
[Houston Ship Channel] trade . . . ,[nor were eesdcuted *° However, the distinction
between executed and non-executed offers is imrakter the inter-market analysis;
what matters is that the compared offer at Katy acive at the time of the Houston
Ship Channel trade and therefore could have beecuéed. Likewise, we reject BP’s
argument that one can only make the offer-to-aftenparison in situations where
Houston Ship Channel and Katy offers are executéteasame moment, or otherwise
one must take into account the changing marketitond between the time a trade was
executed at Houston Ship Channel and a later tvadeexecuted at Katy. The purpose
of Abrantes-Metz’s inter-market analysis was toleate the comparability of BP’s
simultaneous offers (adjusted for transport) tbged at Houston Ship Channel and at
Katy, not the comparability of executed transaciahthese two locations.

113. BP further contends that Enforcement Staff's bidbith comparison within the
inter-market analysis suggests that BP had a loaterof uneconomic trades in the
Investigative Period as compared to the Pre-Ingastie Period. We find that BP’s bid-
to-bid comparison ignores the 40 percent of BPfgessduring the Investigative Period
that consisted of offer-based sal&s Moreover, we find that BP’s conclusions from a
bid-to-bid comparison are less compelling than fammoffer-to-offer comparison as BP
had control over its offer prices but could onlytids at prices that other market
participants postetf®

225Ex. OE-211 at 112:17-22.
226 Bp Br. on Exceptions at 39.

227 5eelD at P 60 n.42 (“In the Investigative Period thex@s [T]eam sold by
hitting bid prices 60 percent of the time.”) (cdikx. OE-211 at 117:1-14).

228 |n addition, we note that Evans underestimatesahiable cost of transport
(and thus the percentage of BP’s uneconomic shiedgfining as uneconomic only

(continued...)
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e. Distance Analysis

i Initial Decision

114. Abrantes-Metz also conducted a so-called “distamadysis,” whereby she
computed the difference (i.e., distance) betwee's Bffer-initiated sales and the best
non-BP offer at Houston Ship Channel. This distaatalysis measured the degree to
which the Texas Team’s consummated trade pricesrprided other market participants
during the Investigative Period relative to the-Freestigative Period?®

115. Following Abrantes-Metz’s analysis, the ID conclddkat the distance between
BP’s offer-initiated sales and the next best offieilouston Ship Channel increased
during the Investigative Period as compared tdPtteelnvestigative Periot?

il BP Exceptions

116. BP takes exception to the ID’s reliance on theatglisé analysis, claiming that the
ID did not consider BP’s evidence that the distamicBP’s offer-initiated sales at

Houston Ship Channel prior to the first trade ia Katy market (i. pre-Katy) was
“smaller than the penny of ‘distance’ change regmbtiy Abrantes-Metz2** According

to Evans, the distance of BP’s offer-initiated pi&ty sales at Houston Ship Channel
during the Investigative Period was $0.025 in thwektigative Period as compared to
$0.017 in the Pre-Investigative Period, for anéase of only $0.008, which is less than a
penny (i.e., $0.01).

117. BP also argues that the ID fails to consider thatrtext two most frequent sellers
at Houston Ship Channel had equal ($0.018 for ongjeater ($0.023 for the other)
distance to their offer-initiated sales at Hous&drip Channel as compared to BP’s
$0.018 distance in the Investigative Period. B&satiat even if other market
participants increased their offer distance priothie Investigative Period, the fact

Houston Ship Channel sales that were less thacehf3 above the Katy alternative,
whereas the actual costs never dropped below hi2 aaed averaged 1.3 cents during the
Investigative PeriodSeeEx. OE-211 at 112-113.

2299g5eeD at P 58.
23014, P 45 n.23.

231 Bp Br. on Exceptions at 37-38.
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remains that BP’s offer distance was consistertt aiiher market participants and that
BP’s shift was a natural market sHitt.

118. Finally, BP argues that this “evidence demonstréteti BP’s ‘distance’ was not
attributable to the alleged manipulation schemenas instead consistent with how
others were trading®®®

iii. Commission Determination

119. We disagree with BP. The ID considered the evidgwwesented in support of
both of BP’s arguments, and properly rejected th¥iether BP’s distance increased
by a penny or just shy of a penny at Houston Shigrn@el during the Investigative
Period depends on whether trades for the entiredayst the portion of the day at
Houston Ship Channel prior to the start of tradihélaty (pre-Katy) are considered. As
Abrantes-Metz demonstrated, the “full day” diffecerbetween BP’s offer-initiated sales
price and the next best offer was $0.008 in thelfrestigative Period and $0.018 in the
Investigative Period, for an increase of a penilyd$). She also calculated that the
pre-Katy (i.e., prior to trading at Katy) differenbetween BP’s offer-initiated sales price
at Houston Ship Channel and the next best offer8@a317 in the Pre-Investigative
Period and $0.025 in the Investigative Period agfoincrease just shy of a penny
($0.008), as Evans also foufil. However, the point is not whether BP’s increase i
distance is a penny or less. Rather, as the IEctly concluded, the undisputed
evidence shows that “[u]nder either calculation 8&istance increased from the
Pre-[Investigative Period] to the InvestigativeiBey’?> which is consistent with a
manipulative scheme to suppress prices by undargribe next best offer.

120. Nor does evidence that two other market particgpaatl equal or even greater
distance to their offer-initiated sales at Hous®tnp Channel necessarily diminish an
inference of manipulative conduct on the part of Bther, the ID reasonably found
that the overall conduct of these other marketigpénts was distinguishable based on a
lack of sufficient early trading by one market papant and the timing of another market

2321d. at 38, 52.
2331d. at 38.

234 CompareEx. OE-211 at 95:3-13 (Abrantes-Metz rebuttith Ex. BP-037 at
60:11-61:3 (Evans).

25D at P 45 n.23.
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participant’s increase€s® Further, we disagree with BP that the timinghef increase in
distance of another market participant’s saleotamportant. As Enforcement Staff
notes, Abrantes-Metz “testified that this analyested whether there was a change in the
Texas [T]eam’s offers from the Pre-[InvestigativaxiBd] to the [Investigative

Period].”*’

121. In short, the ID reasonably accepted Enforcemaft’Stvidence as
demonstrating that BP’s consummated offer-initisgalés prices underpriced other
market participants during the Investigative Pereldtive to the Pre-Investigative
Period.

f. Bid-Hitting Analysis

i Initial Decision

122. When selling at Houston Ship Channel, BP couldegittit the best active bid or
post an offer to sell at a higher prfc8. Following Abrantes-Metz’s analysis, the ID
found that BP sold 63 percent of the time by hitioids in the Investigative Period, as
compared to only 49.6 percent of the time in the IRvestigative Periof?® The

Texas Team also hit bids more frequently than atb#ers at Houston Ship Channel by
4 percent® The ID found this evidence significant because ‘seller intends to move
prices downward, making sales by hitting bids nfoequently is an effective way of

238 |d. (“The Pre-[Investigative Period] distances andttiméng of the increased
distance are distinct for BP and the two largektise The Texas [T]eam’s distance
increase coincided with the start of the InvesiigaPeriod. However, one of the other
sellers started increasing their offer distancéuly 2008 and the other made very few
offer-based sales at all in the Pre-[InvestigaReeiod] (making its Pre-[Investigative
Period] distance pattern difficult to discern).”).

237 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 25.

238 3eelD at P 45 n.22 (“A trader may place a bid exfilujta desire to buy, or an
offer exhibiting a desire to sell, as specifiedmfitg of natural gas at a specified price . . .
The bid/offer spread is the price difference betw#e highest bid shown by a buyer and
the lowest offers shown by a seller.”) (internahttons omitted).

2391d. P 46.

2404, (citing Ex. OE-129 at 76:9-10).
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selling at the lowest price available. This isdese the highest available bid is always
lower-priced than the lowest available offét"” Abrantes-Metz testified that when a
larger seller hits bids more frequently than waijtiar offers to be lifted, this may lead to
lower prices if other market participants belielattthere are ‘anxious’ sellers in the
market with positions that need to be liquidatéd.”

ii. BP Exceptions

123. BP takes exception to the ID’s findings, claimihgttreliance on bid-hitting as a
“marker” of a manipulative scheme wholly ignores #vidence that BP presentéd.BP
argues that its evidence showed that BP’s (i) ‘gstigative Period]-bid hitting rates were
not unusual when compared to a broader time pefrodi January 2006 through
October 201F#* (ii) “rate of bid hitting at the Katy locations hich were not alleged to
have been manipulated) increased by even mordttheate at Houston Ship Channel
during the same period?* (iii) bid-hitting increased less than the bid-ini¢j rates of
other market participants at Houston Ship Chanuaehd the Investigative Peridd® and
(iv) bid-hitting rates at both Houston Ship Chanaedtl Katy were likely driven by a
larger baseload position that BP held during thestigative Period’’

iil. Commission Determination

124. We find that BP did not rebut the fact that it im&sed bid-hitting from the
Pre-Investigative Period to the Investigative Reritnstead, BP attempts to defeat an
inference of manipulation by comparing BP’s alldgedanipulative trading to its
conduct over a larger comparative time period, BRIding at other locations (i.e., Katy)

241|d.

242|d. (citing Ex. OE-129 at 76:11-19).
243BP Br. on Exceptions at 36.

2441d. (citing Ex. BP-037 at 49:4-7).
243 |d. (citing Ex. BP-037 at 50:14-17).

248 |d. at 37 (citing Tr. 2492:5-14 (Evans)).

247|d.
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during the Investigative Period, and other marletipipants’ trading at Houston Ship
Channel during the Investigative Period. We finelse assertions unpersuasive.

125. To show that its bid-hitting rates during the Inigative Period were not unusual,
BP relies on Evans’s contention that “BP’s bidihgtrate of 63% in the [Investigative
Period] is well within [monthly average] historiaaltes” of bid-hitting between 2006

and 2017*® But even Evans’s own chart shows that out of 82tims in question, only
22 months, or 30 percent, of those months had ittickdp rates that were higher than that
observed during the Investigative Perf6d.These statistics on their own show that a
63 percent rate is higher than normal or averatgeafabid-hitting, which is consistent
with the conclusions derived from Abrantes-Metgstimony, which showed an increase
in bid-hitting when comparing the Pre-InvestigatReriod to the Investigative Period.

126. Similarly, BP claims that it increased its ratedbif-hitting at Katy by more than

it did at Houston Ship Channel during the InveshigaPeriod or that other market
participants also engaged in bid-hitting at Houssbip Channel during the Investigative
Period. Abrantes-Metz notes that “[i]n isolatid] hitting is insignificant, but it's not
when applied to the massive increase in volufi® Enforcement Staff showed that
BP’s simultaneous increases in net selling, sabbswe, and fixed-price sales, including
sales increasingly made by hitting bids, colled{ivead—and was intended to have
(seeScienter/Intent discussion, below in section IV=B) suppressing effect on the
Houston Ship Channéas Dailyindex. As the ID reasonably found, “the only
reasonable conclusion is that early bid hitting pas of the attempt to push early prices
down and mark the opeR>

127. Finally, BP suggests that bid-hitting rates by Tlexas Team at both Houston Ship
Channel and Katy locations were likely driven brgkr baseload positions that they held
during the Investigative Period, but provides ntada analysis to support this theGr§.

*®Ex. BP-037 at 49:4-7.

249 Id

20D at P 46 n.24 (citing Tr. 1914:1-4 (Abrantes-kj&t
251 |d

252Tr, 2636:10-21 (Evans) (emphasis addedg alsdD at P 68 n.52.
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Given the lack of evidence, we agree with the |&t tithe need to liquidate large
baseload positions does not account for the inecebil hitting. >

2. Profitability

128. In addition to the eight changes in BP’s tradingaweor identified during the
Investigative Period, Enforcement Staff soughtrtovp, based on the testimony of its
expert Bergin, that BP’s next-day, fixed price tradat Houston Ship Channel was
unprofitablé>* during the Investigative Period.

a. Initial Decision

129. The ID found that BP, through its Texas Team, saxit-day, fixed price physical
gas at Houston Ship Channel uneconomically withritent to manipulate the Platts
Houston Ship Chann&@as Dailylndex®° The ID further found that BP’s financial
performance on its next-day physical trading woeskesignificantly during the
Investigative Period as compared to the Pre-Ingattie Period. The ID concluded that
the change in BP’s trading patterns could not lgaéxed as appropriate profit seeking
behavior®>®

b. BP Exceptions

130. BP argues that the ID’s consideration of profitiypérising from the
Texas Team'’s physical trading is flawed in thregsvaFirst, BP states that the ID
errs by finding that BP’s next-day fixed price piogs trading was unprofitable and could

231D at P 46 n.25.

24 Ex. OE-001 at 42-43. The Texas Team's physiaafitend loss (P&L) is
calculated by summing the team’s cash P&L at HouStieip Channel and Katy, and
P&L associated with moving physical gas from KatyHouston Ship Channel. Cash
P&L is the difference between the prices of all Tlexas Team’s next-day fixed-price
trades and their associated Gas Daily price fon éagy. The P&L associated with
moving physical gas from Katy to Houston Ship Cledns calculated by taking the
difference between Katy and Houston Ship Channsl@aily prices and adjusting that
difference by the variable cost of transport onHegiston Pipeline System.

25D at P 34.

25614, p 81.



Docket Nos. IN13-15-000 and IN13-15-001 - 61 -

not be explained as profit seeking. BP pointhtolD-adopted Bergin allegations that
BP’s physical trading lost money on 67 percenhefftow days during the Investigative
Period, but argues that the evidence demonstiae8P lost money on only 58 percent
of days during the Investigative Period. Second, BP contends that the ID errs by
incorrectly concluding that BP was liable for theiee Investigative Period even though
the ID acknowledges that BP’s physical trading maditable after November 5,

2008%® Third, BP asserts that the ID errs by finding tBR had heavy consistent losses
during the Investigative Period. BP argues instbatithe Texas Team’s physical day-
to-day trading losses were insignificant on manysdiuring the Investigative Period and
that their total losses during the Investigativedte“were driven in large part by one
admittedly anomalous trading day” on which the BeXaam lost $53,540.07. After
removing that day from consideration, BP arguesttimTexas Team’s average losses
from physical trades during the Investigative Petiad $4,785 were only slightly higher
than the average losses during the Pre-Investg&riod of $2,878° Fourth, BP
argues that the loses on physical trades by thasT€&am during the Investigative
Period do not signal a changed pattern of behdaoause BP experienced losses during
the September through November 2007 time péefidd.

C. Commission Determination

131. BP does not rebut the fact that the Texas TeanXsdwy physical gas

trading was unprofitable during the Investigatiw¥i®d but was profitable during the
Pre-Investigative Period. During the Pre-InveshgaPeriod, the Texas Team averaged
$75,475 in monthly narofits on its next-day physical fixed-price tradiffg. During the
Investigative Period, the Texas Team averaged #35rbmonthly netosseson such
trading®®? In contesting the ID’s findings concerning prafitlity, BP focuses on the

ID’s findings that (1) the Texas Team lost moneyamubstantially greater percentage of
individual days during the Investigative Periodrtlturing the Pre-Investigative Period

*>" BP Br. on Exceptions at 18.
%1d. at 19.

*91d. at 20 (citing Ex. OE-124).
2%9BP Br. on Exceptions at 21.
*'IDatP 72

262 5eeEx. OE-124 under “Phys P&L by day” worksheet.
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and (2) on days when losses were incurred, the s¢dhe losses was heavier during the
Investigative Period than during the Pre-InveshigaPeriod.

132. We are not persuaded by BP’s arguments regardofdgability. Furthermore, we
disagree with BP’s characterization that profitiéapik the “lynchpin” of the ID’s
findings2®® First, there was no error in the ID’s conclusibat BP’s physical trades lost
money on a greater percentage of days during trestigative Period as compared to the
Pre-Investigative Period. As BP points out, it lm®ney on physical trades at Houston
Ship Channel and Katy on 58 percent of all daysnduhe Investigative Peridd?

Based on Bergin’s testimony, the Texas Team lostayp@n physical trades at Houston
Ship Channel and Katy on 23 percent of all daysndguhe Pre-Investigative Perigtf.
We find this to be a significant difference in fusmcy of profitable days of physical
trades at Houston Ship Channel and Katy betweeRithénvestigative Period and the
Investigative Period.

133. We further note that Bergin found that BP’s phykicading resulted in losses on
67 percent of the flow days during the InvestigafReriod prior to November 5, 2008,
the date of the recorded call. As Enforcementf&bgflains, “because the Texas [T]eam
stopped losing money on transport after the Noverblvecorded call, Bergin compared
their performance before the [Investigative Periguipfitable) with their performance in
the [Investigative Period] until November 5 (ungtaible) to determine whether their
trading shifted consistent with an attempt to malafe the [Houston Ship Channel]
Gas Dailyprice.”® Simply by offering the alternative of calculatipgpfitability during
the entire Investigative Period, BP not only doesrebut Bergin’s testimony and
analysis, but also ignores the evidence suggestatBP likely changed its trading
conduct after the November 5 recorded call in raspdo concerns about compliance
monitoring. Specifically, Enforcement Staff preehevidence that traders on the
Texas Team knew on November 6, 2008 that BP’s camge department would be
looking at their trading as a result of the Noventbeall*®” Besides, whether the

263 5eeBP Br. on Exceptions at 18.
264 |d
265 Ex. OE-001 at 103:4-5.

26 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at Bfe(nal record cites
omitted).

267 sedD at P 76; Exs. OE-001 at 74:1-7; OE-039 at 9: @3-
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Texas Team lost on 67 percent of flow days (i.etil lovember 5, as Enforcement Staff
calculates) or 58 percent of flow days during there Investigative Period (i.e.,

through November 30, as BP calculates), the evelshows that BP’s trading of
physical fixed-price gas wasprofitableduring the Investigative Period as compared to
the Pre-Investigative Period, when such physiealitrg wagrofitable

134. Second, the ID also did not commit error in findBig liable for a manipulative
scheme during the entire Investigative Period, @éliengh BP’s physical trading was
overall profitable (albeit with losses on some daitging the Investigative Period after
November 5. Lack of profitability—i.e., uneconontiading—is one indicia of
manipulative activity, but it is not an absolutgugement in order to find manipulation.
The ALJ found that the Texas Team engaged in “varacts®®® as part of a scheme to
depress th&as Dailyindex at Houston Ship Channel during the InvesiigaPeriod
and, not as BP now contends, that profitabilitihis “lynchpin” of manipulation.

135. Third, the ID did not err by concluding that BP1sygical trades at Houston Ship
Channel and Katy, as well as its Houston Pipeliy&te3n transport, experienced heavier
losses during the Investigative Period on days wisanading was not profitable. Even
when excluding September 19 as an anomalous dagpvérage daily loss of $4,785 (for
days when BP incurred a net loss) based on the®betr 20 to November 5 period
during the Investigative Period, is substantiallyher than the average daily loss of
$2,878 (for days when BP incurred a net loss) dyifie Pre-Investigative Peritf. By
another measurement, the Texas Team lost mone¥ day® during the eight and

a half months of the Pre-Investigative Period amd42 days during the two and

a half month Investigative Period. These stasssltow an increase in the daily
frequency of BP’s losses from physical trading.

136. Fourth, while BP contends that the Texas Teamedperienced losses in 2007,
what matters in this case is that the losses duh@gnvestigative Period were
accompanied by the change in trading patternssuéh, we do not agree with BP’s

288 |D at P 81.

29 Bp argued that the ID looked only to average sather than day-to-day
losses, highlighting the fact that on 11 of thevfldays during the Investigative Period
the daily loss was less than $1,500 and duringaftbose days the loss was less than
$100. But the average loss statistic, presentatidEnforcement Staff expert, accounts
for and incorporates the fact that on a numbergbdluring the Investigative Period, the
physical trading losses were low, yet still sholat the average losses during the
Investigative Period were higher as compared td’tleelnvestigative Period.



Docket Nos. IN13-15-000 and IN13-15-001 - 64 -

argument that losses on their own during Septethibeugh November 2007 suggest that
the ID could not draw any inference from lossesrdpthe Investigative Period.

137. In short, the ID did not err in finding that finaacperformance of BP’s next-day
physical trading worsened significantly during theestigative Period as compared to
the Pre-Investigative Period.

3. Confluence of Acts that Constitute or Further a Sckme to
Manipulate

a. Initial Decision

138. The ID found that the evidence established thégy &furricane lke, BP’s trading
and transport of next-day fixed-price gas at HauShip Channel changed to almost
entirely net selling, BP increased its percentagkwlume of fixed-price sales at
Houston Ship Channel, and BP became the sellerthétlfargest market share in the
next-day fixed-price market at Houston Ship Chamieing the Investigative Perigd
The ID also found that BP shifted to selling highelumes at Houston Ship Channel
early in the trading day, buying at Houston Shia@tel later in the day, and
transporting substantially more gas to Houston &fipnnel from Katy using BP’s
Houston Pipeline System transport. In additior,lih found that the evidence
demonstrated that BP shifted to posting aggressleeler offers compared to other
sellers at Houston Ship Channel and that thereawascrease in the frequency of BP’s
sales made by hitting bids. The ID further fouhdttthe evidence showed that there was
an increase in the percentage of sales at Hous$tipnChannel that were uneconomic
compared to contemporaneous prices at KdtyThe ID concluded that “this unique
confluence of changed trading patterns, which &ret the scheme to suppress the
[Houston Ship Channeas Dailyindex, sets apart the Texas [T]eam’s behavionén t
Investigative Period from their behavior in the firevestigative Period] and cannot be
explained by any economic or profit rationale, leypegral market conditions, or by
comparison to the behavior of the other two large#iers at [Houston Ship Channed{?

201D at P 42.

271
Id.

2'21d. (“Enforcement Staff is correct that BP has na&ctely explained their
behavior and instead merely downplays its sigmnifoea”).
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b. BP Exceptions

139. BP argues that the “ID erroneously concludes thmaaipulative scheme is
revealed when each of the factors concerning tr@d fl'Jleam’s trading that underlie the
six-legged stool are taken together” and that fihéails to look at each alleged trading
behavior independently, but instead found the Tékpesam liable based on a
‘confluence of factors.®”® According to BP, a “confluence of factors’ is artifice
designed to avoid criticism of each underlying éattaind a finding of fraud cannot be
“based on a ‘confluence of factors’ when the undeg factors are themselves
discredited.?”* BP argues that “federal precedent finding liapitiased on a confluence
of factors when the underlying factors are sulijectispute is limited to criminal cases
analyzing the sufficiency of reasonable suspiciotVar probable cause to detain a
criminal defendant®° BP states that the “‘confluence of factors’ oriahtthe ID relies
is nothing more than an expanded version of AbeaMetz’s six-legged stool which
Evans rebutted leg-by-leg through his testimof{.’According to BP, Enforcement
Staff's “evidence did not eliminate a substanti@itipn of innocent actors, as the law
requires for a confluence to even be considerad @l the ‘much lower’ threshold of
reasonable suspicioR” BP criticizes the ID for finding “that the two xtdargest
market participants trading at [Houston Ship Chdrdid not show the same patterns as
the Texas [T]eam,” when (i) those two other larghess sold gas early at Houston Ship
Channel, (ii) “Evans explained that Abrantes-Meth'stance analysis produces similar
results for those same two sellers,” and (iii) Altes-Metz admitted not conducting a
bid-hitting analysis (a third factor underlying ttenfluence”) of those two market
participants on an all-day badi§. BP asserts that “it is reversible error for tBetd find
BP liable under the preponderance of evidence atdrishsed on a ‘confluence of
factors’ when BP has demonstrated that the unaerifgctors are themselves incorrect

23 BP Br. on Exceptions at 40.

274|d.

2.

2781d. at 41.
2171d. at 41-42.

2781d. at 42.



Docket Nos. IN13-15-000 and IN13-15-001 - 66 -

and that the same factors implicate innocent astiand that “[i]t is also error for the ID

to fail to consider BP’s arguments criticizing timederlying factors®®

C. Commission Determination

140. Based on the totality of evidence, including eviceedemonstrating BP’s
changed trading patterns during the Investigatimedd, a lack of profitability associated
with these new trading patterns, and no reasoredgkanation for these changes, the ID
reasonably found that the overwhelming inferendeetalrawn was that BP engaged in a
scheme to artificially suppress the Houston Shipr@lelGas Dailyindex for the benefit
of its financial positions. The Commission agregs$ this finding.

141. Contrary to BP’s assertions, BP’s expert did nbutéleg-by-leg” the evidence
demonstrating BP’s change in trading patterns dutie Investigative Period. Rather,
Enforcement Staff proved by a preponderance oétdence that the Texas Team’s
conduct—which included uneconomic transport comibweh early, volume-heavy
selling at aggressively low prices at Houston STigannel during the Investigative
Period—viewed together under the circumstancesstitated and furthered a scheme to
artificially suppress the Houston Ship Chan@ek Dailyindex. For reasons stated
herein, we also find that the ID reasonably distisged the separate and isolated
activities of other market participants from thempalative scheme that BP was shown
to have engaged in during the Investigative Period.

142. Nor does the ID’s use of the phrase “confluencealdscribe the collective

actions constituting the scheme on which EnforcdrB8eadf bases its claim of
manipulation implicate legal doctrine relating e treasonable suspicion and/or probable
cause standard applied to detain a criminal defanda BP inaptly argues. This case
involves proof of a manipulative scheme in violatmf the Commission’s Anti-
Manipulation Rule. We, therefore, reject BP’s tation to review the ID’s findings

based on “reasonable suspicion” and “probable ¢alarines of criminal law that have
no apparent relevance here.

4. Other BP Exceptions

143. BP raised various other arguments on exceptioasimglto the ID’s findings
regarding manipulative conduct, which we addre$svihe

2191d. at 41.
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a. Use of the Pre-Investigative Period for Comparison

i Initial Decision

144. In finding a change in trading patterns from whighnfer manipulation, the ID
relied on a comparison of BP’s trading conductmythe Investigative Period and the
Pre-Investigative Period. The ID noted that Abeartletz defined the Pre-Investigative
Period as the trade dates from January 2, 2008ghr8eptember 10, 206¥,and the
Inveszté%ative Period as the trade dates from Sdptert8, 2008 through November 25,
2008:

145. According to the ID, Abrantes-Metz excluded fronm hralysis the trade dates
from September 11 through September 17, 2008 dtieteffect of Hurricane Ike on
market volume$® Abrantes-Metz also did not include pre-2008 datdeer analysis
because: (1) bid and offer data on ICE only gaek o the beginning of 2008;

(2) natural gas markets looked very different pte2008, and including this data in the
analysis would have skewed the results; and (3)f@ardid not primarily trade Katy or
Houston Ship Channel daily physical positions ukdituary 2008

il BP Exceptions

146. BP contends that Enforcement Staff’s “selectived-Rwestigative Period is not
representative of BP’s trading behavior and, tleeeefit was error for the ID to rely on it.
BP argues that the ID did not address its critigiudne unrepresentative sample size of
the Pre-Investigative Period, which undermines Ates-Metz’s conclusiorfs?

147. BP contends that the ID incorrectly characterizB&sBvitness Evans as arguing
that an appropriate comparison period is impossdfend. BP asserts that it provided
an appropriate time period using reliable dateel@ry flawed analysis that Abrantes-

Metz presented and the ID adopted. BP adds thakpert Evans testified about the

2801D at P 10 n.6.

2811d. P 44 n.20.

82d.

283|d.

284 BP Br. on Exceptions at 43-44.
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impact of seasonality in gas markets and why onst eensider comparable months
when looking at the Texas Team'’s trading in theebiigative Period>

148. BP further argues that the ID fails to address Bétaittal to the three reasons
Abrantes-Metz stated for using the Pre-Investigakeriod. First, BP states that ICE
provided a substantial amount of useful data farprears, and that bid and offer data
were not necessary to conduct Abrantes-Metz's gnaimalysis. Second, BP argues that
Abrantes-Metz has no experience with natural gagaéfered no explanation or support
for asserting that natural gas markets looked défgrent prior to 2008. Third, BP
maintains that Abrantes-Metz inappropriately coased only the period when Comfort
was trading in Texas, but such an analysis shouéktlude prior years’ trading data
simply because one of the traders was not a medaifilike trading team in those prior

years’%®

iil. Commission Determination

149. We disagree with BP. The record evidence supplogtseasonableness of
Enforcement Staff's selection of the Pre-InvestigaPeriod. As Abrantes-Metz noted,
changed trading patterns during a time period uegamination can be one indication of
manipulation. To determine if a change in tradmagterns occurred, a control period
must be selected during which no known manipulaticcurred, but which is similar to
the suspect pericd’ Moreover, using a single time control period fimultiple analyses
allows for more uniform and reliable comparisonslafa and avoids the potential to
cherry pick result§®

150. In this instance, Comfort executed 89 percent efftaxas Team'’s fixed price
trades at Houston Ship Channel during the Investig#®eriod. Comfort became the
Texas Team’s primary Houston Ship Channel traddamuary 2008 and also executed
87 percent of the Texas Team’s trades at Katy angstdn Ship Channel during the

285|d. at 44-45.
285 |d. at 45-46.
287 Ex. OE-211 at 27-28.

288 5eelD at PP 42 n.19, 44 n.20. In contrast, BP appeeasgue that each
analysis of a specific alleged change in tradingalveor during the Investigative Period
should have its own appropriate time period to cammm@mgainstSeeBP Br. on
Exceptions at 46-49.
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Pre-Investigative Perio®® These facts provide an evidentiary basis forcsieig the
Pre-Investigative Period, which also started iruday 2008, as the control peri6d.
Moreover, the ID noted that Abrantes-Metz extensi®eeral of her analyses, including
her timing analysis, by using data from previouargeand also conducted “robustness
checks” for other analyses with data from otheetjperiods to confirm her resufts.
Consequently, we find no error in the ID’s accep&aaf such a Pre-Investigative Period
for comparison.

151. We also find the ID reasonably considered the exdddghat BP’s unsupported and
generalized claim of “seasonality” was insufficiemtwarrant disregarding Enforcement
Staff's Pre-Investigative Period in favor of sontiem@ative comparison period of the
same months in prior years.

b. Use of Katy Ship Sheets

152. The Katy Ship Sheets are an excel spreadsheetnwithich the Texas Team
tracked daily physical transactions at Katy, Honsstip Channel, and the amount of gas
transported from Katy to Houston Ship Channelthin“Transport Diff” cell of the
spreadsheet, the Texas Team calculated net P&L thamsporting natural gas from

Katy to Houston Ship Channel.

i Initial Decision

153. The ID accepted evidence from Katy-Ship Sheetaakiased transported volume
during the Investigative Period as compared tdPtleelnvestigative Period between
Katy and Houston Ship Channel by the Texas T€anThe ID also accepted

29 Ex. OE-211 at 29-30.
20D at 44 n.20.
291|1d. P 61. See alsd&Ex. OE-211 at 26-34.

2921 particular, Enforcement Staff's expert Bergistified that the mere presence
of a particular season does not guide trading hehawnd or transport utilization, while
BP’s trader Luskie testified that the spread is tehetates whether you flow or not flow,
the real-time spreadSeelD at P 63 (citing Ex. OE-161 at 39:14-18; Tr. S/A575:13;
584:7-25 (Luskie)).

293D at P 55.
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Enforcement Staff's use of the “Transport Diff” loel the Katy-Ship Sheets to determine
whether the Texas Team was flowing gas economidaifing the Investigative

Period?®* The ID recognized that the Texas Team used estitdGas Dailyprices in
the Katy-Ship Sheets to estimate their net phy$¥&dl on next-day tradeS> Finally,

the ID accepted the use of the Katy Ship Sheetrigrcement Staff for purpose of
calculating the Texas Team’s cash P&L for the corabliKaty and Houston Ship
Channel locations and transport P&L, as well as toeal physical P&L2%

ii. BP Exceptions

154. BP argues that ID erred by relying on the Katy-SBiyeets for P&L computations.
BP claims that the purpose of the Katy-Ship Shegonts is to help traders track their
daily physical positions and that the reports aeppropriate for P&L purposés. BP
argues that alternative documentation is more gpjate to determine P&L and that
documentation includes monthly mark-to-market repand the “Texas Fun Sheet&®”

155. BP argues that Abrantes-Metz improperly used tlilg tansport P&L formula in
the Katy Ship Sheets (i,¢he “Transport Diff” cell) to determine whether tlexas
Team was flowing gas less economically in the Itigasive Period because that cell
includes the flow of baseload gas. BP arguestlizatineconomic flow of baseload gas
cannot be considered part of the manipulative sehescause baseload deals have no
role in forming theGas Dailyindex, which is the index alleged to have been
manipulated®”

156. Likewise, BP argues that Abrantes-Metz’s usagdefdaty-Ship Sheets in her
analysis was improper because Katy-Ship Sheetgdadltrades that were not executed
on ICE and not included in tt@as Dailyindex>®

2%41d. P 62 n.46.

2% 1d. P 68 n.50.

2%1d. P 119 n.94.

297 BP Br. on Exceptions at 65.
2% 1d. at 66.

299|d.

30014 at 67.
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iil. Commission Determination

157. We find that the ID appropriately gave consideratdeght to P&L calculations as
they were used in Katy Ship Sheets based on (ietb@rd evidence that the reports were
used by the Texas Team to estimate their losseprafits at Katy, Houston Ship
Channel, and on their Houston Pipeline System p@amsn the next-day cash session;
and (ii) Luskie’s testimony that the P&L formulasleedded in the Katy Ship Sheets
were the same formulas that BP’s back office uaéidi(the finalGas Dailyprices were
published) to “roll” the Texas Team’s next-day plgsgas trading results into an
aggregate P&L that included all of the Texas Teamtt®r “cash” position&*

158. We affirm the ID’s determination that Abrantes-Médid not err when using the
“Transport Diff” cell in the Katy-Ship Sheets foalculating transportation P&L. The
cell calculates transportation P&L by first takiting difference between estimated
Houston Ship Channel and KaBas Dailyaverages. Next, it subtracts cost of transport
between Katy and Houston Ship Channel. Finallguttiplies theGas Dailyspread

that is adjusted for the cost of transport by tbkeime of transported gas between those
two locations. BP argues that the volume of transg gas figure used in that
calculation contains some amount of baseload gaishvis not a factor in the formation
of Gas Dailyindex. As Enforcement Staff points out, BP’s angmt does not undermine
the validity of the methodology used in the “Tramg®iff” cell for the purposes of
assessing economic flow of gas between Katy anagtdauship Channel. The profit-
maximizing decision to flow gas between those taaations, be it baseload or next-day,
should still be based on daily prices. The Texearn always had the option to turn off
transport, and sell baseload or next-day gas at, Kais removing baseload gas from
transport volumes would be inappropriate when agsgsvhether the Texas Team
transport decisions were econorilc.

159. Similarly, BP argues that some of the transactiorike Katy Ship Sheets
reflected a transfer among BP affiliates and themesactions could not be executed on
ICE and not included in th@as Dailyindex. BP points out that one of twenty-nine
transactions that the Texas Team completed on @c®R008 was a transaction among

301D at P 119 n.94.

3021d. P 62 n.46.
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BP affiliates and therefore should not be incluttedbrantes-Metz’s analysf§> While
Abrantes-Metz conceded BP’s point, she also testifnat during the Investigative
Period almost all of BP’s sales were executed dhd@d points out that inter-affiliate
transactions were present during both the Pre-tigagive Period and the Investigative
Period, suggesting that the number of those typesamsactions is small and their
frequency is not different between compared periatisch makes their inclusion in the
analysis that aims to show difference between Rvedtigative Period and Investigative
Periods inconsequentidl’ We agree with those conclusions.

C. BP’s Rebuttal Evidence of Trading at Alternative
Locations, at Other Times, and by Other Market

Participants

160. BP argues that the ID, in accepting Enforcemerff'Stelaim of manipulative
conduct, overlooked or erroneously rejected thypes of rebuttal evidence: BP’s
similar trading at other locations (i.e., Katy) ohgr the Investigative Period, other market
participants’ similar trading at Houston Ship Chalnsturing the Investigative Period, and
BP’s historical trading at Houston Ship Channel.

161. BP contends that to credibly attribute BP’s tradamgl transport activity during
the Investigative Period to a manipulative schemnsuppress prices at Houston Ship
Channel, the Commission must find an absence ¢f aativity at alternative trading
locations, at other times, and by other marketigpants—all instances where BP claims
no such manipulation is allegé¥.

162. First, BP asserts that the Texas Team’s next-déggeehavior at Houston Ship
Channel is not indicative of manipulation becaulmytwere engaged in similar conduct
at Katy. In particular, BP asserts that “the IDages that the Texas [T]leam increased its
percentage of fixed-price sales at Katy more thiacreased its percentage at [Houston
Ship Channel] during the [Investigative Periodjidahat “BP’s rate of bid-hitting at

393BP Br. on Exceptions at 67 (citing Tr. 1939:11¢(Abrantes-Metz)). The
testimony cited by BP identifies transactions amBRgaffiliates as those transactions in
Katy Ship Sheets where under counterparty colurstead of counterparty name one
sees a word “asset.”

394 Tr, 1940:2-18 (Abrantes-Metz).

39> gee, e.g.BP Br. on Exceptionat 32 n.158.
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Katy increased even more than the rate of bidrlgjtiit [Houston Ship Channefl® BP
also faults the ID for disregarding Evans’s “ea$in” rebuttal without explanation in
which, according to BP, “Evans demonstrated thaiotberall earliness of trades by BP at
[Houston Ship Channel] in the [Investigative Pelads less than its earliness at the
composite of the Katy Oasis and Katy Enstor loceti§®’

163. Second, BP argues that four of the Texas Teamsgduthtrading patterns on
which the ID relies were entirely consistent withdonduct over a longer timeframe. In
particular, BP argues that the Texas Team’s “trariggilization in the [Investigative
Period] was consistent with its historical utiliat,” that “BP’s fixed priced sales were
entirely consistent with BP’s fixed-price salevatious pointsn 2006, 2007, 2009,
2010, and 2011,” that “BP’s bid-hitting rate at fi#ton Ship Channel] was similar or
higher innumerous otheperiods,” and that “its timing of trades at [HausShip
Channel] . . . during the [Investigative Period]swemparable to itsistorical timingof
trades.®%®

164. BP further argues that Enforcement Staff's expdmtafstes-Metz actually
demonstrated that the Texas Team'’s trading inrttiedtigative Period was consistent
with its trading in prior periods. Citing TableAlfrom Abrantes-Metz’s rebuttal
testimony in which she extended her analysis tudedata dating back to 2007, BP
argues that its trading at Houston Ship Channehduhe Investigative Period was
similgorgto its trading in 2007 with respect to sefferent metrics Abrantes-Metz
used:

165. Third, BP argues that the ID fails to consider eetother market participants at
Houston Ship Channel traded in a similar manné¢nécolexas Team during the
Investigative Period™° In particular, BP asserts that “Abrantes-Metfefhio even
consider whether BP’s fixed-price sales volume w@ssistent with the trading of other
large market participants that were making salé&é and [Houston Ship Channell,”

3%%1d. at 53.
307|d.
398 |d. at 46-49 & nn.225-226 (emphasis added).

3991d. at 49-50. Generally, these metrics measure thasT&eam’s trading and
transport volumes and various aspects of the tirofritg trades.

3101d. at 50.
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that “other market participants did increase tbairhitting at a rate more than the
Texas [T]eam,” and that “other market participantseased their offer distance in the
[Investigative Period], just as BP didf-*

I Commission Determination

166. For the reasons already stated in the discusslmmgeaaddressing each of the
Texas Team'’s eight changes in trading behavioraatskbn Ship Channel during the
Investigative Period, we find BP’s individual pisoaf rebuttal evidence to be
unpersuasivét? Also, even if BP could convincingly show—as ijaes it did in its
exceptions—that it engaged in some similar condtiother locations or at other times,
or that there was similar conduct by other marketigipants, this would not negate
Enforcement Staff’s proof of a scheme at Houstoip Shannel during the Investigative
Period. As the Commission previously stated, &ifgs undertaken solely for bona fide
economic purposes are not violative of the sectmf of the Commission’s regulations,
but the very same trades, if intended to manipulsenarket, are indeed prohibitetd®
Based on the totality of evidence presented ah#aging, the ID found, and we concur,
that by its collective actions BP engaged in a s@hthat was intended to artificially
depress the Houston Ship Chan@els Dailyindex to benefit its financial positions.

d. Non-Manipulative Alternative Explanations

167. The Commission previously stated that BP may ptes@dence as to its business
purpose, which will be considered along with Enémnent Staff's evidence of
manipulation in determining whether a claim for iipafation has been establish&d.

311|d. at 50-52.

312\We disagree with BP that its trading at Houstoip $thannel during the
Investigative Period was similar to its tradin@2@07 with respect to seven different
metrics used by Abrantes-Metz. These metricsjaamily displayed in Table 1.A of
Abrantes-Metz’s rebuttal analysis, do not poind toonsistent pattern in trading behavior
that occurred simultaneously at any one timefram2007, unlike what is demonstrated
during the Investigative PeriodbeeEx. OE-211 at 17-20.

313 Hearing Order at P 42.

314
Id.
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i. Initial Decision

168. The ID found BP made only unsubstantiated claimsusiness reasons to explain
the changes in the Texas Team'’s trading behavidoaston Ship Channel and use of
Houston Pipeline System transpon.

ii. BP Exceptions

169. BP argues that the ID ignored evidence that twoitemes and the 2008 credit
crisis affected the Texas Team'’s trading duringltivestigative Period by reducing
baseload demand at Houston Ship Channel and bictiest the potential counterparties
with whom BP could trade, respectivély. BP argues that the ID incorrectly adopts
Bergin’s testimony by concluding that the credisisrhad no impact, because the ID
only evaluated the number of potential counterpartivhich did not change) and did not
consider who the counterparties might be and thenéxo which they could actively
trade with BP or have a need for natural gas. Bfér argues that the ID ignored
testimony that companies were cancelling contraiststhat counterparties were losing
credit ratings and were unable to meet credit statsd'’

170. BP also argues that the ID ignored evidence thatithnes Gustav and lke had
an impact on the Texas Team’ trading by reducirgglzead demand at Houston Ship
Channel. BP submits that the ID erroneously reliedBergin’s testimony and failed to
engage in any meaningful analysis, despite Bergiokhiowledgement that Hurricane lke
affected natural gas markets. BP adds that thetdd to Nesha Barnhart’s (Barnhart)
testimony that Hurricane Gustav had no impactsantg for which she was responsible,

31°gee, e.gID at PP 63, 77, 125.

318 BP Br. on Exceptions at 63-65. In addition, Bihpoto seasonality
and baseload positions as possible alternativeapapbns for the behavior of the
Texas Team during the Investigative Period. Weaesldseasonality and baseload as
they are raised by BP earlier in this ord8ee supr&P 106-107, 127, 151, 15&e also
infra PP 169-172.

317 Bp also faults the ID for ignoring Bergin’s adniissat trial that he did not
consider all available data in conducting a craddlysis. SeeBP Br. on Exceptions
at 63. BP, however, fails to explain how such datald have altered Bergin’s
conclusions.
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but the ID ignored that Barnhart stated she cootdspeak for Comfort or the points at
which he traded*®

iii. Commission Determination

171. We find that the ID considered, and reasonablyctept BP’s evidence regarding
the effects of the 2008 financial crisis and tworlwanes as insufficient to explain the
Texas Team'’s change in trading behavior durindrkiestigative Period. While BP
makes general assertions in its brief that thesats\affected the Texas Team’s trading,
BP fails to connect the impact of these eventheéachanges in trading behavior that
Abrantes-Metz identifies. For example, BP doesaxpiain or demonstrate how a
change in who the Texas Team’s counterparties nhigid been after the 2008 financial
crisis caused the Texas Team to become the satletive largest market share of next-
day, fixed price sales at Houston Ship Channellor the Texas Team shifted to selling
higher volumes at Houston Ship Channel earlieh@nttading day.

172. Accordingly, the ID correctly concluded that theras no evidence that the
hurricanes “materially impact[ed] the Texas Teatrasling in the [Investigative Period],
or their [Houston Ship Channel] and Katy physicadéload positions through October
and November 2008* And while BP cites to Blatts Gas Dailyarticle describing the
financial crisis and a general reduction in thalitre/orthiness of counterparties, BP
offers no evidence of any actual impact of the itr&tisis on the Texas Team’s next-day
physical trading.

e. Findings on Credibility of Withesses

i Initial Decision

173. Inthe ID, the ALJ gave Abrantes-Metz’s testimosighificant®?° and

“considerable®! weight, and Bergin’s testimony “significaff? and “substantiaf?®
weight, while concluding that Evans’s testimonytiist given any weight®*

3181d. at 64-65.
39D at P 63.
3201d. P 194.
211d. P 68.

322|1d. PP 127n.109, 164, 172 n.121.
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ii. BP Exceptions

174. BP argues that the ID’s determinations regardiegctiedibility of BP’s witness
Evans and Enforcement Staff's withesses “are pigtenteasonable and warrant no
deference ¥° BP asserts that the “[t]he ID ignores almosb&BP’s arguments by
affording Evans no weight and determining that fiEaément Staff's] witnesses were
credible and worthy of substantial weigfAt®

iii. Commission Determination

175. In considering the evidence presented, the AL&fit#tled to deference with
regard to the credibility of withnesses and evideace the amount of weight to be
accorded to particular testimony or evident®.1n particular, “the trier of fact is in the
best position to evaluate such elusive factorsasveor intent,” which “hinge[] entirely
upon the degree of credibility to be accorded éséinony of interested witnesse$®

BP has not demonstrated that the ID’s credibilgyedminations were erroneous, and we
therefore reject BP’s assertion that those deteatiains “warrant no deference.” On the
contrary, the record here shows that the ID thanbugonsidered the evidence and each
witness’ testimony before determining to give AliemaMetz’s testimony and Bergin’s

3231d. P 117.
3241d. P 62 n.52.

325BP Br. on Exceptions at 54.

326
Id.

327 Entergy Services, Inc130 FERC 1 61,023, at P 53 n.66 (20182 also
El Paso Natural Gas Cp67 FERC 1 61,327, at 62,156 (1994).

328\wjilliams Natural Gas Co41 FERC 1 61,037, at 61,095 (1987) (quoting
Pennzoil Co. v. FER(789 F.2d 1128, 1135 (5th Cir. 19865ee alsd®enasquitos
Village, Inc. v. NLRB565 F.2d 1074, 1078-79 (9th Cir. 1977) (“Weighgiven the
administrative law judge’s determinations of crédiofor the obvious reason that he or
she sees the witnesses and hears them testiBll.aspects of the witnesses’ demeanor .
.. may convince the observing trial judge thatwlmess is testifying truthfully or
falsely. These same very important factors, howeare entirely unavailable to a reader
of the transcript.”) (internal quotations omitted).
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testimony “significant weighf?® and concluding that “Evans[] testimony is noteji
any weight.** Accordingly, we affirm the ID’s credibility detetinations.

176. According to BP, the ID’s decision that Evans’ditasny was “not given any
weight” was based on: “(i) Evans’s education coraddo Abrantes-Metz’s education;
(i) instances where the ID found Evans and othiemegses to not be in full agreement;
and (iii) a determination that Evans did not disygrfEnforcement Staff’s]
allegations.®®' BP argues that the “ID errs in failing to consi@i®ans’ experience’®
failing to address BP’s criticisms of Bergin andréhtes-MetZ>® and failing to consider

how Bergin’s pursuit of employment at BP impacts ¢riedibility ***

177. Notably, BP does not take issue with what it idezgias the second and

third bases for the ID’s determination to not aff&vans’s testimony any weight—the
instances where Evans and other witnesses cortrddiach other and the determination
that Evans did not disprove Enforcement Staff'egdtions. These factors provide
substantial support for the ID’s credibility detenation. As the ID notes, BP’s traders
contradicted Evans’s descriptions of natural gaketdrading at least three tim&3.

First, Evans claimed that a trader would consideagket with a wide bid/offer spread to
be a viable comparison to a market with a narroneash but Luskie disagreed. Second,
Luskie acknowledged that BP’s Texas Team tradeesnored their next-day fixed-price
P&L at Houston Ship Channel and Katy against eachtion’sGas Dailyindex price,
which contradicted Evans’s assertion that measwRlg against thesas Dailyindex is

329g5ee, e.gID at P 194 (“Dr. Abrantes-Metz testimony is givegnificant
weight.”); id. P 127 (“Bergin’s testimony is given significantiglet.”); id. P 68
(“Dr. Abrantes-Metz’s testimony is given considdeatveight.”);id. P 117
(“Bergin’s testimony is given substantial weightig. P 164 (“Bergin’s testimony is
given significant weight.”).

%%1d. P 68 n.52.

331 BP Br. on Exceptions at 55-56.

%321d. at 56.

%31d. at 58-60.

%41d. at 59.

35D at P 68 n.52.
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only relevant when a trader sells gas that washased at an index price, and is
otherwise insufficient for any other aspect ofadar’s book. Third, Evans claimed that
offers at Katy were irrelevant when he criticizedrantes-Metz's inter-market
comparison of the Texas Team’s Houston Ship Chasalet with contemporaneous bids
and offers at Katy. However, Luskie testified thatconsidered both bids and offers
when deciding whether and where to trdfeThe ID did not err in considering these
contradictions, which BP does not dispute, as sdgpoits decision to afford Evans’s
testimony no weight, particularly where the ALJ Wiasthe best position to evaluate
such elusive factors as motive or intéitbecause she saw the witnesses and heard them
testify and those “important factors . . . are hjiunavailable to a reader of the
transcript®*® such as the Commission in this instance.

178. The ID’s decision to not afford Evans any weighfiuher supported by

Evans’s failure to disprove any of Enforcement &afllegations with his testimony and
evidence. First, as the ID notes, Evans offerdd possible alternative explanations for
the behavior of the Texas Team traders (e.g., sadgQ baseload position, hurricanes
and the financial crisis) but “did not test anyhid alleged explanations against the data
in this case®* In determining to afford Evans’s testimony no gvgj it was reasonable
for the ID to consider that Evans’s testimony adféonly potential alternative
explanations, with no support, while Enforcemeriff3 witnesses provided analyses to
support their explanations for BP’s behavior. Rbo& alternative theories without
support cannot be appropriately weighed againsiritb® that are supported by data and
analyses; therefore it is reasonable to considgr snsupported alternative theories in
determining that Evans’s testimony would not besgiany weight.

179. The ID also found that Evans failed to disprovedécément Staff’s allegations in
numerous other contexts. For example, the ID fahat Evans ignored the most
fundamental change in the BP Texas Team'’s tradéhguior, the shift to net selling on
48 of the 49 days in the Investigative Perfdt Similarly, the ID noted that Evans also

336|d.

37 williams Natural Gas Co41 FERC 1 61,037, at 61,095 (1987) (quoting
Pennzoil Co. v. FER(789 F.2d 1128, 1135 (5th Cir. 1986)).

338 penasquitos Village, Inc. v. NLRB65 F.2d 1074, 1079 (9th Cir. 1977).
3395eeD at PP 62, 68 n.52.

3401d. P 62.
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did not respond to Abrantes-Metz’s conclusion BRats transport losses in the
Investigative Period were significant as compaeitist prior performanc&! The ID

also found that “Dr. Abrantes-Metz rebutted Evarsg€asonality claim” and that “Evans
is not correct and that there is no need to limrparison periods to the same months in
prior years.?*? In addition, the ID pointed to Abrantes-Metz’sttmony that Evans’s
inter-market results were biased because he indlbideiston Ship Channel bid-based
sales before Katy began trading. Abrantes-MetHitxsthat “a comparison of the
economics of trading at two locations linked bysjport is feasible only when both
markets are actively trading™®

180. The ID also cited to Abrantes-Metz’s rebuttal ofBg’s claim that the BP

Texas Team'’s early selling was similar to the eadling behavior of the next two

largest overall sellers in the Houston Ship Chanmalket in the Investigative Period.
Abrantes-Metz stated that Evans’s assertion tha B®lume of trading in the first

15 minutes lags behind” those other two sellersdexeptive because the chart that
Evans presented started the clock for the firgnitutes of trading for every day at

6:50 a.m., and only showed trades between 6:50 @¥tida.m. during the Investigative
Period, while on average the first trade occurtedt 5 a.m., or 25 minutes after the time
period used by Evans. Abrantes-Metz testified, theta result, Evans omits 74 percent of
the actual trading that occurred in the first 15iumes of each day’s volume at Houston
Ship Channel, including more than half of all firstdes. When Abrantes-Metz corrected
Evans’s testimony, her conclusions were suppoggdt, showed that BP outpaced all
other sellers during the first 15 minutes of trgdan that they dominated early selling
during this time*** These, and other, examples of Evans failing $prdve Enforcement
Staff's allegations support the ID’s determinatiorafford Evans’s testimony no weight
and the ID reasonably considered those examplesiking its determination.

181. The arguments that BP relies on to support itslehgé to the ID’s credibility
determinations focus on the experience of EvanggiBeand Abrantes-Metz. BP’s
recitation of the experience of these withesses dog provide any basis for overturning
the ID’s credibility determinations. As an initiaatter, we distinguish between the
qualifications of the witnesses for purposes oédatning the admissibility of their

341|d.

3421d. P 64.
33 1d. P 65.

3441d. P 66.
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testimony and evidence, and the ID’s determinatregarding the credibility of their
testimony and evidence. Pursuant to Rule 509eoimmission’s Rules of Practice and
Procedure, the ALJ was required to rule on the asitmility of any evidence offereff®

In doing so, Rule 509 provides that “the presidifficer should exclude from evidence
any irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly repetitiouaterial” and “[t]he presiding officer
may also exclude from evidence any other materativthe presiding officer
determines is not of the kind which would affe@senable and fair-minded persons in
the conduct of their daily affair$* In determining to allow the testimony and evidenc
provided by these witnesses, the ALJ deemed tkattlvitnesses were sufficiently
gualified to provide evidence that met the requeata of Rule 509. After this testimony
and evidence was admitted, the ALJ then determtimedredibility of that testimony and
evidence in light of the complete record in thisqeeding. The record shows that the
ALJ did not, as BP’s exceptions indicate, makerelibility determinations solely on
the basis of the witnesses’ resumes.

182. For example, BP argues that the ID relies on B&axperience in the energy
industry with leading energy firms,” in finding Bgn to be crediblé?’ However, the ID
determines Bergin to be credible and gives hisntesty weight based on the substance
of that testimony”® BP’s mischaracterization of the ID’s determinatiegarding
Bergin’s credibility and its attacks on his expage are not sufficient to overturn the
ID’s determination that Bergin’s testimony and @nde were credible in light of the
complete record.

35Seel8 C.F.R. § 385.509(b)(1) (2015) (“The presidinficef will rule on
the admissibility of any evidence offered.Sge also Energy Transfer Partners, L.P.
123 FERC {61,168, at P 17 (2008) (“[T]he ALJ nmu#t on the admissibility of
evidence pursuant to Rule 509 of the Commissionle&of Practice and Procedure.”).

34018 C.F.R. § 385.509(a).
47 BP Br. on Exceptions at 58 (citing ID at P 35 .13

383ee, e.gID at P 117 (“Bergin’s testimony is given subsianweight.”); id.
P 127 (“Bergin’s testimony is given significant \gbt.”); id. P 127 n.109 (“this Bergin
testimony is given significant weight."ig. P 164 (“Bergin’s testimony is given
significant weight.”);id. P 172 n.121 (“Bergin’s testimony is given signifitaveight
and BP’s arguments are not valid.”).
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183. We note that BP also claims that Bergin’s purstigraployment with BP impacts
his credibility, but the record shows that Bergggtified that he met a BP employee for a
lunch during which there was a discussion of pds®mployment, but that he was not
expecting a job offer and that he was not necdgsatéerested in a job offer eithé??

The ALJ heard Bergin’s testimony and observed breekhnor and concluded that his
credibility was not impeached® BP’s mischaracterization of Bergin’s pursuit of
employment with BP does not provide any basis trtown that conclusion.

184. BP argues that the ID errs in giving Abrantes-Magmificant weight because she
had no experience in natural gas markets and hasidied in any case in the United
States involving alleged manipulation of natura gapower market§® However, the
ID directly considered BP’s “challenges [to] thigwesses qualifications to testify as an
expert in gas trading” and found that she was “ntloam amply qualified to testify in this
proceeding.®*? Having determined that Abrantes-Metz’s testimany evidence was
admissible under Rule 509, the ALJ then determthatithe substance of Abrantes-
Metz's testimony and evidence deserved signifigegight in light of the record?® BP’s
attacks on Abrantes-Metz’s qualifications, which tB considered sufficient to qualify
her testimony and evidence for admission in thexeeding, provide no basis for the
Commission to reject the ALJ’s determinations rdgay the weight and credibility
afforded to Abrantes-Metz and her testimony andewe.

185. BP asserts that the ID errs in failing to consigeans’s experience and then
recites his experience and qualificatidris This does not provide any basis for the
Commission to overturn the ID’s determination relyag Evans’s credibility and the
weight given to his testimony and evidence. The Aleemed him sufficiently qualified
to provide evidence that met the requirements ¢¢ BQ9, but after admission, the ALJ
determined that his testimony should not be givenvaeight based on its substance,

99 SeeTr. 1545:20-1546:7 (Bergin).
*%ID at P 35 n.13.

>1BP Br. on Exceptions at 60.
*2ID at P 42 n.19.

33 3ee, e.gid. P 68 (“Dr. Abrantes-Metz's testimony is given ciolesable
weight.”);id. P 194 (“Dr. Abrantes-Metz testimony is given sfgmaint weight.”).

%54 BP Br. on Exceptions at 56-58.
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including the contradictions between his testimang that of other witnesses, and his
failure to disprove Enforcement Staff's allegatiam®ther contexts, neither of which BP
disputes in its exceptions. We find no reasonidagtee with this determination.

B. Scienter/Intent

1. General

a. Initial Decision

186. The ALJ found in the ID that BP and the Texas Teated with intent to
manipulate the markét> According to the ID, following the effects of Himane Ike,
which resulted in significant gains to BP’s prestixig financial positions which settled
against Houston Ship Chanrigas Dailyindex prices, BP acted with intent to manipulate
the Houston Ship Chann@las Dailyindex to continue benefitting their financial
positions. In reaching that conclusion, the ALtedmined that BP’s manipulative intent
was manifested on the November 5 recorded calljrdadable from the totality of the
evidence, including the actions taken by Comfod buaskie following that call and the
distinctive trading strategy deployed by the Tekaam during the Investigative

Period>**

187. The ALJ held that the Texas Team, and in particGlamfort, had the intent to
manipulate the Houston Ship Chan@els Dailyindex®*’ The ID established that
Comfort was an experienced trader who understoadelationship between the
Houston Ship Chann@as Dailyindex price and the Texas Team'’s financial posgio
Comfort knew he could affect the price at HoustbipShannel by increasing the
transport of natural gas into Houston Ship Chaandlwith heavy early selling at lower
prices>>® The ID also established that Comfort set up theipulative scheme by
substantially increasing the number of financiahactions for October and
November 2008 and abandoning his historically ennoase of BP’s Houston Pipeline
System transport capacity’ According to the ALJ, in coordination with the

35D atP 99.
35614, PP 99, 100.

3571d. P 99.

3584,

359
Id.
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Texas Team, Comfort engaged in heavier, earliéingedt Houston Ship Channel
supported by larger, long physical natural gas lbasepositions at Katy?° The ID
found that the record evidence demonstrates thastthe intention of the Texas Team
that their physical trades benefit their finangiasitions*®* The ALJ agreed with
Enforcement Staff that BP’s scienter may be demnatest by the conduct of any of the

traders, but that establishing Comfort’s intergtifficient %2

b. BP Exceptions

188. BP challenges all aspects of the ID’s findings ciergter. Specifically, BP argues
that the ID errs in relying on the November 5 releak call as evidence of the alleged
manipulative strategy that exposed its componerdseatablished Comfort’s guilt. BP
also takes issue with what it asserts are undeean€es from the unrecorded cell phone
conversations between Comfort and Luskie on Noverabd&P claims that the ID also
errs in crediting Abrantes-Metz and Bergin’s anialyd the trading data, in failing to
consider the numerous flaws in their testimony, ianeiterating their conclusions
without criticism or analysis. BP also claims ttie ID relies on Bergin’s speculative
conclusions as to the traders’ intentions whileetjarding without a reasoned
explanation Comfort’s and Barnhart’s denials of mgdoing. According to BP, the
numerous flaws in Abrantes-Metz’'s and Bergin’s gsialinclude their conclusion that
Comfort’s Houston Pipeline System strategy was $estently losing money.” BP
asserts that Comfort’s use of the Houston Pip&iystem transport during the
Investigative Period was consistent with the Tek@am’s use during the same months in
2006 and 2007. BP argues that the experts shawiel éccounted for the impact on
seasonality by looking at comparable months inipresyears instead of the Pre-
Investigative Period months in 2008. BP also naanst that Bergin’s data demonstrates
that the team’s trades were profitable on 42 perokthe trading days in the
Investigative Period, and given the small amouhtbeair trading losses on the other
days, the ID errs in assuming that a profit-maxingzrader would necessarily alter their
strategy’®®

360
Id.

3614,

3621d. P 107.

363 BP Br. on Exceptions at 27-29.
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C. Enforcement Staff Response

189. According to Enforcement Staff, the ID correctlyetenined, based on the
preponderance of the evidence, that the Texas Treal®rs possessed the requisite intent
to suppress the Houston Ship Charat Dailyindex to benefit their financial position.
The ID’s findings on scienter include a detailedlgsis of the record evidence, witness
testimony and an assessment of the credibilithefliexas Team traders and expert
testimony. Enforcement Staff emphasizes that Isadienter is a mental state, “an
assessment of the demeanor and credibility of w#eg by the fact finder on this (and

any other) element is entitled to substantial defee on review*

190. Enforcement Staff asserts that the November 5 decbcall indeed confirms the
existence of the alleged manipulative strategypsgd its components and established
Comfort’s guilt. Further, the inferences that tbedraws from the November 5
unrecorded cell phone conversations were sounchainith error. Enforcement Staff also
asserts that BP’s contention that the ID errs pptdg a biased comparison period that
does not take into account seasonality is dispé&lethe testimony of Abrantes-Metz and
Bergin. As the experts show, rather than seastuwliations, trading and transport
utilization decisions depend on prevailing priceesils’®® Also, BP did not provide
evidence for its claim that seasonality is whagrald its trading behavior during the
Investigative Period®® Enforcement Staff maintains that BP’s contenttwat the ID errs
in adopting Bergin’s analysis, which indicates thegt Texas Team'’s trading was
profitable on almost 50 percent of flow days, d&msis for finding intent to manipulate
misstates the implications of Bergin’s testimonytiat regard®’ According to
Enforcement Staff, the significance of measuringsB&sses was to compare the

Texas Team’s performance outside the Investigé&emod with their performance
during the Investigative Period in order to empbashat the Texas Team stopped losing
money on their use of Houston Pipeline System pamnsfter November & As
Enforcement Staff notes, BP has not refuted theestiary data confirming that there

364 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 32.

3654, at 29.

304,

3671d. at 22.

368
Id.
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was such a change in the Texas Team’s profitapiitych provides additional evidence
of a manipulative schen&’

d. Commission Determination

191. Based on the weight of the evidence, we affirmlBis holding that BP possessed
the requisite intent to manipulate the market.sta$ed in Order No. 670, a finding that a
party violated the Commission’s Anti-Manipulatiomnl® requires evidence that
fraudulent conduct, material misrepresentationmission was undertaken intentionally,
knowingly, or recklessly’® Because direct proof of scienter is rare, intenst often be
based on legitimate inferences from circumstaetigdence’’* and as the ID explains,
the “inferences are based on the common knowlefitteeanotives and intentions of
men in like circumstance$™ In determining intent, we agree with Enforcenm@tatff

that substantial deference is granted to the Alcalbee of the opportunity she has had to
assess the credibility of the witnesses in livéitesny weighed against the totality of the
evidence’”® We also agree with the ALJ that open market fatisns executed with

manipulative intent are sufficient to establisresoer®’

192. We determine that the ID’s findings on scienterfaraly grounded on the ALJ’s
careful and comprehensive consideration of therceevidence, witness testimony and
the arguments asserted by the parties regarding iBnt behind the trading strategy
implemented during the Investigative Period. Werafthat the evidence
incontrovertibly indicates that during the Inveatige Period the Texas Team
consciously deviated from a profitable physicatling strategy to embark on a
demonstrably unprofitable one, which was intenadecind did, manipulate the

Houston Ship Chann@as Dailyindex to the benefit of their financial positiofhe
Texas Team’s manipulative intent is verified in M@vember 5 recorded call and further

391d. at 23.

379 Order No. 670, FERC Stats. & Regs. 1 31,202 &50RB3.
311D at P 98 n.58 (citinggarclays 144 FERC 1 61,041 at P 75).
3721d. (citing Barclays,144 FERC { 61,041 at P 75).

373 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 7.

371D at P 98 (citingBarclays 144 FERC { 61,041 at PP 50-58).
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supported by the ID’s reasonable inferences frari\tbvember 5 unrecorded calls and
subsequent actions taken by Comfort and Luskie.

193. We agree with the ALJ that Comfort departed sigaifitly from his prior trading
strategy during the Investigative Period, and thigtis strong evidence of intent. The
evidence confirms that from the morning of Septenil@ 2008, Comfort substantially
increased his use of BP’s Houston Pipeline Systansport to move increased supply of
natural gas from Katy to Houston Ship Channel.dideso regardless of the economic
losses and the price differential between the twations®’> Comfort’s use of Houston
Pipeline System transport during the Investigafleeiod was a marked departure from
the typical economic utilization of Houston Pipeli8ystem, which was generally

used to arbitrage prices between Katy and Housiim Ghannel?”® The record also
confirms that, supported by their larger, long ptgisnatural gas baseload positions at
Katy, Comfort and the Texas Team started to exexsteategy of heavier, earlier selling
at Houston Ship Chann#l’ While implementing their particular physical tiagl

strategy, the Texas Team increased their finatreiabactions for October and November
that benefitted from the Houston Ship Channel-Hetulp spread’® The record shows
that this pattern of trading behavior continuedluhe November 5, 2008 recorded
phone call when the team’s trades came under thé&scof BP Compliancé’”® We
uphold the ID’s finding that the Texas Team'’s awsialuring the Investigative Period
constitute “suspicious timing or repetition of tsations, execution of transactions
benefiting derivative positions, and lack of |lemisite economic motive or economically
irrational conduct,” and that pursuant to the Cossigin’s holding irBarclays®*® these
are evidence of scient&t:

3751d. P 99 (citingBrian Hunter 135 FERC { 61,054, at P 88 (2011)).

37%1d. PP 99, 109 (“Luskie understood that the Texasdffis use of the Houston
Pipeline System transport capacity in this peri@d different from the typical use of
pipeline capacity to arbitrage prices between waations.”).

*71d. P 99.

378 Id.

" Ex. OE-001 at 90:8-11.

**Barclays 144 FERC 1 61,041 at P 62.

Bl D atP 113.
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194. We further affirm the ID’s determination that “toreclude market manipulation in
this case, it is sufficient to hold Comfort and Blaart accountable®® As the record
evidence indicates, Comfort, as the primary trdodethe Texas Team had the requisite
intent to manipulate the Houston Ship Charea$ Dailyindex to benefit the team’s
financial positio®> and Barnhart, as a senior trader, either “knewgegdacit consent or
turned a blind eye to the scheme because she tieddfom it.*** Comfort was
responsible for marking the value of the Houstoip &hannel market, estimating the
basis and the physical premium and the cash batznoenth values for the Texas
Team>® We agree with the ID that Comfort and the Texaarh understood the
relationship between the Houston Ship Cha@sed Dailyindex price and their financial
positions, and knew that they could affect thegoeatHouston Ship Channel by using
BP’s Houston Pipeline System capacity to transiporeased supplies from Katy into
Houston Ship Channel, coupled with a strategy avlex, early selling at lower prices at
Houston Ship Channéf® We also agree with the ID that BP has not offeréegitimate
and credible rationale for its trading pattern dgrihe Investigative Perio’

2. November 5, 2008 Recorded Phone Call

a. Initial Decision

195. The ALJ found that the November 5 recorded calveen Comfort and Luskie
confirmed the existence of a manipulative strat@gy exposed the broad outlines of its
component$®® As the record shows, Luskie first disclosed teedls Team'’s
manipulative scheme to James Parker, the headdihg for BP Corporation North
America, Inc. while at an Assessed Traders Cok3€], an offsite company trader

%21d. P 109 n. 80.

331d. PP 104-106.

¥41d. P 107.

33|d. P 107 n.77 (citing Tr. 197:16-23; 198:4-14; 198220(Lukefahr)).
301d. P 99.

387|d.

3881d. P 100.
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training and assessment coutSeThe two had a conversation in Luskie’s hotel room
during a down period in Luskie’s training exercié®sIn an effort to impress Park&,
Luskie told Parker about the Texas Team'’s physrading strategy, including the use of
Houston Pipeline System transport depending onlvenet may or may not help the
team’s financial positiof”> As both Parker and Luskie testified, Parker esged
concern with Luskie’s description of the team’sitrey strategy>> He told Luskie that it
sounded like market manipulation and suggestegéaksto his manager to make sure he
was not doing anything wrorig* Luskie was admittedly “freaked out” by Parker's
reaction®®> However, he did not go to talk with his managewit Bass, but instead,
turned to Comfort. Knowing that company policy lpitwts traders on the trading floor
from using their cell phones, Luskie called Comfota recorded telephone Iiff8.

196. As the transcript of that call shows, in tellingr@fort about his conversation with
Parker, Luskie reveals the existence and key elenwdithe Texas Team’s manipulative
scheme:

So | was telling him how we, you know, what we doéng at
Ship Channel this month . . . what kind of what e and
strategy and what not. And | was telling him abour
Houston Pipeline System transport.

39d. (citing Ex. OE-219 at 52:17-19 (Parker Dep. Tr.)).
3901d. P 108 n.78 (citing Tr. 259:8-260:4 (Luskie)).

3911d. P 100 n.64 (citing Tr. 257:15-258:7; 330:6-13 (kie}, Ex. OE 219 at
18:14-23 (Parker Dep. Tr.)).

3921d. P 100 (citing Ex. OE-162 at 3:5-15); n.64 (citiBg. OE-016 (recording));
id. P 110 (citing Ex. OE-219 at 53:16-18).

393|d. P 110 (citing Ex. OE-219 at 53:12-18); n.82 (citing Ex. OE-219 at
52:23-53:1; 54:15-19; Tr. 263:4-6, 265:12-17 (L@agki

3941d. (citing Ex. BP-016 at 7:13-14).
39°1d. P 100 & n.64 (citing Ex. BP-016 at 7:8-9; Tr. 28B:2267:1 (Luskie)).

3% 1d. P 100.
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And the way | explained it was not very good. Anchme
off sounding like we either transport or don't tsaort solely
on the — kind of how we think it's going to affdtie index
and help our paper positiGH’.

Thus, according to the ALJ, Luskie confirmed (19 #xistence of the Houston Ship
Channel strategy (“So, | was telling him how wey ymow, what we are doing at Ship
Channel this month . . . what kind of we do andtstgy and what not . . . ”); (2) the use
of the Houston Pipeline System transport basedoanitaffects the index (“And | was
telling him about our Houston Pipeline System tpams And the way | explained it was
not very good.”); and (3) the existence of a baémgfifinancial position (“And | came off
sounding like we either transport or don’t tran$gotely on the — kind of how we think
it's going to affect the index and help our papesifion.”) 3%

197. The ALJ found that the November 5 recorded cadvisience of Comfort’s

guilt.*® According to her assessment, Comfort was claarbomfortable with the
conversation. Following the summary of what hd ®arker, Luskie asked Comfort,
“how would you explain our dealings on Houston RipeSystem and with our paper
position that don’t make it sound like we’re .manipulating the index**® Not only did
Comfort fail to provide an economically rationapéanation, the ALJ found his angry
tone, extended pauses, interruptions and non-regfmress on the November 5 recorded
call all indicative of guilt®* As discussed below with respect to the traders’
consciousness of guilt, the ID also determined ttr@fNovember 5 unrecorded calls
between Comfort and Luskie were part of an effotdnceal the Texas Team’s scheme

and thus, further evidence of Comfort’s guilt antent?*?

397|d. P 103 (citing Ex. OE 162)d. P 101 n.67 (citing Tr. 262:5-15 (Luskie)
(Luskie testified that a paper position is the sama financial position which can consist
of financial products and physical products)).

398 |d. P 103 (citing Exs. OE-016; OE-162 at 3:5-7; 8-18:15).
3991d. P 104.

40014, P 101 (citing Ex. OE 162 at 3:18-23).

l1d. P 104.

40214, P 106.



Docket Nos. IN13-15-000 and IN13-15-001 -91 -

b. BP Exceptions

198. On exceptions, BP contends that the ID’s findingsr@anipulative intent are
erroneously based on the November 5 recordedmalba undue inferences drawn from
the two November 5 unrecorded telephone calls @ mfort and Luskié?®
Specifically, BP asserts that the November 5 remichll undermines rather than
supports the ID’s findings of manipulative intemchuse Luskie did not reference each
element of the trading scheme, such as net selittqg bids, and early trading, that the
ID concludes was executed by the Texas Team, ddnalprovide details of the changes
in the team’s next-day trading stratey.

199. BP also argues that the ID errs in overlookingdtwetext of the November 5
recorded calf’® They maintain that Luskie’s statements on thernakt be interpreted

in light of what the Texas Team observed on Oct83e2008. BP claims that late in the
trading session that day the team detected aplanty lifting a high volume of offers that
increased th&as Dailyaverage price by approximately ten céfitsAccording to BP,

the Texas Team suspected that the trades weréeampato manipulate the index. BP
contends that the basis for Luskie’s call to Coinfaas to alert Comfort that he had
incorrectly explained the Texas Team'’s tradingtegw to Parker in a way that made the
Texas Team'’s strategy sound like the actions talethat third party on October 31,
2008. Thus, claims BP, the ID’s intent finding dweks Luskie’s statement that he had
incorrectly described the team’s trading strategRdrker and his acknowledgement that
he had misattributed the third party’s trades o Texas Tearff’

200. BP also claims that the ID errs by ignoring a comgeraneous communication
that throws into doubt what Luskie actually told#a*°®® On November 7, 2008,
Calvin Schlenker, the head of BP’s South Gas Tadesk at the time, spoke with

“03Bp Br. on Exceptions at 22, 24-25.

“9*1d. at 23-24.

“91d. at 22-23.

%% 1d. at 23 n.118 (citing Tr. 365:20-25 (Luskie)).

407d. at 23-24.

408
Id.
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Parker on a recorded call about Parker’s conversatith Luskie at ATC'®® BP claims
that according to the transcript of the call, Patk#s Schlenker that Luskie told him
about turning offransport, not using it to benefit a cash-settiedricial positiort-°
Turning off transport, BP asserts, would be theosfip of what Enforcement Staff

contends the manipulative scheme entaitéd.

C. Enforcement Staff Response

201. Enforcement Staff contends that BP’s exceptiorieseédD’s determination on
scienter spring from their erroneous assertiontttetD’s findings were based entirely
on the November 5 recorded call. According to Ecément Staff, although the
November 5 recorded call is highly probative oemtt the ID’s findings are foremost
based on the recognition that Comfort and the T@&easn were sophisticated traders
who understood that their financial position at Btom Ship Channel would benefit from
a trading strategy characterized by heavy earlingeh the wake of Hurricane K82

The ID’s determination is also based on the redamnthat the only explanation for
Comfort’s decision to increase his Katy baseload!farancial positions for October and
November and utilize Houston Pipeline System trartSp an uneconomic manner was
to manipulate th&as Dailyindex for the benefit of his financial positioH.

202. With respect to the argument that the Novembec6rded call undermines rather
than supports a finding of intent because the uaredlements of Enforcement Staff’s
alleged trading scheme are not referenced, EnfarneBtaff asserts that BP ignores the
ID’s holding that the call was an “outline of theheme’s key components” and not
credited as a full account of the stratéljyLikewise, Enforcement Staff asserts that
BP’s argument that the call is not evidence offteas Team’s wrongdoing because the
traders did not detail the changes to their tradingtegy ignores the ID’s finding that

‘1D at P 111 n.83.

“9Bp Br. on Exceptions at 23 n.123 (citing Ex. B®-@2 4).
“11d. at 23.

12 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 33.

413|d.

4141d. at 34.
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Comfort “shut-down” Luskie’s effort to ask followpuguestions and otherwise continue
the conversatiof:>

203. Further, Enforcement Staff argues that Luskie’sn&fce on the November 5
recorded call to a third party’s potentially maraiive conduct and his claim that he
inaccurately described the trading strategy to &aake not relevarit® That is because
the ID’s findings on scienter “rest on Comfort'sdest the conversation — specifically
Comfort’s angry demeanor, multiple interruptiond_akkie’s statements and questions,
long pauses, non-responsive statements, and udlynais inability to provide a non-
manipulative explanation ¢fis own trading’*'” which the ID assessed in the context of
Comfort’s “changed trading patterns and his otlatioas after the recorded caff:®

204. Enforcement Staff contends that regardless of whskie did or did not
specifically say on the November 5 recorded caltpdParker at ATC>® the finding that
Luskie’s claims of error are not credible is soyrathsed on the ID’s finding that Luskie
was a competent trader who had relevant experindang with the team and was fully
capable of understanding, and did understand, ¢xasTTeam strated$® With respect
to BP’s argument that there is a lack of clarity@awhat Luskie actually told Parker at
ATC, Enforcement Staff argues that this argumeat‘i®d herring*** and because the
November 5 recorded call corroborates the tradatg,dexactly what Luskie told Parker
is irrelevant to the question of whether BP engagedarket manipulation**? On
November 3, 2008, a phone call was recorded inlwtiie Texas Team discussed how
dependent their monthly profits were on HoustorpStihannel weakening against other

415
Id.

014, at 36.
“71d. at 35 & n.134.
“81d. at 36.
“91d. at 35.
4201d. at 36.

4211d. at 35 & n.134.

422|d.
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locations. This confirms that Luskie understoog Texas Team’s positions and trading
activities during the Investigative Peritd.

d. Commission Determination

205. We determine that the ALJ conducted a detailednagetthodical review of the
November 5 recorded call, including the context tinedcircumstances surrounding the
conversatiot?* and affirm the ID’s conclusion that the call sugpa finding of
manipulative intent and guilt on the part of Comfamd the Texas Team. We agree with
the ID’s finding that on the November 5 recordelll lcaskie exposed the existence of a
distinct trading strategy deployed by the TexasiTdaring the Investigative Period and
the primary components of that schelffeWe also agree with the ID that Comfort's
reaction to Luskie’s statements and his failurprtavide a satisfactory answer to
Luskie’s question regarding the propriety of thekd®Team'’s trading strategy on the

call, or elsewhere in the record, is probative ofrort’s guilt*?°

206. We reject BP’s argument that the November 5 recboddl undermines rather
than supports the ID’s findings on intent. Recagny that Luskie may not have
mentioned every element of the manipulative stsatkmes not refute the ID’s finding
that Luskie disclosed the existence and broad cositof that strategy. As Enforcement
Staff explains, the call offered an outline of #tetegy that was sufficient to confirm the
trading data analysis conducted by Abrantes-MetizBergin. As discussed herein, their
testimony shows that Luskie accurately describecethistence of a specific strategy
involving BP’s capacity on Houston Pipeline Systama revealed that the Texas Team
was executing unprofitable physical trades in otdaffect the Houston Ship Channel
Gas Dailyindex in a manner that would benefit the teamiarficial position.

207. We concur with the ID’s finding that Comfort’s rdimn to Luskie’s remarks on
the November 5 recorded call reveals manipulatitent. Comfort was fully aware that
the call was being recordéd. It is reasonable to infer that because of thahfoa was

231D at P 108 n.79 (citing Exs. OE-021; OE-163 (swnipt));id. P 121 (citing
Exs. OE-021 (recorded call); OE-163 (transcript);6l70:21-672:14 (Luskie)).

4241d. P 99.
“2%1d. P 103 (citing Exs. OE-016; OE-162 at 3:3:5-7; 83013-15).
426 1d. PP 99, 104, 105.

4271d. P 102 n.69.
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anxious. It explains his long awkward pauses apeated attempts to interrupt Luskie’s
line of inquiry*?® We agree with the ID that Comfort seems in ayhtorend the call,
which is confirmed by Comfort’s testimony that hasy*most certainly not comfortable
with Clayton’s call . . . at that point in time,hd that he “wanted that to be off a recorded
line.”*?° As the transcript shows, Comfort tries to intptrbuskie while he is in the
process of asking Comfort for a rational explamatbthe Texas Team’s trading strategy
that does not “sound like” manipulatié#. Further, we agree with the ID that Comfort’s
failure to respond credibly and cogently to Luskiguestion on the call or anywhere in

the record evidence is probative evidence of Corsfartent and guilt>!

208. We reject BP’s argument that the ALJ overlookeddbmetext of the November 5
recorded calf>* The ID took the events of October 31 into consitien but concluded
that “Luskie’s contention that the tape is a misahgerization is not credibl&®

precisely in part because Luskie had participatatié discussion with Comfort and
Barnhart regarding the third party’s potentiallynipaulative trade§>* As the ALJ states,
the Texas Team recognized that the third partyemasged in possible manipulation of
the physical market. They speculated that theypagy have an opposite financial
position that benefitted from an increase in@wes Dailyindex™**®> Thus, it is reasonable
for the ALJ to infer from his participation in thednversation that Luskie could
recognize the components of a physical-for-findnoiarket manipulation scheme. Itis
not credible that Luskie would have been incapableccurately articulating the Texas
Team’s strategy for Parker, or that he somehowtinisated to the Texas Team the
manipulative trades of that third party.

“28|d. P 102; Ex. OE-162.

“2%ID at P 102 n.69 (citing Tr. 283:18-284:7; 1206:{Comfort)).
*%1d. P 104; Ex. OE-162 (transcript).

“*1D at P 102 & n.68.

**2BP Br. on Exceptions at 22-23.

“¥ID at P 108.

4341d. (citing Tr. 368:2-371:13 (Luskie)).

435|d.
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209. Further, it is not clear from the November 5 reeardall or the record evidence
whether Luskie actually believed he had incorredigcribed the Texas Team'’s trading
to Parker or was merely trying to provide coverlonself on a call he knew was being
recorded"*® Regardless, Comfort’s reaction to Luskie’s staters and Comfort's failure
to provide a satisfactory answer to Luskie’s questegarding the propriety of the
Texas Team'’s trading strategy on the call indicadamipulative intent. Luskie was

an intelligent and competent trader and had releegperience working with the

Texas Tean®’ Luskie also knew that the use of Houston Pipefipstem capacity
during the relevant period was a departure frontypeal use to arbitrage prices
between Katy and Houston Ship Chariti&lWe also agree with the ALJ that based on
the November 3, 2008 recorded phone call Luskieetsidod the Texas Team’s positions
and trading activities during the Investigativeife*

210. The record evidence shows that Luskie not only tsided the components

and purpose of the Texas Team'’s trading stratagyattually helped execute it. In
August 2008 and again for three days in Octobeskleutraded the team’s Houston Ship
Channel-Katy position when Comfort was out of tffice.**® In August, before the
Investigative Period, Luskie generated positivehaasd transport P&L. In October,
however, Luskie’s trades were consistent with thgab Team’s manipulative trading
behavior; he lost money on his transport from Kati#ouston Ship Channel and sold
early at Houston Ship Chanriét. Luskie told Parker he liked being allowed to &#ad
Comfort’s Houston Ship Channel and Katy positiomew Comfort was out of the
office.**?> We do not find it credible that Luskie’s consistg with the Texas Team’s

3¢|d. P 100 n.65 (citing Tr. 287:4-15 (Luskie)).
“371d. P 108.
4381d. P 100.

*391d. P 108 n.79 (citing Exs. OE-021; OE-163 (transy)jpd. at P 121 (citing
Exs. OE-021 (recorded call); OE-163 (transcript);6l70:21-672:14 (Luskie)).

4401d. P 108 (citing Tr. 450:16-25; 488:18-22 (Luskie)).

“11d. P 109 (citing Ex. OE-239 (Luskie’s Oct. 16, 20@&nday fixed prices
trades on ICE); Ex. OE-236 (Luskie’s Oct. 17, 20@8&t-day fixed price trades on ICE);
Tr. 566:22-567:12 (Luskie)).

421D at P 100 n.64 (citing Tr. 260:5-23 (Luskie)).
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trading strategy before and during the InvestigaReriod was a mere coincidence and
thus, agree with the ID’s determination that Luskteades on behalf of Comfort
corroborate that Luskie understood the componarmdoajectives of the manipulative
scheme, and that having helped execute the trad@stober, he was a party to the
manipulation’*®

211. We uphold the ID’s conclusion that BP’s argumeat thuskie did not accurately
describe the alleged scheme to Parker is conteatliny the evidence. Parker stated in
his deposition that the “gist” of what Luskie s&chim at ATC was that he “could or
would make a decision not to flow his transpoit dould benefit his cash positiof**
Furthermore, Parker testified that he was concewitdwhat Luskie told him about the
Texas Team'’s trading and transport activities beeatusounded as if they were trading
their physical positions for the benefit of themancial positions, which could be market
manipulation’*> Although what Luskie specifically told Parker miag disputed, it
alarmed him enough to advise Luskie to speak tonaisager to make sure he was not
doing anything wrond?® As Parker stated, he was “really surprised” aatmtuskie told
him and that he “thought that either he was jughty to show how clever he could be
somehow in a naive, misguided way or that he hatrthere was actually a problefi”
We also agree with Enforcement Staff that “exawathat Luskie told Parker is irrelevant
to the question of whether BP engaged in marketpnéation.™*®

212. We fully support the ID’s decision to grant subsinveight to Bergin’s
testimony*® and thus, reject BP’s argument that the ID emitsiintent findings because
it relied on Enforcement Staff's “flawed” tradingalysis**° Based on their analysis,

*“31d. P 109.

441d. P 111 n.83 (citing Ex-OE-219 at 53:16-22).

“31d. P 110 (citing Ex. OE-219 at 53:12-13 (Parker D&p)).
48 1d. (citing Ex. BP-016 at 7:13-14 (Luskie)).

471d. P 110 n.82 (citing Ex. OE-219 at 54:15-19; Tr. 268, 265:12-17
(Luskie)).

448 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 334.
“9ID at P 117.

*>0BP Br. on Exceptions at 24.
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Luskie accurately provided the broad outlines ef Tlexas Team’s manipulative scheme
during the Investigative Period on the Novembegdorded calf>* We agree with

Bergin that the recorded call in turn confirms tthet team’s trading behavior during the
Investigative Period was intentiorfaf.

213. As discussed above in section 1.D, following Huarie Ike, which made landfall
on September 13, 2008, prices at Houston Ship Ghaleclined sharply relative to
Henry Hub*® The decline made the Texas Team’s pre-existingském Ship Channel-
Henry Hub spread positions very valuabte Starting on September 18, 2008, the
evidence shows that there was a decided shifteiTéxas Team'’s physical trading
pattern®® In 2008 before the Investigative Period, the Bekaam was generally a net
buyer at Houston Ship Channel and a net selleattK® It utilized BP’s Houston
Pipeline System transport capacity to arbitragegsrbetween the two locatiofts.

During the Investigative Period, however, the tdmbame a net buyer at Katy, increased
the use of BP’s Houston Pipeline System trans@apécity to deliver gas from Katy for
sale at Houston Ship Channel, and started sellagyhand early next-day gas at
Houston Ship Channé®® We agree with the ID that the preponderance ettlidence
confirms that the intended purpose of the teamis pleysical trading behavior was to
suppress the Houston Ship Chan@ak Dailyindex in order to benefit the Texas Team’s
Houston Ship Channel-Henry Hub spread positfohs.

1D at PP 114, 118.

52 Ex. OE-001 at 101:7-14.

*53|D at P 115 (citing Ex. OE-001 at 68:13-19).
*41d. P 115 n.88.

°|d. P 115; Ex. OE-001 at 104:13-15.

4% Ex. OE-001 at 53.

*71d. at 88; 115 n.15.

481D at P 99.

459|d.
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214. We also support the ID’s determination, based oraAtes-Metz’s and Bergin’'s
testimony, that the Texas Team possessed the iteguient to manipulat®® The team
knew that their Houston Ship Channel-Henry Hub agneositions had become very
profitable as a result of Hurricane I€&. At the end of trading on September 12 for flow
days September 13 to 15, the Texas Team actuaipedfit of $812,040, making the
total mark-to-market value of the spread to $1,083.°? By the end of trading day on
September 16, the total mark-to-market value ofpibstion had increased to
$3,499,425%

215. Despite the jump in the value of their spread parss, the Texas Team realized
only $1,618,585 of the gains that followed Hurriedke?®* Barnhart testified that on
September 17, 2008, she received an offer to doté contracts of their 17.5 contracts
per day spread position in a balance of month triadieclosed out only 1 contrafe.

As Barnhart admitted, she lost the opportunitymoniediately lock in a substantial
portion of the value realized after Hurricane fRe As the 1D states, the ability of the
Texas Team to realize the value on the remainitanba of their spread positions would
be determined by the Houston Ship Channel-Henry $jfuibad for the balance of
Septembef®’ Bergin determined that in late-September, fohezmt that the

Texas Team could slow the narrowing of the sprtaad; spread value would

46014, p 114.

61 Ex. OE-001 at 69:3-4; 70:3-8; ID at P 115 n.88irfgi Tr. 682:5-684:21
(Luskie); Ex. OE-161 at 47:13-48:3 (Bergin Reb.tT)eEx. OE-021 (Nov. 3 call);
Ex. OE-163 (transcript); Tr. 671:24-672:20 (Luskie)

62 Ex. OE-001 at 69:5-8.

31d. at 69:9-10.

4%41D at P 115 n.88 (citing Ex. OE-001 at 69:1-14).
%> Ex. OE-001 at 70:20-71:5.

%% D at P 115 (citing Tr. 1034:25-1035:7 (Barnhak. OE-001 at 70:9-71:5
(description of lost opportunity)).

7D at P 115 n.91 (citing Ex. OE-001 at 69:1-16;12116).
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retain $19,800°® The Texas Team had an incentive to manipulatéitheston Ship
ChannelGas Dailyindex.

216. As Bergin testified, the Texas Team’s physicalfiaencial manipulation

scheme was plausible because even with the neteggraf selling heavy and early at
Houston Ship Channel, the Texas Team expectedsomil losses on physical fixed-
price trading’®® Before the Investigative Period in 2008, the téashno more than
$10,000 on their fixed-priced trades, with a latgese day loss of $12,864 The
likelihood of losing $19,800 per day on their plogditrade was loW’* As Bergin stated,
“[i]n evaluating the Texas Team traders’ intentnitkes more sense to think in terms of
the probabilities of an upside versus a downsidalt&*’? As it turned out, the team
made more than $1.5 million in profit from Septemb@ to the end of the month due to
the continuing wide spread between Houston Shim@élaand Henry Hub, but lost only
about $34,000 on their next-day physical tradifig.

217. According to Bergin, Luskie’s references on the dlober 5 recorded call to the
components of the Texas Team'’s trading strategyborate that the team’s trading
behavior during the Investigative Period was iriteral.*”* In addition, Bergin's
conclusions as to intent are squarely rooted inmat inferences derived from his and
Abrantes-Metz’s analysis of the Texas Team’s trgdiata. First, Bergin demonstrated
that the Texas Team’s physical trading in the Itigaive Period shifted to being
consistently unprofitabl&> During the January-August 2008 period before the
Investigative Period, the team had consistent raditg on its physical gas trading,

%8|d. P 116 (citing Ex. OE-001 at 110:13-16).
*991d. (citing Ex. OE-001 at 110:4-12).
47%1d. P 117 n.92 (citing Ex. OE-001 at 103, Figure 12;6I77:19-25 (Luskie)).

*"11d. (citing Tr. 677:19-25 (Luskie); Ex. OE-001 at 1101; Tr. 210:7-21
(Lukefahr)).

472|1d. P 116 (citing Ex. OE-001 at 110:4-22).
473|d. P 118 (citing Ex. OE-001 at 72:14-18; 78:14-20).
4" Ex. OE-001 at 101:7-14; 102:8-15.

4751d. at 101:20-102:8.
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averaging $75,475 per moritf. By contrast, during the Investigative Period oiphte
November 5 phone call, the Texas Team had netdassés physical gas trading. These
net losses were $34,372 during September 19’%%51,567 during OctobeY? and
$15,484 during November 1?5’ Moreover, the team lost money on their trades on
67 percent of the flow days during the InvestigafReriod whereas prior to the
Investigative Period, they lost money on only 2&pat of the flow day&°® As

discussed in section IV.A above addressing the fibdings regarding manipulative
conduct, Bergin’s analysis shows that on days wthere were losses there was also a
change in the scale of those losses. Before thestigative Period, the team’s average
one-day losses were $2,878, with the largest ogdeda of $12,864. During the
Investigative Period, the daily loss averaged $62td the largest single day loss was
$53,540%%" As Bergin explained, the losses the Texas Teataisied during the
Investigative Period are all the more suspect gitiaha next-day gas trader with a
baseload position generally has the option of ingitheir losses by selling more of their
beginning-of-day daily gas at fixed-price, whicle thexas Team apparently did not'fo.
Also suspect is the fact that the Texas Team coatirio trade profitably at Katy during
the same perio® Based on his analysis, Bergin concluded thaTtheas Team'’s shift
to trading losses was intentional.

218. Second, Bergin establishes intent by connectingitipeofitability of the
Texas Team'’s trading behavior during the InvesitigaPeriod to the changes in the
team’s trading strategy in the Investigative Petloat were likely to increase the team’s

478 1d. at 102:19-20.

“"7|d. at 61:18. Excluding the anomalous trading dayeygft&mber 19, BP had a
net gain of $19,168 during this period.

*781d. at 86:6.
*1d. at 90:5.
8014, at 103:1-7.
*11d. at 103:8-15.
*21d. at 104:1-4.

4831d. at 104:4-6.
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impact on the Houston Ship ChanfBs Dailyindex?** As Bergin stated, he and

Abrantes-Metz observed a material change in tha3@&eam’s physical trading and
utilization of the Houston Pipeline System transfiarm September 18, 200%. The

team augmented their net long baseload positibtast, increased their use of the
Houston Pipeline System transport for delivery atyKgas to Houston Ship Channel, and
increased their next-day fixed-priced sales at kwuShip Channéf® According to
Bergin, Abrantes-Metz also showed that the teaifteshio trading heavily and early at
Houston Ship Channel and to more uneconomic trefiinBergin concluded that “the
Texas Team traders must have known that these etldraging patterns were likely to
suppress prices at Houston Ship Channel and intipa¢iouston Ship Channélas

Daily index.”® We agree.

219. As Bergin explained, the inference of intent idifiesd because, according to basic
economic principles known to all traders, incregsopply, all other conditions being
equal, will depress pricé®’ The evidence indicates that, using supply thea¥&eam
transported from Katy to Houston Ship Channel, theye selling approximately

three and a half times more gas at Houston Shim@&aluring the Investigative Period
than earlier in 2008° We agree with Bergin that the team must have knthat they
were adding supply to the Houston Ship Channel etatkwith an attendant effect on
prices. Also, as Bergin notes, Abrantes-Metzfiestithat during the Investigative
Period the Texas Team traded larger volumes dtne@arliest minutes of the trading
session at Houston Ship Channel when the bid-asladpas generally the widest and
the price impact of trades would be greater thades later in the sessié. According

841d. at 102:5-7.
*%°1d. at 104:13-15.
*1d. at 104:15-17.
*71d. at 104:19-22.
*81d. at 105:4-5.
*891d. at 105: 6-8.
*991d. at 105:8-10.
*11d. at 105:10-11.

492|d. at 105:12-106:4.
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to Abrantes-Metz, the Texas Team was almost hal&#il side of the market in the first
few minutes of trading at Houston Ship Charfii&lwWe agree with Bergin that “it is
reasonable to infer that Comfort, as an experietreetbr, would have been aware that
during early trading the bid-ask spread is gengraitier than the rest of the trading
day.”** Based on that awareness, it is also reasonabiéetathat Comfort traded
heavily in the earliest minutes of the trading gessvith the intent of having the greatest
possible impact on prices. Bergin’s inference thatTexas Team knew that their new
trading behavior would suppress prices is furthamanted because, as he testified,
during the Investigative Period the team’s next-fitegd-price trading at Houston Ship
Channel was executed almost entirely on f&EThis is significant because trading on
ICE provides greater transparency to the marké#iefTexas Team'’s fixed-price selling
at Houston Ship Channel and unlike off-ICE tradles,prices and quantities of
transactions are instantly disseminated in the atdtk As Bergin stated, natural gas
traders pay attention to aggressive market behawidrcertain selling patterns such as
those deployed by the Texas Team at Houston Shami@. Such behavior may guide
traders’ decisions or at least influence them &ssess their view/s’

220. Bergin’s conclusion as to intent is further basadwidence of coordinated
decisions in the physical and financial market thatTexas Team took in order to
continue their manipulative scheme from Septemtter November.Bergin stated that

the team’s decision to increase their exposurbaddouston Ship Chann@las Daily

index in late September through October, which weeemost unprofitable physical
trading he observed at Houston Ship Channel, imoagindication that the Texas Team
believed that they were succeeding in suppressougtén Ship Channel prices to the
benefit of their financial positiof?® As the ID stated, Comfort must have been aware of
the losses the Texas Team sustained since theveeghysical P&L was calculated

daily and shown on the Katy Ship Sheets, which @omfsed during each cash

931d. at 106:4-5.
4941d. at 106:5-8.

9 |d. at 106:21-107:1.
4%%1d. at 107:1-5.
*971d. at 106:9-20.

4% |d. at 107:9-108:15.
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sessiorf®® We agree with Bergin’s testimony that there rabé a “conscious reasof
to continue implementing an unprofitable tradingtggy and “that the most likely
explanation is found in the Texas Team'’s decismim¢rease their exposure to the
Houston Ship Chann&as Dailyindex in October, and again for Novembg¥.”

221. As Bergin testified, at the time of Hurricane Ikedahroughout the Investigative
Period, the Texas Team held a short Houston Sham@# to Henry Hub spread position
tied to the Houston Ship Chanr@hs Dailyindex>®? That index was directly affected by
the team’s next-day fixed-price trades at Houstoip £hannef®® Bergin’s analysis
shows that primarily in September bidweek, the Bekaam increased their Katy and
Houston Ship Channel net long position for Octdliemd increased their Houston Ship
Channel-Henry Hub swing spread position of appratety 3 contracts per day to 7.8
contracts per day by October®. With the spread positions in place, the TexasiTea

991D at P 119 (citing Tr. 1285:3-7 (Comfort); Ex. €@&1 at 29:7-14 (Abrantes-
Metz); Tr. 1419:8-15 (Comfort); Ex. OE-013 (KatyipiSheets); Ex. OE-014 at 6, 12-13
(explanation of Katy Ship Sheets); OE-001 at 45054, 59:10-60:2; 158:4-23
(Bergin)).

"0 Ex. OE-001at 108:1.
%11d. at 108:2-4.

*921d. at 108:4-7.

*931d. at 108:7-10.

*04|d. at 83:6-84:6. Bidweek consists of the last fialing days of the month
when fixed-price and physical basis natural gagesdor next-month delivery are most
often executed, and those transactions made doidiwgeek are included in the volume-
weighted average price to determine the next-mphysical index for a given trading
location. The resulting index prices are oftenduse the benchmark price in next-month
natural gas transactionSee, e.g., icat 24.6-9.

°%1d. at 81:11-82:4. As Bergin testified, a “swing swaa derivative product in
which the buyer ‘pays’ a fixed, mutually agreed-noice to the seller, and ‘receives’
the PlattsGas Dailyindex price for a particular location (such as fidimn Ship
Channel]) each day. Conversely, the seller okthiag swap ‘receives’ a fixed price and
‘pays’ theGas Dailyindex price for the location each day. The bwfea swing swap
will profit if the Gas Dailyprices increase relative to the fixed price, wkile seller will
profit if the relevantGas Dailyprices decrease relative to the fixed price. §vewaps

(continued...)
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became a net seller of next-day fixed-price gasaatston Ship Channel on all but one
day in October®® As was the case in September, the sales at HoGiip Channel were
driven by substantial sales of Katy gas very e@riye trading window”’ enabled by the
increased use of Houston Pipeline System trans{ofthe Texas Team continued their
physical trading pattern throughout October despittaining losses on 74 percent of the
days in Octobe?® Their net physical P&L loss was $59,012 for thenih >°

222. Despite the negative P&L that the Texas Team teasiaw on their Houston Ship
Channel physical trading and transport during Oetpthe Texas Team built a larger net
long Katy baseload position for Novembéand a coordinated financial short position at
Houston Ship Channet? While the Texas Team’s September and Octobetdmbe
positions were partially built earlier in 2008, yhiauilt their November positions, from
less than three to over twenty contracts per dayst entirely during October bidweek
even after having sustained three weeks of a harggative October P&F'® The team
continued their late September and October trapiaitern of heavy and early selling and
suffered a loss of $15,484 on their physical trgdimNovember until the November 5
recorded phone cait?

are typically traded in lieu of index swaps once HRERC index price for a location
begins to settle during bidweekld. at 28:17-29:2.

>%|d. at 85:4-5.
71d. at 85:8-86:2.
*%1d. at 85:5-7.
*91d. at 86:10-17.
*101d. at 86:4-9.
>111d. at 88:7-8.
>121d. at 92:11-93:9.
*131d. at 89:3-9.

°141d. at 90:5.
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223. We agree with Bergin that barring some clear newkatanformation, a profit-
maximizing trader would not have continued a styatdiat was clearly not profitabt&
We agree with the ID that the traders were seemiinglifferent to their next-day
physical P&L on their Houston Ship Channel traditfigAs the ID noted, on the
November 3 recorded call, “no mention was madé&efahysical cash P&L at Houston
Ship Channel on that day, even though cash haddiemmy and the Texas Team had
been a large fixed-price selle:” Also, during the first eight and half months 608,

the Texas Team turned off their transportation 8 df 261 flows days, or 70 percent of
the time>*® Evidently both Comfort and Luskie understood¢bacept of unwinding
transport and yet chose not to do so during thedtigative Period® If the Texas Team
wanted to optimize their transportation they wadudde attempted to unwind as much of
their transportation as possible when prices ay Magre higher than Houston Ship
Channel and sell Katy gas and buy Houston Ship @#iagas, as they did before the
Investigative Period*

224. The manipulative intent of the Texas Team is alsardrom its trading behavior
considered in light of its P&L. Before the Invegtiive Period, Comfort was able to
consistently generate profits on both his nextplaysical trading at Houston Ship
Channel and his use of Houston Pipeline Systenspiam capacity?* During the
Investigative Period, Comfort and the Texas Teaandbned their profitable physical
trading strategy for one that was unprofitable. cBytrast, the evidence shows that once
the team’s trading came under the scrutiny of BBh@l@nce they once again started to
generate profits from physical trading. In fabg Texas Team’s physical trading

>1°|d. at 88:11-14.
181D at P 123 (citing Tr. 678:15-18 (Luskie)).

>171d. (citing Tr. 675:4-18 (Luskie); Ex. OE-021 (Novemigecall); OE-163
(transcript)).

>181d. P 127 (citing Ex. OE-161 at 77:7-78:2, Figure 2).
>191d. (citing Tr. 384:8-385:11 (Luskie); Ex. OE-243; T02:2-23 (Comfort)).
>20|d. (citing Ex. OE-161 at 77:7-78:2, Figure 2).

*21|d. P 120 (citing Ex. OE-001 at 102:16-22).
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remained profitable for the remainder of Novemigenerating a profit of $54,794 on
their net physical P&L and an overall net profith®9,3092%

225. As discussed above, the CommissioBarclaysfound that the requisite scienter
for a finding of manipulation can be supported byspicious timing or repetition of
transactions, execution of transactions benefiiegvative positions, and lack of
legitimate economic motive or economically irratdboonduct.’” The record evidence
shows that these elements were part of the Texam$drading strategy during the
Investigative Period. We agree with the ID’s caisebn that the Texas Team’s monthly
positions and trading activity were intentionalsaict further their manipulative
scheme&?* We support Abrantes-Metz’s conclusion as to #hsential statistical
impossibility” that the confluence of the factotsserved is due to anything else but
manipulatior?®

226. In light of Bergin’s testimony and the weight o&thecord evidence, we support
the ID’s finding that the November 5 recorded calhfirms that Luskie accurately
described the Texas Team’s manipulative strategyttzat Comfort had the intent to
manipulate the Houston Ship Chan@els Dailyindex in order to benefit the Texas
Team’s financial position¥° Enforcement Staff is correct that the ID’s infece of

BP’s intent from the November 5 recorded call islmassed on what Luskie specifically
said or did not say to Comfort, but rests on Coftrgdend of the conversatiorr We
agree that Comfort’s reaction to Luskie’s call covdmber 5 shows guitt® After

Luskie reiterated what he told Parker, Luskie agRethfort for a non-manipulative
explanation for the Texas Team'’s trad&sAs the ID noted, on Comfort's side there are

22 Ex. OE-001 at 90:8-11.
°ZBarclays 144 FERC 1 61,041 at P 62.
241D at P 123.

*%1d. P 126 (citing Tr. 1915:13-24; 1911:3-5 (Abrantestk); Ex. OE-211 at 20,
22-25 (Tables 1.A, 1.B, 2 and 3)).

°2%|d. P 99.
>2T Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 38n@ ID at P 104).
2D at P 99.

529 Ex. OE-162.
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long awkward pauses between statements and intemsapntil he hesitatingly responds
with respect to Luskie’s question that most oftilee “we ship economically>® As
Luskie testified, he terminated the call becauseehézed that Comfort did not want to
have the conversation on a recorded fitteComfort confirmed that he was indeed
uncomfortable and wanted to terminate the é4lIt was reasonable for the ALJ to infer
that Comfort was trying to stop Luskie from revaeglany further incriminating
information on a call that he knew was being reedrd®

227. Nothing in the record indicates that Comfort evervimled a rational explanation
for his trades during the Investigative Peridt At the hearing, Luskie testified that
Comfort never answered his question as to why WieaTexas Team was doing was not
manipulation. He admitted that Comfort, who hectiéged as never lost for words when
asked about what he was doing as a trader or Wedftdéxas Team was doing, “was to
some extent incoherent” in trying to explain thantés trading strategy during the
Investigative Period>> Two follow-up unrecorded calls between Comford aniskie

also took place on November 5. Both Luskie and fodntestified that Comfort did not
provide Luskie with an economic explanation of Texas Team'’s trades on either of the
calls. In fact, neither Luskie nor Comfort can feaay discussion in which Comfort
substantively explained why the Texas Team'’s traldemg the Investigative Period
were not manipulativeé® We agree with the ID that Comfort's demeanor hisdailure

to provide a cogent explanation for the Texas Teamdes on the call or elsewhere in

53014,

311D at P 102 n.69 (citing Tr. 283:18-284:7 (Luskie)

*32|d. (citing Tr. 1206:1-9 (Comfort)).

>31d. P 104.

>34|d. P 102 & n.68 (citing Ex. OE-162 (transcript); TB®25-281:17 (Luskie)).
>3 |d. (citing Ex. OE-162 (transcript); Tr. 280:25-281:(Luskie)).

536 1d. P 102.
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the record are highly probative of gufft. For the reasons stated above, we concur with
the ID that the November 5 recorded conversati@miadmission against interé&t.

3. Motive

a. Initial Decision

228. The ID found that while proof of motive is not réiqd for scienter, nevertheless
there is evidence of motive in this c&3&.The ID found that Comfort had a profit motive
to manipulate the physical market based on testyntlwat because “[f]linancial traders
generally receive a higher percentage of the ey generate’ than physical traders,
Comfort—who executed both financial and physicatles—"“had an incentive to make
more money on his financial than physical bot®."The ID also found that the fact that
Comfort was concerned that Barnhart received atasgnus than he did, and that he had
a desire for greater compensation, showed thaatiertotive to find a way to increase
his compensation. Further, the ID found the faat Comfort continued to work at BP
contradicted his assertions that he was wealthygméo retire and thus he had no
motive to manipulaté*

b. BP Exceptions

229. In its brief, BP argues that the evidence demotestrthat Comfort did not possess
a motive to manipulaté’” BP claims that after it demonstrated the falsftglaims that
Comfort had motive because he had left his previmsstion and feared for his job,
Enforcement Staff manufactured a new motive thahfoa wanted to stay in his job to

>37|d. P 102 & n.68 (citing Ex. OE-162 (transcript); TB®25-281:17 (Luskie)).

3% |d. P 104 n.104.

>¥|d. P 105 & n.73.

>4%|d. P 105 n.73 & P 255 (quoting Ex. OE-028 at Ske alsdr. 663:24-664:6
(Luskie) (Luskie testifying that speculative trasl@rere paid much more than asset
optimization traders).

5411d. P 105 n.73.

>42BP Br. on Exceptions at 26.
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earn a bonus, and that there is no reasoned loagisat position. BP contends generally
that the ID ignores substantial evidence showinglasence of motive.

230. BP argues that the ID’s determination that motovenanipulate exists based on
the industry standard compensation structure pgasithtent because if it were true all
traders would have incentive to manipulate to agheehigher bonus. BP also argues
that the evidence indicates that Comfort was higbgiarded in the industry and thus had
no motive to tarnish this reputation through markenipulation. BP points out that
Comfort’s net worth in 2007 was substantial and Heatestified that the only incentive
he had to remain employed at BP was to triggereetinedical benefits, which vested
prior to the alleged scheme. Thus, BP arguedattihe continued to work does not
demonstrate intent to manipulate. BP also contéml® is no evidence to support the
presumption that Comfort had a motive to manipulaéemarket because he did not
retire as soon as he was financially able to d%o.

C. Enforcement Staff Response

231. Enforcement Staff argues that the ID correctly tbthmt the evidence
demonstrates Comfort had a motive to manipulatgorEement Staff states that the
conclusion is supported by evidence showing ta:Comfort wanted “greater
compensation” in addition to bonus; (2) Comfortibetd his bonus was directly tied to
the P&L that he and his team generated; and (3)f@bmared about his status at BP,
and the fact that his position on the Texas Teaasast optimizer was a regression in his
career™ Thus, the ID’s finding of manipulation was groedchot only on a generic
conclusion that his compensation was tied to hifopmance but was based on
substantial record evidence.

232. Enforcement Staff also claims that Comfort’s liegttmony and inconsistencies
between it and the record, further indicate mamifng motive. For instance, Comfort
consistently insisted he was a “value trader” eager he had been demoted to physical
trader. These assertions are contrary to recordd8Bment evidencé> Enforcement
Staff points out that even though Comfort spenttrobsis career as a physical trader,
only moved to being a financial trader at BP C@hil{fornia) desk for a short period of
time, and was placed on the Texas Team as antesdet after losing his financial trader

*2|d. at 27.
>4 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 40-43

551d. at 41.
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job, Comfort still refused to recognize his staangl insisted he remained a “value
trader.®™®

233. Enforcement Staff argues that the ID was justifiretinding that Comfort’s desire
for greater compensation is motive for manipulati@mforcement Staff notes that
Comfort claimed that the largest money makersHerftexas Team were because of him,
even though the record evidence indicates thatlzatgenerated more positive value in
2008 than Comfort?’

234. Enforcement Staff contends that the ID properlypgeized that BP's Texas Team
structure provided Comfort the motive and oppotiuto engage in physical-for-
financial manipulation. Comfort’s hybrid tradeatts gave him authority to trade next
day physical gas at locations where he was pemiiittgput on potentially benefitting
financial positions. The compensation structuse glave a greater percentage of profits
to “speculative financial traders” than to thossding physical assets. Thus, Comfort
was structurally incentivized to focus and makeenooney on his financial than his
physical book. This gave Comfort the motive taléaineconomically physically to
boost his financial profitg’®

235. Enforcement Staff also argues that the fact Condmntinued to work at BP
contradicts claims he was wealthy enough to retire.

d. Commission Determination

236. We affirm the determination in the ID that Comfbad motive to manipulate the
market. BP’s Texas Team structure provided Conwitt a heightened incentive,
motive, and opportunity to engage in physical-ioeficial manipulatior*® Comfort’s
hybrid trader status gave him authority to tradet day physical gas at locations where
he was permitted to put on potentially benefittiimgncial positions. That structure gave
a greater percentage of profits to “speculativarimal traders” than to those trading
physical assets. Thus, Comfort was structuralbgmtivized to make more money on his

>4 |d. at 41 (citing Tr. 1165:13-18 (Comfort)).

>47|d. at 42 (citing Ex. OE-028 at 3).

548|d.

>4 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptia@isi3.
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financial than his physical bodR® That incentive structure in turn gave Comfort the
motive to make uneconomic physical trades (whiaftrdouted less to his personal
compensation in any event) in order to boost hadifsrfrom his financial trades (which
contributed more to his personal compensation)cofdingly, we affirm the ID’s finding
that Comfort had motive to manipulate the marked #hat motive establishes Comfort’s
intent to do so.

4. Manipulative Intent and Exculpatory Claims

237. BP claims that the ID ignores evidence refuting ipalative intent, including the
unequivocal testimony of Comfort and Barnhart dagyany wrongdoing. BP also
claims that the ID failed to consider Comfort's @arnhart’'s explanations for the
trading behavior. Enforcement Staff challenges déisaertion, pointing out that the ID
in fact considered Comfort’'s and Barnhart’s testigmand found their claims of non-
wrongdoing, and alleged legitimate explanationglierTexas Team’s trading patterns
during the Investigative Period, not credibié&.

a. Initial Decision

238. The ID agreed with Enforcement Staff's assessmemearing that Comfort’s
non-persuasive explanations or his failure to dégitimate economic reasons for his
trading is evidence of Comfort’s intent to manipgaf&® The ID rejected as non-credible
Comfort’s testimony that all his trades stand axirtbwn as legitimate economic trades
and fall within legal, regulatory and ethical gdides. The ID noted that his claim was
undermined by the fact that Comfort never explawég he did not alter his trading
pattern even after losing consistently during thektigative Period. The ID also stated
that Comfort “never explained why he always mada@eydefore but lost money during
the Investigative Period™ Further, the ID found that Comfort conceded attibaring
that he traded differently during the first eighdmths of 2008 than during the

> See ID at P 255.
>>1 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 43-44

2D at P 125.

553
Id.
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Investigative Period, and that his explanation Heajust made some “incorrect trades”
was “not believable” in light of the contrary redavidence in the casg'

239. The ID also found that Enforcement Staff experhess and testimony
conclusively showed Comfort’s explanations to bearedible>> The ALJ found
Abrantes-Metz’s testimony to show conclusively ttiet confluence of factors in this
case indicates that there is no legitimate reas@xplain the Texas Team’s trading
patterns other than manipulation. The ID found @amfort’s trading was intentional
and executed to suppress the Houston Ship Ch&aweDailyprice. The ID found this
conclusion was supported by several factors, ineu@omfort’s shift to early heavy
trading at Houston Ship Channel. The ID found thatevidence in the case shows that
selling early at Houston Ship Channel with no atiaty market could not have been a
legitimate arbitrage strategy but was a speculatiretegy>>® The ID noted that while
Comfort and Luskie try to describe this behaviotaks$ng a speculative view, they
acknowledge that selling heavy early created gremte and resulted in heavier losses
during the Investigative Period.

240. The ID also found further evidence of Comfort’saimt to manipulate the market
and suppress the price at Houston Ship ChanndPis &pert Evans’s unsupported
testimony that the heavy sales were the resuli@fg baseload position, with physical
risk associated with flattening the increased Ipagition, and which outweighed the risk
of cash (P&L) losses by selling disproportionalfylg. The ID stated that Bergin’s
testimony that Evans is incorrect was more credibleé supported by Comfort’s
concession that he never recalled having had ddaakposition at Katy during 2008 that
he found was too large to optimiZ¥.

241. The ID also found that Luskie’s and Barnhart'sitashy contradicts Evans’s
claims that trading during the Investigative Pemab to “manage risk,” as they
essentially testified to the opposite. The ID ajawe weight to Abrantes-Metz’s
testimony that it would be irrational for a sucdakphysical trader, such as Comfort, to

554|d.

514, P 126.

>%%|d. (noting that Luskie’s testimony evidences this sfegtive strategy: “I'm
buying gas without knowing which way the markeg@ng, so I'm just taking a view on
the market and hoping to make money on it.” TR:28-473:3; 580:7-15 (Luskie)).

557|d.
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persist in a consistently losing strategy suchediing early, unless he possessed an
ulterior bad motive.

242. The ID further found that Bergin’s testimony corstliely shows that Comfort’s
explanatory allegations are not credibf®.It noted that Bergin testified that Evans’s
explanation, that early selling at Houston Ship i@ted was the result of an increased
long baseload position which carried “physical tiaksociated with flattening that
increased long baseload position, and that thigsiell risk” outweighed the risk of
losses on the cash P&L (“price risk”) created birggpdisproportionately early, is
incorrect™™® Further, the ID found that the record shows @minfort and Luskie
understood the concept of “unwinding their trangpas described by Bergiti® Yet in

his testimony, Comfort could not explain why thexdg Team only “turned off” transport
a single day during the Investigative Period, intcast to doing so seventy percent of the
time in the first eight months of 2008, The ALJ also found that Comfort’s claim that
he had no specific memory of “not turning off trpog” during the Investigative Period
as non-crediblé®?

243. The ID determined that Comfort’s trading behavi@sveonsistent with the intent
to suppress Houston Ship Chan@els Daily and inconsistent with Evans’s claims that it
was responsive to Houston Ship Channel/Katy pnfferdntials. Thus, the ALJ gave
greater weight to Bergin’s testimony, and found @wirs lack of memory on these

8 |d. PP 126-127.
>*91d. P 126 (citing Ex. OE-161 at 58:6-59:14).

> The ID notes Bergin testified a “rational tradeeking to optimize their
transportation would have attempted to unwind ashhaf their transportation as
possible when prices at Katy were higher than [HouShip Channel] by selling Katy
gas and buying [Houston Ship Channel] gdsl."at P 127 (citing Ex. OE-161 at 75:13-
15). It also finds Comfort and Luskie understooe ¢toncept of unwinding transport as
part of economic decision-making based on trangport. Tr. 384:8-385:11 (Luskie);
Ex. OE-243; Tr. 702:2-23 (Comfort).

> The record shows the Texas Team “turned off traris83 of 261 flow days
in the eight months prior to the Investigative Bdriwhich resulted in positive P&L.
Ex. OE-161 at 77.

2D at P 127.
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significant matters, and his claims that he dichma@ wrong, not credible in light of the
record evidencé®®

b. BP Exceptions

244. BP argues that the ID failed to address or meanllygtonsider its arguments that
its traders lacked manipulative intent, and instegids on Enforcement Staff's
purportedly flawed data analys&. BP claims that the ID unreasonably disregards
Comfort’s and Barnhart’s testimony and their den@flwrongdoing. BP argues the ID
erred by relying on Bergin’s “speculative conclugdas to the traders’ intent and
inferring the Texas Team'’s intent from the movenwdrthe Houston Ship Channel-
Henry Hub spread without considering the tradegstitnony explaining the trading
behavior.

245. BP also argues that the ALJ erred by failing tosider alleged numerous flaws in
Bergin’s and Abrantes-Metz’s analysis, which iticia form the basis of the ID’s finding
of intent. It asserts that the conclusions ofnhteased on findings that Comfort did not
explain why he did not change his trading strat&ftgr “consistently losing money”
were undermined by the P&L and Bergin’s data, widéhasserts shows that the Texas
Team’s trades were profitable on 42 percent ofithyes during the Investigative Period.
BP claims that contrary to the ID, Comfort’s useéHofuston Pipeline System transport in
the Investigative Period was consistent with theaBelTeam’s use of that same capacity
in the same months during the prior ye&rPsBP further argues it was error to assume a
trader in Comfort’s position should have changeatsyy due to such losses because
they were not significant lossé&

246. BP also claims that conclusions in the ID regardirapipulative intent were
based on unsupported suppositidHsBP argues, for example, that the ID erred in
relying on Enforcement Staff’'s contentions thatisSia common practice to hide losses in

*%3The ID also finds Barnhart's exculpatory testimaaye not credible for
similar reasonsld. P 127 & n.1009.

%4 BP Br. on Exceptions at 27.

651d. at 28.

566|d.
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large book” and that Comfort relied on the sizéhef overall books to disguise
intentional losses. According to BP, there is @cord evidence to support the “common
practice” theory, no evidence to support the cldinag Katy Ship Sheet’s aggregation of
the team’s P&L (i.e. the “books”) were “large” ing context of BP’s overall trading
operations, and no evidence that the Texas Teahossés in those books.

247. BP also claims the ID erred by inferring intentnfr@uskie’s alleged
understanding that the Texas Team’s use of thetdowpeline System capacity during
the Investigative Period was different from “tydicae.®®® According to BP the two
periods examined (the 8 months in 2008 prior totlestigative Period and the
Investigative Period) reflect seasonal differene@s, so there is no reason to expect the
trading strategies to be the same. BP also aghkattthe ID was wrong to assume that
Luskie did not understand a physical-for-finanamnipulative scheme. BP claims the
evidence is clear that Luskie knew what constitsiech a scheme, even if it was not a
topic listed specifically in his compliance traigimaterials.

C. Enforcement Staff Response

248. Enforcement Staff argues that contrary to BP’sataithe 1D specifically
considered and rejected BP’s arguments that ietsdacked manipulative intetit, and
explained why those claims are not credife Enforcement Staff notes that the ID
rejected Comfort’s testimony that his trades stamdheir own for the multiple reasons
discussed above, including because Comfort couléxmlain why he made money prior
to, but lost it after, the Investigative Periodddrecause his answer that he merely “made
some incorrect trades” was not credible especiallight of Comfort’s testimony that he
agreed that the Texas Team had a positive P&L poithie Investigative Period but
suffered losses during the Investigative PeriodfoEeement Staff also asserts that
Comfort’s lack of a reasonable explanation for vileydid not change his trading strategy
during the Investigative Period after consistefdbing money damages his credibility.

249. Enforcement Staff also argues that the ID’s deteation that Comfort’'s
exculpatory testimony was not credible was suppdrieBergin’s testimony.
Enforcement Staff claims Bergin’s testimony shokat the Texas Team turned off
transport just one day during the Investigativadeethough it had done so seventy

*%%|d. at 29.
°%9 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 45-46

70 |d. at 46-47 (citing ID at PP 125,127).
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percent of the time in the first eight and a hatfimis of 2008. Enforcement Staff also
points to Bergin’s testimony that contradicts aspdils several of BP’s defensive claims,
including testimony undermining BPs hedging defefisdisproving claims that the
increase in financial gains would outweigh the ficial losses/? showing that the

trading strategy was not done to meet industriddi@e customer needs, and

responding to BP’s claims that there are possideather legitimate explanations for the
Texas Team'’s trading actioR$.

250. Enforcement Staff also disputes BP’s contention tthere was no evidence to
support the claim that Comfort relied on the siz8©’s overall trading book to hide his
losses, and that he believed the scheme would detected”* Enforcement Staff
claims the ID relied primarily on the traders’ litesstimony to reach this conclusion, and
thus it was reasonable for the ALJ to conclude @@anfort knew he could engage in a
manipulative scheme, with resulting losses, wittelifear of detection.

d. Commission Determination

251. We find that the ID properly found that the weightvidence in this proceeding
shows that Comfort, Barnhart and the Texas Teanthedhtent to manipulate the
market, and that their exculpatory claims and alelggitimate explanations are not
credible.

252. The claim that the ID disregarded Comfort’s andriBart’s testimony without
reasoned explanation is incorrect. As Enforcereatf notes, to the contrary, the ALJ
did not ignore the traders’ testimony but rathersidered it and found it not credibl&.
As the ID noted, Comfort’s non-persuasive explamaiand failure to offer legitimate
economic motives for his trading strategy are aweeof his intent to manipulate the
market. The ID found that Comfort’s failure to é&atp why he did not alter his trading
strategy during the Investigative Period after egtegatly losing money with his trades,
and lack of explanation for why he made money podhe Investigative Period but lost

"I Ex. OE-001 at 108.

°2|d. at 109.

°%|d. at 112-115.

>" Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 47-48

>>See, e.glID at P 125.
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money during the Investigative Period, stronglytcasict Comfort’s assertions that his
trades stand on their own merit. Further, as th& pointed out, while Comfort’s
testimony disagrees with Bergin’s and Abrantes-Reatpnclusions, notably Comfort
does not contest their analyses of his tradinge &hdence shows in fact that Abrantes-
Metz’s conclusion that Comfort’s trading patternsidg the Investigative Period resulted
in consistent physical losses of a magnitude tlzat mvuch greater than any losses in the
previous eight and a half months is accurate. bh#e even Comfort admits that his
trading patterns at Houston Ship Channel duringriiestigative Period were different
than his trading during the first eight and a Imatfnths of 2008’® We agree with the

ALJ that the assertion that Comfort simply and remdly “made some incorrect trades”
is inconsistent with the record evidence.

253. The testimony of Enforcement Staff's witnesseshfeirtdemonstrates that
Comfort’s explanations lack credibility. First, famtes-Metz’s testimony establishes
that there was no legitimate reason to explainT#ras Team’s trading patterns other
than manipulatiort’” As noted in the ID, the evidence indicates thamn@rt’s trading
was intentional and executed to suppress the Howtgp ChanneGas Dailyprices.
This evidence includes the shift to heavy earllirggat Houston Ship Channel, and
Comfort’s inability to provide a legitimate expldiwan for this change. The record
indicates that this could not have been an arletstgategy but was a speculative strategy
that created more risk and produced heavier lasse@sg the Investigative Period than
previous trading periods. Comfort and Luskie etaby admitted these facf$® and
acknowledge that they created more risk by heaxly salling at Houston Ship
Channef’®

70Ty, 1286:9-1293:4; 1293:5-15 (Comfort).

>""See, @., ID at P 126 (citing Tr. 1915:13-24, Tr. 1911:3Mbrantes-Metz); EX.
OE-021 at 20, 22-25)).

>’ Regarding pre-Katy sales at Houston Ship Chanuskie testified that “I'm
buying gas without knowing which way the marketsrgy. So I'm just taking a view on
the market and hoping to make money on it.” TR2:23-473:3; 580:7-15 (Luskie).

> See, @., ID at P 126 & n.99 (citing Tr. 482:23-483:1 (lkie) (speculative
view increases risk); Tr. 547:9-12 (Luskie) (“Thena you sell at Ship early . . . you are
increasing your risk that you're going to be rightvrong.”); Tr. 1398:22-1399:8
(Comfort) (a trader selling faster than the redhef market is increasing his price risk.)).
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254. Additionally, Bergin’s testimony supports the IZenclusion that Comfort’s
exculpatory claims lack credibility, and also refsithe other purportedly “legitimate”
reasons for the trading strategy. First, as theelidgnized, Evans claimed that the early
selling at Houston Ship Channel was the result‘tdrger physical gas position® The
implication is that the Texas Team sold early atiston Ship Channel because they had
a substantial risk associated with flattening tivegreased physical gas position. Thus,
according to BP, the Texas Team sold early at HouShip Channel not as part of a
manipulative scheme but because the Texas Tearvedlihe risk of not flattening its
physical position outweighed any risk of lossedhmir cash P&L (also referred to as
“price risk”) created by selling early. As Bergiemonstrated, however, the Texas
Team’s Houston Ship Channel price risk from sellagly at Houston Ship Channel far
outweighed their physical risk of flattening thieing baseload position during the
Investigative Period:* Based on Bergin’s testimony debunking Evans’'danation,

and Comfort’s concession that he could not recalirlg a baseload position at Katy in
2008 that was too large to optimize, the Commisaibinms the ALJ’s finding that
Bergin’s testimony was more reliable in this regand that Evans’s explanation as to
the reasons for increased heavy early trading astdéa Ship Channel was unpersuasive.

255. Bergin’s testimony also demonstrates Comfort’s lat&redibility with respect

to his exculpatory statements, and refutes thamsl As the ID noted, Bergin shows
that the Texas Team “turned off its transport” ooihe day out of 73 during the
Investigative Period, in contrast to the first éighd a half months of 2008 when it did so
seventy percent of the time, or 183 out of 261 filays>®? Bergin also showed that the
Texas Team'’s decision to turn off the transportnvpeaces dictated in the period before
the Investigative Period resulted in an overallitpas P&L for that time period®®

Further, Bergin testified that a “rational tradeeking to optimize their transportation
would have attempted to unwind as much of themgpartation as possible when prices
at Katy were higher than Houston Ship Channel liingeKaty gas and buying Houston
Ship Channel gas. The record shows that ComfariLaiskie understood this concept of
unwinding the transport, but that Comfort couldvptde no reason why the Texas Team
did not turn off the Houston Pipeline System tramsprhen economic to do so during
the Investigative Period. Comfort also denied spgcific memory of not turning off

°80 Ex. BP-037 at 28-29.
*8LEx. OE-161 at 47-48, 49-54.
*82|D at P 127 (citing Ex. OE-161 at 77-78).

%83 Ex. OE-161 at 77-78.
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transport during the Investigative Period. Bergit®@stimony convincingly shows that the
Texas Team'’s trading behavior during the Investiga®Period was consistent with the
intent to suppress the Houston Ship Chames Dailyindex®* Accordingly, it was
reasonable for the ALJ to give Bergin’s testimomn#icant weight in finding that the
Texas Team had the intent to manipulate the magkegcially in light of Comfort’s lack
of memory on significant issues and his persistiis that he did nothing wrong
because trading was business as usual during ¥kstigative Period.

256. Bergin’s testimony also refuted BP’s other explaet of purportedly legitimate
reasons for its trading activities during the Irtigegtive Period. For example, Bergin
successfully rebutted BP’s claim that the physigal financial positions at Houston Ship
Channel had the appearance of “hedged” proporteams thus any manipulative effort
would have been unprofitab!® As he explained, that claim is misleading becahse
Texas Team had substantial exposure t@3hg Dailyindex in the Investigative Period
that benefitted from lower Houston Ship Chan@ak Dailyprices, and the traders’ own
testimony and actions confirm the belief that tleaiposure to th&as Dailyindex was
critical to their ultimate P&L. This is evidenceal Bergin noted, by Barnhart's email to
her supervisor describing their Houston Ship Chitmilenry Hub spread positiofi°

and her positive reaction to the increase in thegad after Hurricane 1k&®’

257. Bergin also refuted BP’s argument that in an attechpnanipulation, any benefits
to the Texas Team'’s financial position would notweigh its losses on the physical
side®®® As Bergin pointed out, while the Texas Team cdddairly confident that their
trades were lowering the price at Houston Ship @Gehrhey could not have known the
extent to which their fixed price selling was sugg®ing the Houston Ship Channel
market. Yet, as experienced traders, they moslyliknew that their index position was
more volatile, and thus potentially more profitglitean their physical position.

Additionally, the Texas Team could have been canfidhat because their physical

>34 As noted in the ID, this testimony of Bergin’s @ssally refutes the claim by
Evans that the use of the Houston Pipeline Systansport during the Investigative
Period was in response to Houston Ship ChanneV/prate differentials.

8 Ex. OE-001 at 108.
%86 Ex. OE-024.
87 Ex. OE-087.

88 Ex. OE-001 at 109.
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trading P&L had historically been positive, justi@asing volume and selling early to
increase the financial spread would likely onlyufesr minimal losses, and if that
assumption turned out to be wrong, the team caaudrt to economic trading and use of
the Houston Pipeline System transport.

258. Bergin’s testimony also considered and rejectegtssibility of other legitimate
explanations for the Texas Team’s trading stratégysor example, he demonstrated that
the Texas Team’s increased net long baseload gosiét Katy and Houston Ship
Channel was not done to serve increased industriaistomer load. As Bergin
explained, the increased net long baseload pogsitieent the Texas Team had to sell
more in the next day market to “get flat” physigallf the Texas Team had bought more
gas at Katy to service industrial or larger custodemand at Houston Ship Channel,
then there should have been a corresponding ireredie Texas Team’s Houston Ship
Channel short baseload position. Instead, BP’slbad demand at Houston Ship
Channel decreased during the Investigative PerdksiBergin noted, this shows that the
Texas Team’s long net baseload position at Katyneaselated to an increased short
physical position at Houston Ship Channel but edta voluntary choice made by the
team>"° Additionally Bergin noted that the majority oftffexas Team’s counterparties
at Houston Ship Channel were marketers, not indlisuistomers.

259. Bergin also refuted BP’s claim that the Texas Tealang physical position at
Katy was a means of providing the team greatepaptity with respect to the Houston
Pipeline System transpaft: As Bergin explained, the team’s net long posidoiaty

did not give them a greater option of whether tbaenot to sell. In contrast, it created
an effective must-sell scenario in which optionalitas limited to the location of that
sale, i.e., the Texas Team either had to sell asskbm Ship Channel or to sell at Katy.
Thus, instead of a more balanced long and shottigpodetween Katy and Houston Ship
Channel, which would have provided greater seldptionality, the Texas Team'’s long
Katy position resulted in a must sell obligatioattheduced their optionality with respect
to the best use of the Houston Pipeline Systens i@t

260. Finally, Bergin demonstrated that the Texas Team&conomic trading cannot
otherwise be legitimately explained by their loragéload position. As he noted, an
economically rational trader would seek to optintizetransportation options, and thus

8914, at 112.
0|4, at 112.

®l1d. at 113.
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regardless of the size of the Texas Team’s positdrKaty and Houston Ship Channel,
they should have been making economic decisioastfie most profitable option at the
time of the decision) with regard to their usehsd Houston Pipeline System transport.
As the record shows, however, this is not whate¢len did. Instead the Texas Team
sold Katy gas at Houston Ship Channel when it wbialde been more economic to sell
the gas at Katy™?

261. BP’s claims that the ID relies on “unsupported sagijons” are unavailing. BP
asserts that the “ID erroneously accepts and rehdsnforcement Staff’'s contention that
‘it is @ common practice to hide losses in largeksd and that Comfort relied on the size
of the overall book to disguise intentional loss83. According to BP, there is no record
evidence to support those conclusions. ContraBR@ claims, the ID did not simply
rely on Enforcement Staff’'s contentions on thisiesbut noted the specific reasons why
Comfort knew that the way the Texas Team keptatskb and calculated its cash P&L
made it unlikely that BP’s management or BP Conmgleawould detect comfort’s
scheme® Among the evidence supporting this claim is tet that the Katy Ship Sheet
was the only document that showed the Texas TeB&lson their next day physical
trading at Katy and Houston Ship Channel. BP Canpk, however, did not review the
Texas Team’s P&L in 2008 As further noted, the evidence indicates thattsh

P&L reported to management did not delineate tbeszidual components of the Katy
Ship Sheet in a manner that would isolate or maka@ent Comfort's actior§?

262. Further, according to Luskie the Houston Ship Cledand Katy next day P&L
was a relatively small component of BP’s daily P&Lhe ID also found evidence that
Comfort knew his losses would be hidden in BP’gédartrading books by the fact that he
continued trading profitably at Katy during the éstigative Period, indicating that he
knew his larger losses on Houston Pipeline Systansport and against the Houston
Ship Channel index would likely be overlooked. TBegound this conclusion is further
buttressed by the fact that the P&L cell on theyk3ttip Sheet combined the Houston
Ship Channel and Katy trades against these indi€kas, contrary to BP’s claim, there

*21d. at 115 & n.15.

>3 BP Br. on Exceptions at 28.

41D at P 124.

% |d. P 124 (citing Tr. 2121:13-2122:6 (Simmons)).

*%|d. P 124 n.95 (citing Tr. 610:24-611:10 (Luskie)).
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is record evidence to support Enforcement Staffisianents in this regard, and based on
this evidence it was reasonable for the ALJ to badecthat Comfort relied on the size of
the overall book to disguise his intentional lossed to believe he would not be caught.

263. While the ID found intent based on Luskie’s testim@’’ that inference is not
critical to the finding in the ID that the Texasahe had a motive to manipulate the
market. As noted in the ID, BP’s intent may bebbshed by the conduct of any of the
traders, and because Comfort was the “point owoktfie Texas Team, intent for the
Texas Team can be established solely through Cémfotent and action¥® Further,
the claim that Luskie did understand what a phydmafinancial manipulative scheme
is not contrary to the ID, and does not further8&'gument. The ID in fact questioned
Enforcement Staff's theory that Luskie was “guitalg finding the record evidence
shows that Luskie knew the scheme because he eeVvicab Parker?® The fact that
Luskie understood the scheme weighs further inrfa¥éinding motive and intent on
part of the Texas Team.

5. Consciousness of Guilt

a. Initial Decision

264. The ID found that Comfort had consciousness oftglilnoted that Comfort’s
hostile responses to Luskie on the November 5 decbcall and Comfort’s lack of a
legitimate explanation for his trading practicesidg the Investigative Period are
evidence of Comfort’s guit?®® The ID found particularly suspect that Comforvere
explained why the Texas Team trading and use p§part was not being used to affect
the index to help their paper positifh. It noted again that Comfort's explanations are

9" See suprd 247.
*%|D atP 107.
*91d. P 108.

%01d. P 104.

0114, p 105.
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not credible, and that even Luskie found them vaneinadequat®? The ID also
found Comfort’s false exculpatory statements t@béndication of Comfort's guift®®

b. BP Exceptions

265. BP argues that the ID erred in accepting Enforcer8&aff's consciousness of
guilt theory. According to BP the ID’s conclusicas well as the precedent upon which
it relies are inapplicable in the current procegdiBP claims first that the
“consciousness of guilt” concept is only applicaibleriminal proceedings where a
defendant has been found to have made false exonjpsiatement®* BP further

asserts that consciousness of guilt requires bfafise exculpatory statements, which it
claims is lacking here. BP argues that Comforgsidl of misconduct is not a false
exculpatory statement, and that the ID ignores Bé&eace regarding the non-
manipté(l)%tive reasons for the Texas Team'’s tradetgabior during the Investigative
Period.

C. Enforcement Staff Response

266. Enforcement Staff argues that the ID’s findingsasonsciousness of guilt are
correct. It asserts that BP’s claims that Comdgortply denied any misconduct, and that
such statements were not false, conflates Comfaitiégsnpted explanations of his trading

602
Id.

®93|d. (citing Al-Adahi v. Obama613 F.3d 1102, 1107 (D.C. Cir. 201@.g,
United States v. Berrig$76 F.3d 118, 130 (3d Cir. 2012) (“[F]alse exattpy
statements may be introduced as evidence of tlendeft’'s consciousness of guilt of the
underlying charges . . . "Wnited States v. VI878 F. App’x 908, 909 (11th Cir. 2010)
(“[I]t is reasonable for the jury to infer that aféndant’s false statement to police
demonstrates a consciousness of guilUhited States v. Elashys54 F.3d 480, 495
(5th Cir. 2008) (“[Defendant’s] false exculpatotatement provide [] persuasive
circumstantial evidence of [his] consciousnessuiit.g) (citing United States v. Diaz-
Carreon 915 F.2d 951, 955 (5th Cir. 1990Qnited States v. Clarld5 F.3d 1247, 1251
(8th Cir. 1995) (“The false exculpatory statemestiuction is aimed at pretrial
fabrications, on the theory that the innocent dofalbricate to avoid being accused of
crime.”)).

%4 BP Br. on Exceptions at 29.

605|d. at 30 & n.153.
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on the November 5 recorded telephone call (whicloieement Staff claims were false
exculpatory statement& with Comfort’s after the fact blanket denials csoonduct in
testimony and at the hearing.

267. Enforcement Staff also argues that consciousnegsilbfis not limited to criminal
proceedings but has been applied in a varietywif@dntexts, including trademark
infringement and employment discrimination ca¥és.

d. Commission Determination

268. We find that the ID properly applied the consciassof guilt theory in this
proceeding, and that the record supports a findifgomfort’s guilt. As the ALJ found,
Comfort’s demeanor on the recorded call with Luslid Comfort’s inability to provide
a legitimate and credible explanation for his tngdstrategy during the Investigative
Period are evidence of his gUiff

269. As to the recorded phone call, we agree with th@'&perception of Comfort’s
angry tone and his non-responsive answers andhigpgiuses, and we agree that this all
shows his consciousness of guilt. Further, weeagiiéh the ALJ that Comfort’s
demeanor on the call indicated that he wantedawegmnt Luskie from revealing any
further incriminating information on the recordaakl. It is reasonable for the ALJ to
conclude that based on this evidence, Comfort gt g

270. We agree with the ID that Comfort was unable tda&rphis trading on the
recorded call, and that this fact is strong eviéethat he was guilty of a manipulative
scheme. As an experienced trader, Comfort shaawd been able to provide legitimate
explanations for his trading strategy. Instead,tbne and demeanor on the call show
that he did not want to discuss the trading orrélcerded line. Moreover, we agree with
the finding in the ID that Comfort’'s and Luskie®egation that the reason Comfort was
unable to give an explanation on the recordedvead due to Luskie’s inaccurate

%98 Enforcement Staff claims Comfort’s explanationd arstifications on the
November 5 telephone call (i.e. that the Texas Tslaipped “economically on [Houston
Pipeline System] most of the time,” that they watrémes unable to unwind their
transport, and that the Texas Team'’s next day idesisvere complicated and multiple)
were false. Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exaeystiat 43-44.

07d. at 44.

%% 1D at P 104 (citing Exs. OE-016 and OE-162).
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description of the Texas Team'’s tradifiqare not credible and are contrary to the record
evidence in this case. As noted in the ID andudised above, Luskie at the time
accurately described the scheff.

271. Further, we agree with the ID that Comfort madedalon-credible exculpatory
statements on the recorded phone call. As juatibos for his trading strategy, Comfort
claimed that the Texas Team “shipped economicallgt of the time, that there were
times they could not “unwind” their position, arght multiple factors go into cash
trading decision8'* However, the record shows that the Texas Teamatighip
economically on Houston Pipeline System most otitne during the Investigative
Period. As discussed above, to the contrary thiggd to “unwind” their positions or
“turn off” the transport numerous times during theestigative Period, even when it
would have been economic to do®0.Additionally Comfort testified that he could not
recall a time when he was unable to unwind his ouShip Channel and or Katy
positions®*® Thus, we find it was reasonable for the ALJ taatode that these false and
non-credible statements were strong evidence off@tmguilt.5**

272. We also agree with the ALJ that Comfort’s additiojuarecorded) phone calls are
another indicia of Comfort’s guift> The ID found that the purpose of Comfort’s
unrecorded “calls was to start a cover-up of tluesféo make sure Luskie got his facts
‘straight’ before he got back to Park&® The ID further found that Luskie called

®9Ex. BP-014 at 7:1-11 (Comfort Resp. Test.); Ex.@mM®-at 9:1-3 (Luskie Resp.
Test); Tr. 272:24-273:6 (Luskie).

10D at P 104.
6111d. P 105 & n.74.
612
Ex. OE-161 at 74-78.
®13Tr, 1413:7-24 (Comfort).

®14 Federal Courts have found that it is a “well setprinciple that false
exculpatory statements are evidence — often stewitence — of guilt.”Al Adahi v.
Obama,613 F.3d 1102, 1107 (D.C. Cir. 2010).

15D at P 106.

®181d. (citing Tr. 285:4-286:5 (Luskie)).
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Comfort back less than a minute after the recooddidended, and Comfort returned his
call two minutes later. They had two phone coratosas lasting ten and nine minutes
each. The ID also found that although Luskie anchfort do not recall the details of
these calls, Luskie testified that he was calledpisl and foolish” for saying those things
on a recorded line, while Comfort generally remeratidbeing angry during the first
call®*” The ID found that Comfort's and Luskie’s limitestollections are not

credible®®

273. Enforcement Staff argues that BP misstates thefibXsngs with respect to the
November 5 unrecorded calls. According to Enforeenstaff, BP argues that the ID
erred in adopting inferences from the two unrecdrckdls when the traders could not
recall details of the calls. According to EnforeaarhStaff, however, the ID determined
that Comfort and Luskie’s limited recollectionstbé& unrecorded calls were not
credible®®® Also, although BP contests the ID’s finding ttie¢ unrecorded calls were
another indicia of Comfort’s guilt, Enforcement Stsserts that the ID’s finding is fully
supported by the circumstances of the c&flincluding the fact Comfort and Luskie
continued their conversation on their cell phoness ninutes later after Luskie said he
had to run and terminated the recorded conversétt@omfort’s testimony that he
wanted to get off a recorded line, and Comfort&iteony that the purpose of the
conversation was to help Luskie “get his factsigttabefore talking to Parkef??

274. We find no reason to disagree with the ID’s deteation that it is not credible
that neither Comfort nor Luskie can recall the detaf what would have been two
critical telephone calls. Comfort testified thia¢ tpourpose of the unrecorded calls was to
help Luskie “organize his thoughts” and “get histfstraight” before getting back to
Parker to assure him that the Texas Team'’s tragtiagegy was compliant. Based on

®171d. (citing Tr. 292:1-13 (Luskie); Ex. OE-231 at 183:18; Tr. 1216:10-14,
1230:6-9 (Comfort)).

618 |d

%19 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 37.
°2%|d. at 38.

621 |d

®221d. at 39.
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this testimony, the Commission agrees with the flal the unrecorded calls were part
of an effort to conceal the manipulative scheme.

275. We also find it significant that following the calluskie contacted someone from
the Market Monitor staff but also went back to Rairto assure him that he was incorrect
about the Texas Team'’s trading, that the team diidransport to influence the index and
that sometimes they had to ship uneconomicallytduiguidity issues. Although he
failed to convince Parker that nothing was amisskie’s conduct reinforces the finding
in the ID that his unrecorded calls with Comfortiavember 5 were part of an effort to
conceal the Texas Team’s scheme.

276. We also reject BP’s claims that the consciousnégsiti theory is only applicable
to criminal proceedings. As Enforcement Staff pwout, courts have relied on the
consciousness of guilt theory concept in severdll @dntexts such as trademark
infringement and employment discrimination ca¥&sThus we find it was reasonable
for the ALJ to find that Comfort had consciousnekguilt, and that his guilt was
evidence of his intent to manipulate.

6. Rehearing Request

277. BP requests rehearing as to whether the Hearingr@rdetermination that it is
incorrect that recklessness must be extreme oreséweneet the scienter requirement of
a manipulation claim is arbitrary or capriciousor the reasons stated in the Hearing
Order, we deny the request. We maintain that ohe®ONo. 670, the Commission did not
adopt a more specific definition of recklessnesseasary to establish a violation of the
Anti-Manipulation Rule. BP does not raise any matly new arguments or intervening
change in controlling law or facts that would meeitonsideration.

C. Jurisdiction

278. The third element of establishing a violation of AN&ection 4A and the
Anti-Manipulation Rule is determining whether thenduct in question was “in
connection with” a transaction “subject to the gdiction of the Commission.” As
relevant to this proceeding, NGA section 1(b) pdeg that the Commission’s NGA
jurisdiction extends to (1) transportation of natugas in interstate commerce, (2) sales
for resale of natural gas in interstate commenaod,(8) “natural gas companies engaged

2 35ee, e.g., Aka v. Washington Hosp. Certs6 F.3d 1284, 1293 (D.C. Cir.
1998);Alberto-Culver co. v. Andrea Dumon, Ind66 F.2d 705,709-10 (7th Cir. 1972).
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in such transportation or sale.” NGA section Hlsp provides that the Commission’s
NGA jurisdiction does not apply to any other tramsgtion or sale of natural gas.

279. The Commission’s NGA jurisdiction has been narrolwgdhe Natural Gas
Policy Act of 1978 (NGPA), as amended by the Welth®econtrol Act of 1989.
Specifically, NGPA section 601(a)(1)(A) and (2)(#)provides that “the provisions of
the Natural Gas Act and the jurisdiction of the @aission under such Act shall not
apply to any natural gas solely by reason of” fiy first sale of natural gas as defined in
NGPA section 2(21) or (2) any transportation auieat by the Commission under
NGPA section 311(a8f* As explained in more detail below, the “firstesil exempted
from our NGA jurisdiction generally include all salby entities that occur upstream of
sales by interstate pipelines, intrastate pipeliteesl distribution companies (LDCs),
and their affiliates. However, sales by those lmps, LDCs and their affiliates are not
exempt first sales, unless the volume of naturalsgdd is attributable to their own
production.

280. BP contends that, in order to demonstrate a varatf NGA section 4A,
Enforcement Staff must show that BP used jurisoingti sales for resale and
transportation transactions to manipulate the HouShip Channel price index. BP
contends that NGA section 4A does not apply taue of non-jurisdictional transactions
to manipulate a price index, even if that index rhaysed to price jurisdictional sales by
third parties. BP therefore argues that a showiagit engaged in non-jurisdictional
sales for the purpose of manipulating the Houstup Shannel price index is

insufficient to show a violation of NGA section 4&P further contends that
Enforcement Staff has not shown that any of thestrations alleged to constitute its
manipulative scheme were subject to the CommissiNGA jurisdiction.

281. Inthe Hearing Order, the Commission held that N&&&tion 4A’s prohibition of
manipulative conduct extends to the use of norsglictional transactions in a
manipulative scheme that directly affects jurisdical transactions. BP requested
rehearing of the Hearing Order’s holding on th&issand argues in its exceptions to the
Initial Decision that the ALJ erred in finding aolation of section 4A based on its use of
non-jurisdictional transactions to manipulate thmukton Ship Channel price index. In
the first section below, the Commission denies B®htearing Request and rejects BP’s
exceptions related to that issue.

®24 NGPA section 601(a) contains certain other exesngthot here relevant.
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282. The ALJ also found that (1) BP’s manipulative schatirectly affected the

prices of third party sales for resale that argestilio the Commission’s NGA

jurisdiction and (2) BP used jurisdictional, as has non-jurisdictional fixed price sales
for resale as part of its manipulative schedulaftect the Houston Ship Channel index
price. BP excepts to these findings. In the séa@ttion below, the Commission denies
these exceptions.

1. Use of Non-Jurisdictional Transactions in a Manipuhtive
Scheme

a. Hearing Order and ID

283. Inthe Hearing Order, the Commission held that Ns&&tion 4A permits it to
assert jurisdiction over conduct that directly afégjurisdictional transactions, even if the
conduct would otherwise be non-jurisdictional. Tmmmission explained that NGA
section 4A encompasses “any entity” that “direattyndirectly . . . use[s] or employ][s],
in connection with the purchase or sale of natgas . . . subject to the jurisdiction of
the Commissiorany manipulative or deceptive device or controgaif> The
Commission stated that Order No. 670 interpretedithconnection with” provision of
NGA section 4A “as encompassing situations in wiiedre is a nexus between the
fraudulent conduct of an entity and a jurisdicticmansaction.?”® The Hearing Order
pointed out that Order No. 670 illustrated the gcopour manipulation authority with an
example in which an entity engaging in a non-jugsdnal transaction acts with intent or
with recklessness to affect an auction clearinggowhich sets the price of jurisdictional
transactions. While the Order No. 670 example lvea the parallel anti-manipulation
provisions of the Federal Power Act (FPA), the HepOrder found that the example
described Enforcement Staff's allegations in tlaisecthat BP had engaged in a non-
jurisdictional transaction with the intent to affélse daily Houston Ship Channel price
index that sets the price of jurisdictional trarigats and therefore those allegations, if
proven, would support a finding that BP’s conduaswin connection with” a
jurisdictional transaction.

284. The Hearing Order also found this interpretatioNGfA section 4A was
consistent with the D.C. Circuit’s interpretatioihsamilar “in connection with”
language in NGA sections 4 and 53dpnoco Inc. v. FERE’ andAltamont Gas

62515 U.S.C. § 717c-1 (emphasis added).
%26 Order No. 670, FERC Stats & Regs. 1 31,202 at.P 22

%2790 F.3d 536 (D.C. Cir. 1996).
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Transmission Co. v. FERE® The Hearing Order stated that in those cases the

D.C. Circuit held that the Commission ordinarilystthe authority to consider a matter
beyond its jurisdiction if the matter affects julictional sales, at least if there would
otherwise be a regulatory gap. The Hearing Orlderr@jected BP’s reliance diunter.
The Commission explained that case involved adigi®nal dispute between the
Commission and the CFTC, in which the D.C. Cirtild that the Commission did not
have jurisdiction because the manipulative schemwelved futures markets over which
Congress gave the CFTC exclusive jurisdiction.

285. The Hearing Order accordingly interpreted NGA satdA as making unlawful
the use of non-jurisdictional transactions in a ipalative scheme to affect the prices of
jurisdictional transactions. However, the Hear@gler set all factual issues as to
whether BP had engaged in such a scheme for hearing

286. Consistent with the Hearing Order, the ALJ alseripteted section 4A as making
unlawful the use of non-jurisdictional transactidasnanipulate the prices of
jurisdictional transactions. The ALJ rejected B&dsitentions that the exercise of the
Commission’s jurisdiction over such sales for resahs barred by court decisions in
Texas Pipeline Ass’n v. FERG661 F.3d 258 (5th Cir. 2011J0onoco Inc. v. FERC

90 F.3d 536 (D.C. Cir. 1996), a@NEOK, Inc. v. Learjet Inc575 U.S. __ , 135 S. Ct.
1591 (2015). The ALJ explained thiagxas Pipelin@vas not controlling because that
case interpreted section 23 of the NGA, not sectidrvhich, as the Commission noted
in Order No. 670, “closely track[s] the prohibitednduct language in section 10(b) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934% The ALJ further explained that the Supreme
Court’s decision irDNEOKdoes not require a different result, and in factdy held

that state antitrust lawsuits against alleged madatn of indexes that affected retail and
wholesale rates are not preempted by the N&Azinally, the ALJ explained that the
Conocodecision also does not control here because then@gsion has jurisdiction over
matters “intertwined with jurisdictional activituch as what happened héte.

%2892 F.3d 1239 (D.C. Cir. 1996).
°2|D at P 151.

6301d. p 152.

631|d.
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b. Rehearing Request and BP Exceptions

287. BP requested rehearing of the Commission’s HedDirter, specifying nine
errors, of which the first four challenged the Coission’s findings on jurisdictiof*

First, BP contends that the Hearing Order errdwbiding that the Commission may
exercise subject matter jurisdiction as a threshwtter®** In particular, BP cites
section 1(b) of the NGA and the Fifth Circuit’s tivlg in Texas Pipeline Ass’'n v. FERC
661 F.3d 258 (5th Cir. 2011), for the propositibattthe Commission may not pursue
anti-manipulation enforcement with respect to fidadt conduct that occurs outside of
Corgsrllission-jurisdictional markets, such as the sateansportation of intrastate natural
gas.

288. Second, BP states that the Hearing Order erredtarmining that pursuant to
“[s]ection 4A of the NGA and the Anti-Manipulatidtule, the Commission may assert
jurisdiction over conduct that directly affectsigdlictional transactions,” or is otherwise
authorized to do s& Specifically, BP contends that, contrary to Order 670 and the
penalty assessment ordeBarclays 144 FERC { 61,041 at P 113 (involving the pakalle
FPA provision), the “in connection with” elements#ction 4A of the NGA does not
allow the Commission to enforce its anti-manipwaatauthority against non-
jurisdictional conduct that directly affects juristional markets because, analogizing
to the D.C. Circuit’s decision iBlectric Power Supply Ass'n v. FERT53 F.3d 216
(D.C. Cir. 2014), such a rationale would have “maiting principle.”®*® BP further
states that the Hearing Order “applied a straimebaatificially narrow reading of” the
D.C. Circuit’s decision irHunter v. FERC711 F.3d 155 (D.C. Cir. 2013), because, as
BP statesHunterwas not limited to a dispute between two fedegaineies and because
the Commission cannot expand its jurisdicidhBP similarly argues that the
Commission’s jurisdiction is restricted by the D@rcuit’s decision ifConoco v. FERC
90 F.3d 536 (D.C. Cir. 1996), and that there isSregulatory gap” because this is “not

%32 Rehearing Request at 5-7.
®31d. at 5.

®31d. at 13-16.

®%1d. at 5.

®%1d. at 16-17.

8371d. at 18-109.
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such a ‘borderline case’ since “[tihe Commissi@sho jurisdiction over intrastate
transport and sales of natural g&¥.”

289. Third, BP avers that the Commission does not haxisdiction over first sale%?
Fourth and finally, BP states th@hevrondeference would not apply to the
Commission’s interpretation of Order No. 679.1n particular, BP contends that the
statute explicitly prohibits the Commission fromeesising jurisdiction over intrastate
transport and sale of natural §as.

290. BP reiterates these contentions in its exceptionise ID, asserting that the ALJ
erred in finding jurisdiction. BP contends thatf@oeement Staff’'s case concerns BP’s
transportation of natural gas on an intrastatelpipeand NGA section 1(b) expressly
excludes such transportation from the Commissibi@s\ jurisdiction®*? BP further
states that section 4A of the NGA applies only wtien“manipulative device or
contrivance” is “used in connection with the purehar sale of natural gas or
transportation services subject to FERC's jurisdictinder the NGA®® BP thus
claims that the ID erred by positing “that the Coission may reach any conduct—
jurisdictional or not—as long as some other tratisagno matter how remotely) was
priced off an affected index.” BP asserts “thisds the law.***

291. Inits exceptions, BP also contends that the IDrexously rejected, without
reasoned explanation, all federal precedent theféiludd inconsistent with its notion of
jurisdiction. BP states that the ID incorrectlgtthguishedlexas Pipeline Association
on the grounds that the case involved section 2BeoNGA, instead of section 44°

%%1d. at 18-19.

*91d. at 6, 21-24.

%401d. at 6.

%411d. at 24-26.

°42BP Br. on Exceptions at 68-69.
31d. at 69.

644
Id.

6451d. at 72.



Docket Nos. IN13-15-000 and IN13-15-001 -134 -

Similarly, BP claims that the ALJ erroneously digtiishedeEPSAandHunter, cases
which BP argues stand for the proposition thatGbenmission cannot extend its
jurisdiction under the anti-manipulation authomtysection 4A%*°

C. Enforcement Staff Response

292. |In its Brief Opposing Exceptions, Enforcement Ssafites that BP is

incorrect in claiming that federal case law suppd# interpretation of section 4A
jurisdiction. In particular, Enforcement Staff ags with the ID thafexas Pipeline
Associationis inapposite and does not involve section 4AefNlGA, which closely
tracks section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange®XcEnforcement Staff also states
that the Supreme Court’s decisionOWNEOK:Is inapposite because that case involved the
guestion of whether the NGA preempted state astittlaims arising out of conduct
affecting jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional esf*® Enforcement Staff states that BP’s
interpretation of section 4A “would remove from tipaovision’s scope manipulation of
natural gas prices simply because the manipulatemeffected using intrastate (as well
as interstate) sales,” and that the ID correcijgated it®*°

d. Commission Determination

293. We deny the rehearing request and BP’s relatedoinos to the Initial Decision.
Each of BP’s jurisdictional arguments share a comoure assumption: that the
Commission may not exercise anti-manipulation athavhen the fraudulent conduct in
guestion (and not the effect) occurred in non-flicsonal markets. That is not the case.

294. Consistent with Congress’ intent to adopt a “brpehibition on market
manipulation,®° NGA section 4A provides that it shall be unlawfidr any entity

646|d.

%47 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 52.

648|d.

6491d. at 53.

®50151 Cong. Rec. $9255-01, 151 Cong. Rec. S92530MF WL 1795006. In
considering the proposed Energy Policy Act of 2(®&nator Bingaman remarked that
“[tlhe conference report has perhaps some of tlemgest provisions in the area of
protection of energy consumers. Both the eletyrimnd natural gas provisions of the

(continued...)
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directly or indirectly, to use or employ, in connection with the purcharssale of natural
gas . . . subject to the jurisdiction of the Consiug, any manipulative or deceptive
device or contrivance . . . in contravention offsugdles and regulations as the
Commission may prescribe as necessary in the puitdicest or for the protection of
natural gas ratepayers.” Congress’ use of thespHiany entity” in section 4A indicates
its intent to apply the prohibition on manipulatisenduct to more than just jurisdictional
transactions and the persons engaged in such ¢taot&a NGA section 2(6) defines any
“person engaged in the transportation of naturaliganterstate commerce, or the sale in
interstate commerce of such gas for resale,” amtufal-gas company.” NGA sections 4
and 5 accordingly apply all their requirementsrattiral-gas companies.” If BP were
correct that Congress intended to apply the probibon manipulative conduct solely to
persons engaged in jurisdictional transportaticth sales, Congress would have applied
the prohibition to any “natural gas company,” cetet with its use of that term in NGA
sections 4 and 5. But Congress did not do thatth& contrary, it applied the prohibition
to “any entity,” thereby extending the prohibition manipulative conduct beyond the
transactions whose rates terms and conditions dinen@ssion regulates under NGA
sections 4 and 5.

295. Of course, the conduct made unlawful by NGA sectidrmust have the effect

of manipulating the price or terms of sales orgportation transactions that are subject
to our NGA jurisdiction. Section 4A limits the grbition on market manipulation to
conduct that is “directly or indirectly . . . inmoection with the purchase or sale of
natural gas or the purchase or sale of transpaontagrvices subject to the jurisdiction of
the Commission.” Pursuant to the authority seddidrgrants the Commission to
prescribe rules defining manipulative conduct iolsmanner “as necessary in the public
interest or for the protection of natural gas rategs,” Order No. 670 interpreted the “in
connection with” provision of section 4A “as encamsping situations in which there is a
nexus between the fraudulent conduct of an entityaajurisdictional transactiori>*

Order No. 670 also clarified that such a nexustexiden an entity “acts with intent or
with recklessness to affect” the price in jurisitinal transaction&>

conference report contain broad new provisionsi\8uee market transparency and to
prohibit market manipulation.”

%1 Order No. 670, FERC Stats & Regs. 1 31,202 at P 2.

521d. p 22.
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296. However, BP proposes that the Commission’s antiypudation authority only
reaches conduct that occurs entirely within juagdnal markets, and no further. Put
differently, BP suggests that Congress intendetiter manipulatioty jurisdictional
sales or transport, nof them. However, because jurisdictional and noisglictional
markets have become so intertwined over the pastiézades, under BP’s theory an
entity could manipulate jurisdictional markets amd avoid our section 4A penalty
authority by the simple expedient of employing nponsdictional activities as the
instrument of fraud. Such a result would leavésilictional markets exposed and
vulnerable to market manipulation despite Congriggeht to adopt a “broad prohibition
on market manipulatiofi®® and provide “enhanced consumer protection agtiestind
of m%glzet manipulation we experienced in the wessst electricity market 4 years
ago.’

297. Indeed, if BP’s theory were correct, Congress wdalde failed to achieve its
basic purpose in preventing a repeat of importapéets of the western energy crisis,
because some of that market manipulation occum&side jurisdictional markets. For
instance, the fictitious trades that some entrggmrted to the index publishers for the
purpose of manipulating index prices that affegtedictional transactions would not
appear to be jurisdictional (after all, because thiere not real, the fictitious trades did
not involve the sale or transport of interstatauradtgas subject to the Commission’s
jurisdiction), and thus BP would appear to contdrad NGA section 4A does not allow
the Commission to take measures against that beiual. This position chooses form
over substance.

298. BP’s interpretation of the statute is baselessdéscribed above, the anti-
manipulation authority of the Energy Policy Act2§i05 does not simply target
manipulative conduct occurring within jurisdictidmaarkets; it also protects
jurisdictional markets from fraud. That is why t@emmission determined in Order

No. 670 that “the ‘in connection with’ element engmass|es] situations in which there is
a nexus between the fraudulent conduct of an eatitiya jurisdictional transactiof>®
After noting that the energy markets consist ohljatisdictional and non-jurisdictional
activity, the Commission made it clear that thecomnection with” element protects
jurisdictional markets and that, by exercisingditgy to enforce the anti-manipulation
provision of section 4A, the Commission is not aoés not intend to regulate

®53151 Cong. Rec. $9335-01, 151 Cong. Rec. S9333dME WL 1797575.
®54151 Cong. Rec. H6943-01, 151 Cong. Rec. H6942005 WL 1788533.

%> Order No. 670, FERC Stats. & Regs. 1 31,202 &.P 2
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non-jurisdictional activities. As stated in Ordées. 670, the Commission does “not
intend to construe the Final Rule so broadly astovert every common-law fraud that
happens to touch a jurisdictional transaction atoolation of the Final Rule. Rather, in
committing fraud, the entity must have intendedffect, or have acted recklessly to
affect, a jurisdictional transactioi*® In short, the “in connection with” provision of
section 4A authorizes and directs the Commissi@athieve Congress’ purpose in
protecting jurisdictional markets from manipulatiamd in instances when non-
jurisdictional activities serve as the instrumeinthe fraud, then the Commission’s
authority to sanction such activities is merelyidental and does not reflect an attempt or
intent by the Commission to regulate such actigéperally.

299. This is consistent with what the Supreme Courtreasntly said about the nature
of federal and state jurisdiction in today’s conipet but often intertwined energy
markets. IMONEOK, Inc. v. Learjet, Inca pre-Energy Policy Act of 2005 case
presenting the question whether a state-law cafusetion for the manipulation of
indexes that affected retail sales was subjedtddMGA’s field pre-emption because the
same manipulation equally affected wholesale sthesSupreme Court carefully
analyzed the changes that had transpired in thegenearkets since the NGA was
enacted, and chose substance over f3fnhe ONEOK Court recognized that the
“Platonic ideal” of a “clear division between theeas of state and federal authority in
natural-gas regulation” does “not describe the mr@tyas regulatory world,” and the
decisive issue therefore was whether the statespmweifically targeted matters within the
Commission’s exclusive jurisdictich® The Court thus held that state antitrust laws,
which are directed at businesses generally andpegtifically at matters within the
Commission’s exclusive jurisdiction, are not subjecfield pre-emption. And, lest it
appear that this reflects a one-way ratchet thatiges states with the authority to affect
matters within the Commission’s exclusive jurisgintand nowice versathe Supreme
Court subsequently issued a decisioRHRC v. Energy Power Supply As¢&EPSA
affirming the Commission’s authority under the FleAegulate matters in jurisdictional
markets that have an incidental—albeit significamtypact on non-jurisdictional
matters>>® In so doing, th&PSACourt explained that statutory terms such as “in

656
Id.

%57 ONEOK, Inc. v. Learket, Inc575 U.S. ___, 135 S.Ct.1591 (2015).
®581d. at 1601.

®9FERC v. Energy Power Supply Ass577 U.S. _ , 136 S. Ct. 760 (2016)
(EPSA.
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connection with” require “a non-hyperliteral reaglin. . to prevent the statute from
assuming near-infinite breadth” and approved apglya common-sense construction”
interpreting such terms to limit the Commissioniggdiction to “rules or practices that
‘directly affect the [wholesale] rate®® Accordingly, the Court affirmed the
Commission’s authority to regulate demand respamtiee wholesale markets because
“it does not regulateetail electricity sales®* The Court noted that it is inevitable that
the Commission’s authority would have some effechon-jurisdictional markets
because “[i]t is a fact of economic life that thbolesale and retail markets in electricity,
as in every other known product, are not hermdyicaaled from each other” and thus
“transactions that occur on the wholesale marke¢ matural consequences at the retalil
level.”®® Thus it “is of no legal consequence” that “wh#re[Commission] takes
virtually any action respecting wholesale transatdi—it has some effect, in either the
short or the long term, on retail raté8® Put slightly differently, “[w]hen [the
Commission] regulates what takes place on the ghtdemarket, as part of carrying out
its charge to improve how that market runs, themadtter the effect on retail rates,
[Section 201(b) of the FPA] imposes no b&f.”

300. The Commission’s interpretation of the “in connentwith” provision of

section 4A is entirely consistent Wi@NEOKandEPSA As noted above, the
Commission defined that statutory text as requiarigexus between the fraudulent
conduct of an entity and a jurisdictional transafi®®> “Nexus” is just another way of
saying “directly affects,” which is ho&PSAinterpreted phrases such as “in connection
with,” and—not incidentally—it is how the Commisgidself defined the phrase in the
Hearing Ordef®®

%01d. at 786 (emphasis and alterations in original).

%1|d. at 775.

662 Id

663|d.

®41d. at 776.
%> Order No. 670, FERC Stats. & Regs. § 31,202 &.P 2

®%¢ See, e.gHearing Order at PP 21, 25.
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301. TheEPSACourt also applied what amounts to a two-partitedetermining
whether the Commission’s demand response rulesexdbe jurisdictional Rubicon.

The first was whether the rule “addresses—and addeseonly—transactions occurring
on the wholesale market®” The second was whether “the Commission’s jusiiifomns

for regulating [the conduct] are all about, andyaatbout, improving the wholesale
market.®®® For our present purposes, the Commission’s irgéaion and application of
its “in connection with” anti-manipulation authagriis consistent with each of these tests.
In Order No. 670, the Commission addressed itsraatiipulation authority solely in
terms of protecting jurisdictional markets, exphgssclaiming any attempt to expand

its jurisdiction, and defined its scope as requgitiimat “the entity must have intended to
affect, or have acted recklessly to affect, a flicisonal transaction®® The

Commission also justified the Anti-Manipulation Rw@s protecting its jurisdictional
markets’’® and interpreted the provision as reaching onlgéhactivities that have a
“nexus” to jurisdictional market¥! In short, since Congress imbued it with new
anti-manipulation authority, the Commission hasagfsvinterpreted the scope of this
authority solely in terms of protecting jurisdiatel markets, and as such any effect on
non-jurisdictional activities is merely incidentalthis protective function.

302. The various court cases relied on by BP do notiregudifferent result. First,

BP contends that our interpretation of NGA sectlénis inconsistent with the decision
of the Fifth Circuit inTexas Pipeline Association v. FERE In that case, the Fifth
Circuit reversed Order No. 72 in which the Commission relied on NGA section @3 t
require major non-interstate pipelines which perforo interstate service to post certain
scheduled flow information. The Fifth Circuit stdtthat the central question before it
was whether NGA section 23 permits the Commissiacompel the owners of intrastate

®"EPSA577 U.S. __, 136 S. Ct. at 784.

%81d. at 776.

®9 Order No. 670, FERC Stats. & Regs. 1 31,202 at6RR2.
°701d. P 25.

°11d. P 22.

®"2 Texas Pipeline Ass’n v. FERG51 F.3d 258 (2011).

®73pipeline Posting Requirements Under Section 28@Natural Gas A¢FERC
Stats. & Regs. 1 31,283(2008acated by Texas Pipeline Ass’n v. FERE&]1 F.3d 258.
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pipelines to post information concerning purelyastate flow, capacity, and scheduling
information on the intranet. The relevant provisi@f section 23 permit the Commission
to promulgate rules requiring posting of “infornmatiabout the availability and prices of
natural gas sold at wholesale and in interstatenoere” and to obtain that information
from “any market participant.” The Fifth Circuiehl that the jurisdictional provisions of
NGA section 1(b) limit the scope of NGA section&8] preclude the Commission from
requiring wholly intrastate pipelines to disclosgacity and scheduling information.

303. The Fifth Circuit’'s decision iTexas Pipeline Association v. FERGes not
address NGA section 4A and its authorization fer@mmission to prescribe rules
prohibiting “any entity, directly or indirectly” &m engaging in manipulative conduct
“in connection with” any jurisdictional transactiofVe have not interpreted NGA
section 4A as permitting the Commission to adogt@mgoing regulatory requirement
applicable to the ordinary business activitiesafijurisdictional entities, such as was at
issue inTexas Pipeline Association v. FERfhere we required intrastate pipelines to
post daily information about purely intrastate gactions not in interstate commerce.
Rather, we interpret NGA section 4A as allowingoa$y to reach non-jurisdictional
transactions in which an entity intended to affecacted recklessly to affect the price of
a jurisdictional transaction.

304. BP contends that our interpretation of NGA sectldnas permitting us to reach
manipulative non-jurisdictional transactions thif¢et jurisdictional transactions is
contrary to the D.C. Circuit's opinion BPSA v. FERE’* BP argues that there the court
rejected the Commission’s similar assertion ofsdiGtion under the FPA over demand
response on the ground that it directly affectsgictional wholesale rates. BP states
that the court held that such an assertion ofdigi®n was foreclosed by the provision in
section 201(b)(1) of the FPA that the Commissiguisdiction “shall not apply to any
other sale of electric energy” than those spedlficet forth in that section. BP points
out that this provision of the FPA is similar t@tprovision in NGA section 1(b) on

which it relies to claim that NGA section 4A does permit the Commission to assert
jurisdiction to the manipulative use of non-jurigthnal transactions to affect the price of
jurisdictional transactions. However, as descriledve, the Supreme Court reversed the
D.C. Circuit'seEPSA v. FER@ecision, finding that the FPA does permit the Gossion

to regulate practices that directly affect jurisaical rates. Here, we interpret NGA
section 4A as only permitting us to prohibit the w$ non-jurisdictional natural gas sales
and transportation as part of a manipulative schiendérectly affect jurisdictional
markets. We do not assert any general regulatahpaty to regulate the rates, terms, or

674753 F.3d 216 (D.C. Cir. 2014).
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conditions of any such non-jurisdictional naturasgales or transportation. Applying
this protective power to reach fraudulent transastimay have at times a merely
incidental and possibly unavoidable effect on nansgictional natural gas, but the
purpose of doing so is solely to protect jurisdiotl markets from manipulation.

305. BP also contends that the Commission’s interpiatadf the “in connection

with” language in NGA section 4A is inconsistentiwihe D.C. Circuit’s interpretation
of similar “in connection with” language in NGA g&ms 4 and 5 in such cases as
Conoco v. FER(C90 F.3d 536 (D.C. Cir. 1996), aldilliams Gas Processing, L.P. v.
FERC 373 F.3d 1335 (D.C. Cir. 2004). Those casesamrea the issue of when the
Commission may rely on similar “in connection withguage in NGA sections 4 and 5
to set aside the corporate form and regulate agathaffiliate of a natural gas pipeline
as if it were a part of the pipeline, despite thet NGA section 1(b) exempts gathering
from the Commission’s NGA jurisdiction. @onoco v. FERCthe D.C. Circuit stated
that, “as an abstract matter,” it had “no reasoddobt the Commission’s conclusion that
a non-jurisdictional entity could act in a manrfeattwould change its status by enabling
an affiliated interstate to manipulate access arstsoof gathering®> In Williams Gas
Processing, L.P. v. FER@he D.C. Circuit reversed Commission orders ageg this
authority in order to assert jurisdiction over pgline’s gathering affiliate to regulate its
rates, terms, and conditions under NGA sectionsi45a The court found that the
Commission had not shown that actions of the gatgexffiliate in charging high rates
for its non-jurisdictional gathering services hddistrate[d] the Commission’s effective
regulation of the pipeline,” stating that the gaihg company’s affiliate relationship with
the pipeline “neither enhanced nor detracted frisnability to charge high rates or
impose onerous condition8’®

306. Our interpretation of NGA section 4A is not incatent with the D.C. Circuit’s
decisions inConoco v. FER@ndWilliams Gas Processing, L.P. v. FER@/e have
interpreted the similar “in connection with” langeain that section as only permitting us
to reach non-jurisdictional transactions when taeyentered into for the purpose of
directly affecting jurisdictional transactions, kel the situation iWilliams Gas
Processing, L.P. v. FER@here the non-jurisdictional transactions werestown to
have had any effect on the pipeline’s jurisdictidn@ansactions. Moreover, we have not
interpreted section 4A as giving us any authontyelgulate any entity’s rates, terms, and
conditions for non-jurisdictional services pursuenNGA sections 4 and 5 on an

675373 F.3d at 549.

676373 F.3d at 1342-43.
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ongoing basis, as the Commission sought to d¥illams Gas Processing, L.P. v.
FERC

307. Finally, the Commission continues to find BP’saelte on the D.C. Circuit's
decision inHunter v. FERC711 F.3d 155 (D.C. Cir. 2013) to be misplaceadthkat case,
the D.C. Circuit held that the Commission had nasfliction with respect to a
manipulative scheme carried out in the futures miatkecause section 2(a)(1)(A) of the
Commodities Exchange Act (CEA) gives the CFTC “asole jurisdiction” over the
manipulation of natural gas futures contracts. sB€ks to analogize NGA section 1(b) to
CEA section 2(a)(1)(A), arguing that it similarlygvides exclusive jurisdiction to the
states to regulate intrastate natural gas salesiding any use of those sales to
manipulate interstate sales for resale. Howewea)r@ady discussed, the Supreme Court
has rejected such an interpretation of the FPAdlictional provision that corresponds to
NGA section 1(b).

2. The Initial Decision’s Findings of Jurisdiction

308. The ALJ held that Enforcement Staff has proved Casion jurisdiction through
(a) third-party sales for resale transactions prigk the manipulated index; (b) cash-out
transactions priced off the manipulated index; @dP’s own sales of jurisdictional gas
made pursuant to the manipulative sch8fMeBP excepts to all these findings. After
reviewing the evidence, the ID, and the partiesitentions, we determine that
Enforcement Staff proved that BP’s manipulativeesol was in connection with
jurisdictional purchases or sales of natural dagarticular, the three bases for
jurisdiction submitted by Enforcement Staff—thirdrty jurisdictional sales priced to the
manipulated index; cash-out transactions pricadéananipulated index; and BP’s own
jurisdictional sales made as part of its manipuéaicheme—provide individually and
together proof that the Commission has jurisdictgar BPs manipulative scheme.
What follows is our discussion on each of thesedtproffered bases for jurisdiction.

a. Third Party Sales for Resale

i Initial Decision

309. The ALJ held that the Commission’s jurisdiction vpaisved by third party
sales for resale of natural gas whose prices wagged to the Houston Ship Channel
Gas Dailyindex that BP had manipulatéd. The ALJ found that, by providing 46

571D at P 146.

681d. P 147.
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instances of third party sales for resale pricédhef index?”® Enforcement Staff had
proved that the sales in question were sales fal@en interstate commerce, and were
not first sale$®° As an example, the ALJ pointed to a sale forleebg a pipeline
affiliate on November 11-12, 2008 “at an intercastngith Trunkline Gas Company,
LLC, an interstate pipelin€® The ALJ further stated that this example wasanfitst
sale, that the gas was not attributable to theymiiah gas of the pipeline or its affiliate,
and that the transaction was priced off the maated Houston Ship Chann@hs Daily

index %82

310. The ALJ then rejected BP’s arguments to the contr&P had argued that the
Commission could not exercise jurisdiction oveesahat contribute to an index because
this would include intrastate transactiéfis.The ALJ noted that the Commission had
already resolved this legal question in the Hea@nder. BP further argued that
accepting jurisdiction over sales for resale affecain index would be a case of “the
exception swallowing the rule” because it wouldjeaball parties reporting transactions
to jurisdiction, including those not otherwise sdijto the Commission’s jurisdictiéf*
The ALJ rejected this contention, noting that “aumemust exist between manipulative
behavior and Commission jurisdictional transactiomngrder for the Commission to
properly have jurisdictiof®

ii. BP Exceptions

311. BP does not except to the ALJ’s factual finding tine 46 third party sales
for resale presented by Enforcement Staff wereestilhp the Commission’s NGA
jurisdiction and were priced off the Houston Shipa@nelGas Dailylndex. However,
BP states that the ID incorrectly based jurisdicto those third-party sales. BP

®79 SeeEx. OE-161 at 175-191.
0D at P 147.

%811d. P 148.

682 |d

%831d. P 149.

84 1d. P 150.

685|d.
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contends that “[t]his conclusion requires as itgnidation the principle that the
Commission’s jurisdiction can extend to sales thatherwise could not reach merely
because such sales might contribute to an indatky ftontradicting the plain language of
the NgéA and states that “[t]his would be a clagsaise of the exception swallowing the
rule.”

iil. Enforcement Staff Response

312. Enforcement Staff states that the ID correctly fibtimat third-party sales for resale
priced off of the manipulated index provide onei®&sr jurisdiction over the conduct at
issue her&®’ Enforcement Staff contends that BP errs in clagnhat basing
jurisdiction on such sales would extend the Comimiss jurisdiction “to sales that it
otherwise could not reach merely because such saggg contribute to an index” in
contravention of Section 1(b) of the NGX. Enforcement Staff states that the
Commission already rejected this argument in theridg Ordef® Enforcement Staff
further states that BP is wrong in contending &éxagrcising section 4A jurisdiction over
BP’s sales intended to manipulate the index woalgse “the exception [to] swallow(]
the rule.®® Instead, Enforcement Staff avers, BP ignoreskéag requirement” of
Order No. 670 that there must be a link betweemtagripulation and FERC
jurisdictional transaction®" Thus, Enforcement Staff states, the ID correfctynd that
“not every transaction reported would be subjec€bmmission jurisdiction; only those
transactions where there exists a connection betwamipulative behavior and
jurisdictional transactions *?

%% BP Br. on Exceptions at 69.

®87 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 49-53

%%8d. at 50.

*9d. at 51.

690 |d

%91d. (citing Order No. 670, FERC Stats. & Regs. 1 31,20R 22).

%921d. (quoting ID at P 150).
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iv. Commission Determination

313. We agree with the ID and determine that Enforcer¢aff proved jurisdiction
with respect to the 46 third party sales. As alyediscussed, BP’s legal argument is
incorrect. As held in the Hearing Order and reaféid above, the “in connection with”
provision of section 4A of the NGA provides autlipiver manipulative conduct that
directly affects wholesale rat€%. The Commission’s “in connection with” authority i
solely directed at protecting jurisdictional makdiut to do so effectively it must reach
conduct that “directly affects” these jurisdictiomaarkets—that is, there must be a nexus
between the conduct and the matters within the Cigsion’s regulatory jurisdiction—
and in so doing the Commission is not assertinggameral regulatory jurisdiction over
intrastate or first sale natural gas. This is Whobnsistent with the Supreme Court’s
determination that phrases such as “in connectitm’ &re not to be read in a
“hyperliteral” way but rather are read in a comnsemse way that requires there to be a
nexus between the conduct and the jurisdictionaketd® As such, any impact on
transactions involving non-jurisdictional naturalsgs wholly incidental to the
Commission’s duty to protect jurisdictional marketad that sort of incidental effect—
even if it turns out to be significant in scope-ailwable, as the Supreme Court recently
addressed iEPSA Thus, BP is wrong: far from being limited t@ohing only
jurisdictional transactions, the Commission’s anéinipulation authority protects
jurisdictional markets from manipulation, and tprstective duty reaches manipulative
transactions that directly affect jurisdictional nkets—even if the manipulative
instruments happen to involve non-jurisdictionalunal gas. Accordingly, the NGA
authorizes the Commission to employ its anti-malaifpon authority to reach
transactions involving non-jurisdictional naturalsgso long as there is a nexus between
those transactions and a matter within the Comomnssiurisdiction.

314. Thus, in reviewing the facts presented, and thegomg law, we agree that BP’s
manipulation directly and intentionally affectedrthparty jurisdictional sales. As
addressed above, BP’s scheme was designed to faaifhe Houston Ship Channel
Gas Dailyindex, which reflects the volume-weighted averpgees of relevant physical
trades that were reported to the index publisiére purpose of this scheme was to profit
from related financial trades whose value wastieithe manipulated index. That is to
say, the scheme was designed to affect index pnc@snanner that benefited BP’s
related positions. The purpose and necessary goesee of manipulating the index

%93 Hearing Order at PP 23-26.

®“EPSA577U.S. 136 S. Ct. at 774.
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price was to affect the value of everyone’s posgte-physical and financial—whose
value was tied to the index. And, as Enforceméaff $roved, there were at least 46
instances in which third parties made jurisdictiagaes whose value was tied to the
Houston Ship Chann&as Dailyindex that BP manipulatéd® As such, we find that BP
intended to and did manipulate the price of judgsdnal transactions, and thus the
scheme was “in connection with” matters within @@mmission’s jurisdiction.

315. The ID describes one of these examples in dekaiider Morgan Texas Pipeline
LLC sold natural gas to Integrys for flow date Nokeer 11-12, 2008 (i.e. during the
Investigative Period), and the transaction price pegged to the Houston Ship Channel
Gas Dailyindex®®® This gas was interstate in nature because itsofalsat an

interconnect with Trunkline Gas Company, LLC, areistate pipelin€®’ This was a

sale for resalé®® And it was not a first sale because it was nminfKinder Morgan’s (or
an affiliate thereof's) own productidi’ In short, this was a transaction for the purchase
or sale of natural gas subject to the Commissipmisdiction, and because the price was
pegged to an index that BP intentionally manipulatee scheme here directly affected
and was thus “in connection with” a jurisdictiosale.

%% The ID noted that Enforcement Staff and BP “prtetd@ lot of material” in the
portions of their briefs at hearing relating to th@mples of third party sales for resale
that were priced off of the Houston Ship Chartaas Dailyindex and deemed that
protection “unnecessary and [an] abuse of confiditytrules.” SeelD at P 148 n.117.
On exceptions, BP argued that the ID erred “inifigdhat both [Enforcement Staff] and
BP abused the protective order proces3€eBP Br. on Exceptions at 13 (Exception 65).
Enforcement Staff also disagreed with the ID os goint and did not oppose BP’s
exception. SeeEnforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 5@A.2We find that it
IS unnecessary to determine whether the proteofiomaterial in this case abused any
confidentiality rules, but we encourage partieaoid unnecessary protection and
overprotection of information, especially when thmdibrmation has been made public
elsewhere.

%9 D at P 148 (citing Ex. OE-161 at 176; Ex. OE-HIR, P 7; Ex. OE-172
at 3, P 6¢).

%97|d. (citing Ex. OE-172 at 3, P 6¢).
%% |d. (citing Ex. OE-171 at 2, P 8).

%91d. (citing OE-172 at 3-4, P 6c).
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316. After examining the evidence behind the other 4&neples proffered by
Enforcement Staff, we agree with the ALJ that Ecéonent Staff proved that BP’s
scheme was “in connection with” jurisdictional tsaetions.

b. Cash-Out Transactions

i Initial Decision

317. As a second basis for jurisdiction, the ALJ helat tBnforcement Staff further
proved jurisdiction through cash-out transactionsaal off the manipulated Houston
Ship ChanneGas Dailyindex’® Noting that cash-out transactions are jurisdigtlpthe
ALJ found that Northern Natural Gas (NNG) pricesliihbalance charges off of the
Average Gulf Coast Monthly Index Price, which usieel manipulated Houston Ship
ChannelGas Dailyindex, during the investigative periéd. Accordingly, the ALJ found
that the Commission has jurisdiction over NNG’sheast transactions, and therefore
BP’s manipulative trades were in connection witfisjglictional transactions?

318. The ALJ then rejected BP’s contentions otherwBP. argued that the cash-out
transactions are insufficient to establish Comroisgirisdiction because this could lead
to establishing “in connection with” jurisdictiover futures transactions where cash-out
prices incorporate the NYMEX price as a compori&hfThe ALJ determined that this
was without merit because this proceeding did mpiicate NYMEX or CFTC regulated
futures. BP further claimed that the Commissigaigsdiction over cash-out transactions
was restricted by the D.C. Circuit’'s decisiorBRSA In particular, BP contended that
“without boundaries” the Commission’s section 4Aigdiction could extend to include
any factor affecting cash-out pric®8. The ALJ rejected this argument, stating that the
D.C. Circuit’s holding iEPSAaddressed different provisions of the FPA, and held
instead thaBarclaysis a more appropriate comparison because themdspts in that
matter were found to have “traded ‘to affect’ adar ‘which sets the price of both
jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional transactioasid therefore, they are subject to

04, p 153,
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Commission jurisdiction under both Section 222haf EPA and the Commission’s
Anti-Manipulation Rule.”® As the ALJ noted, the Commission’s finding was
subsequently supported by a federal district cauiewing the penalty assessment
order’® The ALJ concluded that, asBarclays Enforcement Staff proved that other
market participants traded off of the manipulatediston Ship Chann&as Dailyindex,
and therefore those transactions—including NNG&heaut transactions—were “in
connection with” the manipulative scheffé.

ii. BP Exception

319. BP states that the ID incorrectly based jurisdictim certain cash-out transactions
priced off the manipulated Houston Ship Charas Dailyindex®® BP suggests that
doing so would transgress the reservation in sedi{b) of jurisdiction over intrastate
gas sales to the statés. BP contends that none of the BP Respondentssubiect to a
cash-out charge, nor were any of BP’s transacgaesuted in connection with the cash-
out transactions at issue here. Instead, BP st@iiesing BP’s contribution to the
[Houston Ship Channefbas Dailyindex and Northern Natural’'s cash-out process @oul
stretch [the Commission’s] jurisdiction far beyahe bounds intended by Congress,
making that jurisdiction essentially unlimited"® BP cites the D.C. CircuitEPSA

%% |d. (quotingBarclays 144 FERC { 61,041 at P 115).

%®|d. (citing FERC v Barclays, et alNo. 2:13-cv-2093-TLN-DAD, 2015 WL
2455538, at 16 (E.D. Cal. May 20, 2015) (“the Caatepts FERC'’s position that the
conduct identified in the Petition — allegedly naulative — involved Defendants making
transactions at California wholesale electricitic@s, and via those transactions, further
influencing California electricity prices; thenjlities, generators, other power marketers,
or individual traders in California and this Distrmade transactions according to those
prices.”)).

707 Id
"8 BP Br. on Exceptions at 70-71.

914, at 71.
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decision for the proposition that “such an extengidjurisdiction is precluded by federal

precedent.®!

iil. Enforcement Staff Response

320. Enforcement Staff states that the ID correctly fibtlmat another basis for
jurisdiction here was the evidence that, durincheaonth of the Investigative Period, an
interstate pipeline priced “cash out” imbalanciiguages off of a composite index that
used the Houston Ship Chan@as Dailyindex manipulated by BB? Enforcement
Staff urges the Commission to reject BP’s contentiwat this is not evidence of
jurisdiction because none of BP’s own transactiwese cash-out transactions and that
predicating jurisdiction on this would make the Goission’s jurisdiction “essentially
unlimited,” and would include futures transacticubject to the CFTC'’s exclusive
jurisdiction/*®* Enforcement Staff states that the ID correctjgaied this proposition
because the cash-out transactions at issue did fautt incorporate transactions subject
to the CFTC'’s exclusive jurisdiction, and becaugsBnanipulation of physical natural
gas trades affected the price of Commission-juctgzhal transactions such as the
cash-out$™ Enforcement Staff also states that the ALJ coiyeejected BP’s claims
that predicating jurisdiction on cash-out transaticonflicts with the D.C. Circuit’s
holding inEPSA’™

iv. Commission Determination

321. The Commission affirms the ALJ’s finding that aretlype of jurisdictional
third-party transaction—called a “cash out’—waalgectly affected by BP’s scheme.
Cash-out transactions are a function of the reafityperating the physical pipeline
system. Market participants sometimes ship or thfizery of more or less natural gas
than their schedules require. If left uncorrectbi creates an imbalance in the pipeline
system and requires the pipeline operator to makessary adjustments. In turn, that
means that pipeline operators submit either chasgeredits to market participants in

711 |d

12 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 53.
"3|d. at 54 (quoting BP Br. on Exceptions at 81).

714 |d
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accordance with their imbalancg8. These cash-in/cash-out transactions are govéryed
a tariff on file with the Commission, and are subj® the Commission’s jurisdictiofl’

As such, if any cash-out tariffs are pegged tonaex that was manipulated, and if there
was a cash-out transaction whose price was peggad index that was manipulated,
then that would cause the manipulation to have bi@eronnection with” a jurisdictional
transaction. For the reasons addressed abovesjeat BP’'s contention that the law
holds otherwise.

322. Furthermore, we agree with the ID’s findings thatdtcement Staff proved
jurisdiction here. As the Initial Decision des@itbit, Enforcement Staff proved that
during the three months of the Investigative Peridarthern Natural Gas Pipeline priced
its imbalance charges off of the Average Gulf Cdéshthly Index Price, which included
the Houston Ship Chann@las Dailyindex/'® After examining the evidence closely, we
agree that the ALJ had it right: during those ¢hmeonths, a pipeline priced its cash-out
transactions on the index that BP had intentionaliyipulated. This means that BP’s
manipulative conduct directly affected, and wasc@mnection with,” jurisdictional
transactions.

C. BP Sales for Resale

i Initial Decision

323. In addition to finding that BP’s manipulative comdudlirectly affected third party
jurisdictional sales that were priced off the HomsEhip Channdbas DailyPrice Index,
the ALJ also found that BP itself made jurisdicibfixed price sales for resale as
part of its manipulative conduct. SpecificallyetALJ held that Enforcement Staff had
also demonstrated Commission jurisdiction by prg\b2 examples in which BP’s
Texas Team engaged in next-day fixed price saleefale of physical natural gas
during the Investigative Peridd® The ALJ held that these sales were jurisdictional

"®35ee, e.gKoch Gateway Pipeline Co. v. FERT36 F.3d 810 (D.C. Cir. 1998)
(describing cash-out transactions and affirming@benmission’s authority to regulate
them).

71D at P 71 (quotingranscontinental Gas Pipe Line Corp5 FERC 1 61,446,
at 62,379 (1991) (“[Clash-out transactions . e. subject to the Commission’s
jurisdiction under sections 4 and 7 of the Nat@at Act.”).

"81d. (citing Ex. OE-173 at 2-3, P 7; Ex. OE 161 at 93482).

191d. P 156.
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because they were made in interstate commercewdeysales for resale, and they were
not first sales?® The ALJ determined that the testimony of EnforeatStaff expert
Bergin proved that these transactions were maddearstate commerce through the
pathing of the natural gas, and agreed that suitiinggserved as a “paper trail” because
tracing natural gas molecules is impossiiteThe ALJ found that the natural gas in each
of the 52 examples had come off of interstate pipsland was subsequently shipped on
intrastate pipelines, which did not transform tbitrastate ga§&> The ALJ further

found that the 52 transactions were sales for eeaaldemonstrated by the documents
used in pathing® Finally, the ALJ found that the 52 sales werefirst sales exempt
from the Commission’s NGA jurisdiction, becauseBasgin testified, none of the sales
came directly from BP’s productidA?

324. The ALJ rejected BP’s arguments otherwise. BRaa that the two example
sales presented in Bergin’s direct testimony wetdinked to the manipulative trading
because both were economic (as that term was ysaddbher Enforcement Staff expert)
and because both were traded after 15 perceneafdfume had already been trad&t.
However, the ALJ found that the two examples werecontradicted by the testimony of
Enforcement Staff's other expert, and noted inipaldr that the two examples were
consistent with BP’s larger scheme to manipulageHtbuston Ship Chann€las Daily
index./?® The ALJ also rejected BP’s contention that theeirsd gas at issue in these
transactions was not jurisdictional because it @dwver Houston Pipeline System, an
intrastate pipeliné?’ Instead, the ALJ found that the natural gassatésvas
jurisdictional because it had been transportedre@st on interstate pipelines, and
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Id.

211d. P 157.
221d. P 158.
21d. P 159.
241d. P 160.
21d. P 161.
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thereafter remained interstate in nat{ffeThe ALJ similarly rejected BP’s claim that it
was inappropriate to use pathing, and that Bergiathing was inaccurate in any
event’® But the ALJ found persuasive Bergin’s testimomgttthe industry uses pathing
as a proxy for tracing gas molecules, and thatipatias through a pool is possitf8.
The ALJ was also persuaded that Bergin’s pathing acaurate, noting that he used
nomination sheets and balancing sheets to maldetesmination, and therefore
accorded his testimony “significant weigH¢*

325. The ALJ also rejected BP’s contention that manio$ales identified by Bergin
were exempt from Commission jurisdicti6$i. BP had cited about 18 examples of sales
involving intracompany sales that it claims areregefrom jurisdiction, because the
Commission found itJtah Powerthat intracompany transactions within an electric
utility are not sales for resale subject to the @ossion’s FPA jurisdictiod®® But the

ALJ determined thdttah Powerdid not address downstream transactions, made
subsequent to an intracompany sale, involving thadies, and therefore found that
these 18 sales identified by Bergin were jurisditail because they involved sales for
resale BP made to third parties after the intracomgsales within BP**

326. BP cited about 18 other transactions that it claamesnon-jurisdictional
first sales” But the ALJ found that those sales by BP werefmooh BP’s own

728
Id.

21d. PP 163-164.
#01d. P 163.

731|d.

321d. P 165.

331d. (citing Utah Power & Light Cq.45 FERC 1 61,095, at 61,296 (198&)er
onreh’g 47 FERC {61,209 (198%rder on reh’'g 48 FERC 1 61,035 (1989ff'd in
part and remanded in part sub nqanvtl. Action, Inc., et al. v. FER®39 F.2d 1057
(D.C. Cir. 1991)).

341d. P 166.

51d. P 167.
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production, and therefore were not first sdf@sBP also stated that those sales were non-
jurisdictional because BP did not ship the subgest on NGA transportation contracts,
relying onWestar Transmission Gat3 FERC 61,050 (1998Y’ In that case, the
Commission held that a Hinshaw pipeline would rextdme subject to the Commission’s
NGA jurisdiction if it purchased natural gas prodddn another state in a first sale
exempt from the NGA jurisdiction and transporteatthas to its system on an interstate
pipeline pursuant to an NGPA section 311 contr&¢éstaralso held that such a

Hinshaw pipeline’s resales of that natural gasaasgf its intrastate sales business would
not subject its downstream intrastate customeld4 jurisdiction. BP contended that

it transported the natural gas in these transaxtmthe Houston Ship Channel on an
intrastate pipeline under NGPA section 311 congraad therefore this transportation
removes its downstream sales at the Houston Stapi@h from NGA jurisdictior*®

327. Butthe ALJ held that the evidence showed thahttearal gas BP sold in these
transactions was shipped to BP by third partiespstream interstate pipelines under
NGA transportation contracts, rather than NGPAieac311 contracts, and that
“jurisdiction over natural gas, from a previousstigam transaction, makes these
transactions jurisdictional.”®® The ALJ agreed with Enforcement Staff's contemtioat
Delhi Gas Pipeline Corporatiqril9 FERC 61,189 (1982), provided a better aryaiog
the case at bar thallestar’*® As the Commission stated Westar in Delhi “the sale
across a state line placing the gas in interstatenoerce was not exempt from the NGA,
but in Westaf the sale, as well as the transportation, acriade 8nes are both exempt
from the NGA.”"** Furthermore, the ALJ noted that unlike the sitratn Westar BP
“is not a Hinshaw Pipeline, and thus its transaxstiare not exempt under the NGA?
The ALJ then found that the gas was transportaadt@rstate commerce, and therefore
Westardid not apply “because the upstream transportat@sdone pursuant to a

736 |d

"*71d. P 168.

*®1d. (quotingWestay 43 FERC at 61,140).
739|d.

“O1d. P 169.

"11d. (quotingWestar 43 FERC at 61,142).
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Commission jurisdictional, NGA transportation c@utrthus placing the gas in interstate

commerce and Commission jurisdictioff™

328. BP also claimed that the two examples provided ésgB in his direct testimony
involved small volumes of gas, implicitly arguirtgat jurisdiction requires a minimum
volume of gag* The ALJ rejected this implicit argument, and hsldt “[rlegardless of
how small the total volume in relation to the largearket, as long as the Commission
has jurisdiction, the jurisdiction must starfd>”

329. The ALJ also rejected BP’s contention that terhefjurisdictional sales claimed

by Bergin must have been outside the Investig®meod because those sales were made
using BP’s September 2007 baseload transportatiotnact and the Investigative Period
did not begin until September 18, 2008. BP furttwrtended that Bergin had conceded
the error in his testimony® The ALJ held that this was a “mischaracterizatioh

Bergin’s testimony, and in addition determined tinat fact that the gas was purchased in
September 2007 was beside the point because theagas fact sold during the
Investigative Period?’

330. The ALJ additionally held that BP’s claims that Bierfailed to account for a
“mismatch” in gas volumes was without méfit. The ALJ examined the examples
provided in Bergin’s direct and rebuttal testim@md determined that there was no
mismatch; rather, this merely reflected a situatitowhich some of the original interstate
gas was later shipped with other §&s.

331. The ALJ further rejected BP’s argument that juigidn was not proved because
Bergin’s 52 examples did not cover 39 of the 73sddyring the Investigative Peridtf.

743|d.

“41d. P 170.
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“81d. P 171.
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The ALJ instead determined that “when taking irdocunt the end of the month
cash-out transactions that relied on the manipdilgieuston Ship Channe@as Daily
index” then “it is clear that all days during theséstigative Period contributed to BP’s
Texas Team’s manipulative schenf"”

332. Finally, the ALJ denied BP’s reiterated objectibatt50 of Bergin's 52 examples
should not have been admitted at the hearing bedhay were not referenced until his
rebuttal testimony>? The ALJ had admitted the examples into evidendteeahearing

over BP’s objection, and held that BP’s providedemson to reconsider that decisioh.

ii. BP Exceptions

333. BP states that the ID erred in holding that the¥@mples of sales of next-day
natural gas by BP’s Texas Team identified by Bemyovide a basis for jurisdictiofi?
BP first contends that the 52 examples should ae¢ lbeen introduced into evidence
because they “were improperly introduced in rethtdstimony” because Enforcement
Staff “sandbagged BP” in introducing those examplethie rebuttal stage>

334. Next, BP states that the ALJ erred in finding tiat fact the gas BP sold in these
transactions had been transported to BP over arstate pipeline was sufficient to
support a finding that BP’s sales of that gas vseilgect to the Commission’s NGA
jurisdiction. BP asserts that natural gas thétaissported on intrastate pipelines pursuant
to NGPA Section 311 may be “interstate” in natima, that NGPA section 601(a)
excludes such gas from the Commission’s NGA jucisoin. BP relies onVestarto

argue that section 311 intrastate service has $teectured specifically to allow the
movement of such gas without any risk that NGAsdidgtion will apply’>® Relatedly,

BP avers that Bergin was not “an expert on [the @@sion’s] jurisdiction over sales

751 |d

2|d. P 174.

753 Id

>4BP Br. on Exceptions at 72-73.
°Id. at 73.

81d. at 73-74.
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and transportation of natural gas” and that ther2d by relying on his opiniofi’ BP
further contends that the ID incorrectly accepteddg’s assertion that he could trace
gas through the Houston Ship Channel géol.

335. BP also states that the two examples provided bgiBen his direct testimony
only relate to one day, October 20, 2008, andttiexe was no link between those trades
and the alleged manipulative tradifi§. BP avers that the first example was not
jurisdictional because it was a first sale that Vader shipped downstream under
Section 311 of the NGPA, which allows movementaf-jurisdictional gas through an
interstate pipeline without any risk that NGA jutistion will apply. BP states that
because the gas was resold within Texas and shgpp&isPA section 311 contracts it
remained non-jurisdictional. BP asserts that beedhis gas was never shipped on an
interstate pipeline under an NGA contract, it remedinon-jurisdictional, both in terms of
transportation and sale, through BP’s sale at thesktbn Ship Channel.

336. BP asserts that the second example also was medigtional because it was an
intracompany transfer and there was a mismatcllumves shipped into and out of the
Houston Ship Channel po8 Lastly, BP contends that Bergin’s other 50 exaspl

did not provide evidence of jurisdiction for 39the 73 days of the Investigative Period,
that none of the 52 examples were tied to the afleganipulative scheme, that the

50 examples do not establish jurisdiction over3felays, that the upstream transactions
were sometimes intracompany transfers (not satag$ale), and that Bergin erroneously
tried7t6(i trace gas through the Houston Ship Chapoell by following the contract

path.

iil. Enforcement Staff Response

337. Enforcement Staff claims that the ID correctly fduhat BP’s own sales of
jurisdictional natural gas provide another basigudsdiction over the manipulative

*71d. at 74.
81d. at 75.
759|d.

®01d. at 76-78.

®11d. at 77-80.
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scheme at issue hef®. Enforcement Staff urges the Commission to refds
objections. First, Enforcement Staff states thatALJ was correct in allowing Bergin’s
additional examples to be introduced in his rebhtgistimony because it was relevant,
because Bergin had referred to the examples idifast testimony, and because it was
cumulative of the examples he introduced in hisditestimony®® Enforcement Staff
contends that BP was not “sandbagged,” that BP khatBergin had identified
additional examples of jurisdictional sales, arat 8P was not prejudiced’

338. Moreover, Enforcement Staff states that BP is irexdrin claiming that the

natural gas at issue in these examples was netljational because of section 311 of the
NGPA/® According to Enforcement Staff, BP’s own expeatihestified that the
purpose of section 311 of the NGPA was to allowasstate pipelines to transport gas in
interstate commerce without the transportationthedgipeline becoming NGA
jurisdictional, and not to exempt the sale of the m interstate commerce from NGA
jurisdiction/®® Enforcement Staff quotes BP’s expert for the pasifion that “gas that is
shipped under a [NGPA Section] 311 contract omé&nastate pipeline remains interstate
gas, notwithstanding the fact that it is shippediprintrastate pipeline®®’ Enforcement
Staff then contends that the ID correctly found thize gas sold by BP at [Houston Ship
Channel] was gas, not produced by BP or an a#ilititat came off of an interstate
pipeline and was in interstate commerce, was ti@tesp on one or more NGPA

section 311 contracts, and then was sold for rdsaP.”®

52 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 55.
®%|d. at 56.
®1d. at 57.
®%1d. at 58.

%% |d. at 58-59 (citing Ex. BP-030 at 13:9-12 (“[U]ndezcion 311, intrastate
pipelines are given statutory authority to transgasin interstate commeroeithout
changing jurisdictional status” (emphasis addeorief), and Tr. 2378:14-2379:4
(Smead)).

*7|d. at 59 (quoting Tr. 2379:5-9 (Smead)).

768|d.
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339. Additionally, Enforcement Staff states that BPniedrrect in claiming that the

52 examples of BP's jurisdictional sales were inkdd to the manipulative scherffé.
According to Enforcement Staff, BP based this catid@ primarily on the time of day
when the trades were executed, but Enforcemerit S&aés that the ID correctly found
that the scheme consisted of multiple changesdtirig patterns as part of a single
scheme, and that the examples of BP’s jurisdictisakes were part of and in connection
with that schemé’® Enforcement Staff also urges the Commissionject&P’s
contention that it was not proved that there warisglictional sales on every day of the
Investigative Period’* Instead, Enforcement Staff avers, it is not regglito do that in
order to establish that BP’s scheme was “in conmeatith” jurisdictional saled’?

340. Furthermore, Enforcement Staff states that thediDectly rejected BP’s
objections that it was not possible to trace th pathe gas sold by BP through a pool,
and that Bergin’s reliance on balancing sheetsmiaplaced.”® Enforcement Staff
contends that Bergin provided substantial evidéhaesuch pathing is commonly
performed in the natural gas industry, and thafdsied to rebut that evidendé*
Enforcement Staff states that the ID correctlyatgd BP’s criticism of the use of
balancing sheets, noting that the ALJ found thahslheets “‘can be used to path natural
gas, as they show where gas is sold and where gaipiped to.”””> Enforcement Staff
also states that the ID found that Bergin reliechomination sheets as well” and thus
correctly gave his testimony significant weidff.

*1d. at 60.
770|d.

771|d.

21d. at 61.
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1d. at 61-62.

|d. at 62 (quoting ID at P 164).
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341. Enforcement Staff also avers that BP’s contentearding the mismatch of gas
volumes is not meritorious, and that the ID cofiserjected the claim’’” Enforcement
Staff agrees with the ALJ’s finding that the alldgaismatch in volume was merely a
situation in which some of the gas was later shdppi¢h other gas, and argues that this
has no impact on the Commission’s jurisdict{6h.

342. Enforcement Staff contends that BP is incorreclaming that 18 of the
examples of BP sales are not jurisdictional becafis@ upstream intracompany s&fe.
Enforcement Staff argues that the ID correctlyidggtished the case on which BP relies,
Utah Power & Light Cq.on the basis that it “did not address downstréamsactions”
and therefore, according to Enforcement Staff|Eheorrectly found that BP’s
subsequent sales for resale to third parties aisgjational. Enforcement Staff also
states that BP relies on a misstatement of Berggssmony regarding an upstream
transfer, and states that in fact Bergin’s testiyts clear that the sale for resale
occurred when the Texas [T]eam sold the gas atgtéouShip Channel] to a buyer that
purchased it for resalé®

343. Finally, Enforcement Staff claims that the ID wasrect in rejecting BP’s
contention (relying oWestaj that 18 other examples of BP sales are not jigtisdal
because they involved upstream first sales of lggtswas later shipped downstream on
NGPA section 311 contract®" Enforcement Staff states that BP is wrong, aatlione

of the gas sold by BP was a first sale becausgdhehat BP purchased from third parties
was not from BP’s own productidff?

344. Enforcement Staff further states that BP is migtakben it claims that the gas
remained non-jurisdictional because it was nevgp&d on an interstate pipeline under
an NGA transportation contra Instead, Enforcement Staff states that the |Dewtly

777|d.

81d. at 63.
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reviewed the evidence when it found that the thaidy gas was in fact shipped on an
NGA transportation contract before it was ultimatebld by BP at Houston Ship
Channel’® Enforcement Staff agrees with the ID tiétstarin inapplicable on this
evidence, and th@elhi Gas Pipeline Corpis a more analogous precedéfit.
Enforcement Staff further agrees with the ID ta&dstaris distinguishable for other
reasons, including the fact that, unlikeAfestar BP is not a Hinshaw Pipeline, and
because the question\¥estarwas whether Westar or its downstream customersdwvou
become subject to the Commission’s jurisdictiofiredural gas companies” whereas the
issue here was whether BP made jurisdictional sdlgas in a scheme to manipulate the
market’®® Enforcement Staff states that the examples of BRles were jurisdictional
because “they were sales for resale of naturaingiaserstate commerce that was not
from BP’s own or an affiliate’s production, and tiecorrectly finds that the fact that
there was an upstream ‘first sale’ or upstreanmspartation on a 311 contract does not
makeBP’s sales of the gas at [Houston Ship Channelj-jurisdictional.”®’

iv. Commission Determination

345. We find that the ALJ correctly admitted into eviderall of Bergin’s testimony
concerning BP’s jurisdictional fixed price salesdave affirm the ALJ’s finding that
BP’s manipulative scheme included at least 52 fpece sales for resale subject to our
NGA jurisdiction. Below, we first address BP’s eption to the ALJ’'s evidentiary
ruling, and we then address its contentions omrtésts of the ALJ’s findings concerning
jurisdiction.

346. Enforcement Staff's withess Bergin provided in &eptember 22, 2014 direct
testimony a detailed explanation of the documergapport for two examples of BP’s
next-day, fixed price sales for resale of inteesgds at the Houston Ship Chanf&lin
addition, Bergin stated in his direct testimonytthe had reviewed additional BP sales
for resale of interstate gas at Houston Ship CHasmether specified days during the

841d. at 65-66.
8d. at 66.

786 |d
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Investigative Period®® Bergin stated that Enforcement Staff was stitidwcting
discovery to obtain information about those otlades. In his February 11, 2015 rebuttal
testimony, Bergin provided a detailed explanatibthe additional 50 examples
following the same template he used for the twargdas detailed in his direct
testimony. The Commission finds that the ALJ readdy accepted into evidence
Bergin’s rebuttal testimony on the additional 5@mmples, because the subject evidence
was relevant, Bergin previously had referred togkamples in his direct testimony, and
that the additional examples in his rebuttal testi;mwere cumulativé® In addition,
following the February 11, 2014 submission of thleuttal testimony, BP had time

to prepare to cross examine Bergin on the additiexemples at the late March-early
April hearing.

347. We now turn to the merits. In each of the 52 taatisns at issue, a third pafty
transported the natural gas over an interstatdipgand one or more NGPA section 311
pipelines to an interconnection with the HoustopeRine*? The third party then sold

the natural gas to BP at that interconnect, andr&#ported that gas on the Houston
Pipeline under an NGPA section 311 contract tdtbeston Ship Channel pool, where
BP sold the natural gas. BP recognizes that thealagas it sold at the Houston Ship
Channel pool was in interstate commerce, becawsthitd party from which it
purchased the natural gas had transported thengais opstream interstate pipeline.

BP also does not contest the ALJ’s finding thabus sales at the Houston Ship Channel
were not “first sale” exempt from the Commissiojuigsdiction, because BP is an
affiliate of a pipeline and its sales were not freitier its own production or that of an
affiliate.”®®> However, BP nevertheless contends that manyesktisales were exempt
from NGA jurisdiction for various other reasons.

81d. at 156.
"0 g5eeTr. 1780:18-1787:8; Tr. 1787:9-17 (Bergin).

"11n some instances, the “third party” from which’8FPexas Team bought the
natural gas was another division of BP.

"2 The details of each example are set forth in BEx-101 at 111-191.

"% NGPA section 2(21)(B) expressly excludes fromftret sale definition any
sale of natural gas by a pipeline, LDC, or thefilliates, except when the pipeline, LDC,
or affiliate is selling its own or an affiliate’sqgduction. Amendments to Blanket Sales
Certificates Order No. 644, FERC Stats. & Regs., Regulatioesiibles 2001-2005
131,153, at P 14 (2003). The record testimortyeiar the BP is a pipeline affiliate.

(continued...)
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348. First, BP contends that section 601(a) of the NG&Anterpreted by the
Commission inWestar exempts 18 of these s&l®¥from NGA jurisdiction, because the
upstream third party sales to BP were exemptdatds and the third party allegedly
shipped the natural gas to BP under NGPA sectidntiahsportation contracts also
exempt from NGA jurisdiction. IWestar a Hinshaw pipeline located in Texas
purchased natural gas from a producer in Oklahonagfirst sale exempted from the
Commission’s NGA jurisdiction by NGPA section 60(3. The Hinshaw pipeline
transported that gas to its system on an interpiptdine pursuant to an NGPA
section 311(a) contrd¢t exempted from the Commission’s NGA jurisdiction @ PA
section 601(a)(2). The Commission held that theskiaw pipeline’s resales of that
natural gas as part of its intrastate sales busweslId not subject either it or its
downstream intrastate customers to NGA jurisdictidhe Commission explained that
the only reason the downstream transactions wdrgdrstate commerce and thus
potentially subject to NGA jurisdiction was becaa$¢he two exempt upstream
transactions. As a result, the Commission fouatl RHGPA section 601(a)(1)(B}° and
601(a)(2)(B) exempted all the downstream transastfoom NGA jurisdiction, because
that section exempts “any person” from becomingatural gas company” solely by
reason of exempt transactions.

349. BP’s reliance oWestarto argue that these 18 sales are exempt from NGA
jurisdiction suffers from one fatal flaw: in eachthose sales, BP was selling natural gas
which a third party had previously transported onrderstate pipeline pursuant to an

Ex. OE-37 at 7See alsdx. No. OE-161 at 92:2-3 (Bergin Reb. Testi) i€ not

disputed that the relevant BP entities in this @asepipeline affiliates.”). In additiohée
ALJ found that BP stated in response to a datagsighat “BP . . . would not have had
any equity gas produced and or delivered in the ega” (ID at P 160 (citing, Ex. OE-
188 at 6)), and at hearing BP’s Witness Clyneseabtikat the term “equity gas” referred
to natural gas produced by either a BP entity oaBiRate. 1d. (citing Tr. 2357:1-4
(Clynes)).

94 SeeBP Br. on Exceptions at 78 n.369 (identifying f8sales for which it
makes this argument). These sales include orfeeadtamples included in Bergin’s
Direct Testimony (Example 1).

"9 NGPA section 311(a) permits the Commission to @ik any interstate
pipeline to transport natural gas on behalf ofrdarastate pipeline.

"% This provision is now NGPA sections 601(a)(1)(C).
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NGA contract, rather than an NGPA section 311(afremt’®’ The various references
by Enforcement Staff's witness Bergin to upstreeandportation pursuant to NGPA
section 311 contract€® cited by BP, relate to transportation on intrasgpelines that
were necessary to take the gas from the intergipédine to Houston Pipeline. Thus, in
this case, unlik&estar NGPA sections 601(a)(1) did not exempt the upstre
transportation on an interstate pipeline from tloengission’s NGA jurisdiction. As a
result, it cannot be found that the only reasonsB8 sales were in interstate commerce
was because of upstream exempt transactions.e$e ttircumstances, the reasoning in
Westaras to why NGPA sections 601(a)(1)(C) and 601(&p(vould exempt
participants in downstream transactions from beogmiatural gas companies subject to
NGA jurisdiction is inapplicable.

350. Instead, the Commission’s decisiorDelhi Gas Pipeline Cor®® governs in this
case. Inthat case, an intrastate pipeline puechaatural gas in an interstate sale which
NGPA section 601(a)(1) did not exempt from NGA gdiction. An interstate pipeline
transported the natural gas to the intrastate ipgeinder an NGPA section 311(a)
contract, which NGPA section 601(a)(2) did exemptrf NGA jurisdiction. The
Commission found that the intrastate pipeline’sssegjuent sales for resale and
transportation of the natural gas were subjedié¢oc@ommission’s NGA jurisdiction,
even though the upstream section 311(a) transportatas not. The Commission
explained that this was because the upstream kel the natural gas in interstate
commerce was subject to the NGA and therefore N&&dion 601(a)(1)(D) could not
prevent the downstream companies from becomingalajas companies subject to the
Commission’s NGA jurisdiction. In short, for theegedent inNestarto apply, all
upstream transactions, including both sales ams$p@tation, must be exempt from

NGA jurisdiction. Here, because the upstream frartation on the interstate pipelines
was subject to NGA jurisdiction, BP’s subsequeldséor resale in interstate commerce
were subject to NGA jurisdiction, despite the fiet third parties’ upstream sales to BP
in the 18 instances cited by BP were exempt fromAN@isdiction.

97 See Ex. OE-167 at 173-175 (showing that one oftting parties’ upstream
contracts with an interstate pipeline was purst@ttiat pipeline’s Part 284, subpart G,
NGA section 7 blanket certificate to perform openess transportation service)eeS
alsoEx. OE-001 at 141, 142, 145.

8 Ex. OE-161 at 110-121 and 129-133.

9919 FERC 1 61,188 (1982).
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351. Second, BP contends that the ALJ erred in findimgflaer 18 of its sales were
subject to NGA jurisdictiofi”® BP contends that these sales are exempt from NGA
jurisdiction, because these were sales of nataslitgobtained in intracompany
transactions. BP stated thatdtah Powerthe Commission held that intra-company
transactions by and between the two divisions atégales for resale” subject to the
Commission’s FPA jurisdictiof”* This contention by BP fails for the same reasiisa
contention concerning BP’s sales of natural gasthial parties had sold to it in first
sales exempt from NGA jurisdiction. In all 18 oPB sales of natural gas it obtained in
intracompany transactions, the natural gas had trbeesported on an upstream interstate
pipeline under transportation agreements that wehbgect to NGA jurisdictiofi*?
Therefore, because the upstream transportationterstate pipelines was subject to
NGA jurisdiction, nothing in NGPA section 601 exeegh BP’s subsequent sales of that
natural gas at the Houston Ship Channel from NG#&gliction.

352. Third, BP asserts that Bergin’'s examples of salesdsale are flawed because
Bergin attempted to trace gas through the Housham Shannel Pool by using BP’s
scheduling sheets to match the contract numbers@nchess® However, BP argues
that the spreadsheets Bergin used to accomplishviitie created and maintained for
balancing purpos€$? Moreover, BP asserts that the pool is a poolivigtithat
aggregates and commingles gas and Bergin failaddount for the mismatch in volumes
shipped into and out of the pd8F.

353. The ALJ addressed this argument in the ID. In@asp to allegations that
Bergin’s pathing was inappropriate, and that itripossible to trace gas, the ALJ noted
that witness Patrick Clynes (Clynes) testified thatHouston Ship Channel Pool “has a
lot of gas coming in, a lot of gas going out. e same gas, but the same volume,” and

890 5eeBP Br. on Exceptions at 79 n.372 (identifying sades for which BP
makes this argument). These sales also includefaihe examples included in Bergin’s
direct testimony (Example 2).

811D at P 165 (citindJtah Power 45 FERC 61,095 at 61,296).
802Ex. OE-161 at 111-122, 126-129, and 132-133.

893 BP Br. on Exceptions at 77 (citing Ex. OE-001 54:5-155:30).

804d. (citing Tr. 2315:23-2316:14, 2337:11-2341:7, 234R341:6 (Bergin)).

805|d.
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that Bergin agreed that physical molecules canadtdced®® The ALJ acknowledged
Bergin’s explanation that the industry uses patlis@ proxy for tracing physical natural
gas molecule®’’ and that there is no distinction between a poden&nd physical

meter, in terms of pathing gas. Therefore, the Adasoned that pathing natural gas
through a pool is possible.

354. Moreover, the ALJ found that Bergin used both bailagy sheets, which reflect
where gas is sold and where gas was shipped teelhas nomination sheets to make his
pathing calculations. The ALJ notes that nomimatibeets lists all the upstream
contracts from where the gas is coming from ancere/the gas is being taken to, what
meter, and one of those meters is the meter fodtheston Pipeline System pdSf. In
conclusion, the ALJ found that Bergin’s testimosya be given significant weight.

355. Given these findings by the ALJ, we cannot gragigicant weight to BP’s
argument and suggestion that “Bergin relied on Beleeduling sheets to purportedly
track sales and purchases through the [Houston@tmnel] Pool by matching the
contract numbers and volumeé8® As pointed out by the ALJ, Bergin also utilized
nomination sheets, which list all the upstream i@ms$ from where the gas is coming
from and where the gas is being taken to, in cimleomplete his analysis of the contract
path of the subject sales. BP does not discussamoanalysis of these two types of
documents would fail to develop a legitimate papaft of the subject sales. It focuses
instead on merely reiterating that scheduling shaet created and maintained for
balancing purposes only. BP also adds that thestdauShip Channel pool is a pooling
point that aggregates and commingles gas and Bfaidga to account for the mismatch
in volumes shipped into and out of the pool. The) Adiscussed this type of mismatch of
volumes at the Houston Ship Channel pool as watljrig that this mismatch is “merely
a situation where some of the original interstate Wwas later shipped with other gas; it
does not mean there is a mismatch fatal to proiagCommission’s jurisdiction in this

899D at P 163 (citing Tr. 2341:10-12 (Bergin); EXEQ61 at 89:20-21).
8071d. (citing Ex. OE-161 at 95:17-19).
898 1d. P 164 (citingTr. 1705:9-12 (Bergin)).

809 Bp Br. on Exceptions at 77 (footnote omitted). the ALJ stated, Witness
“Bergin relied on multiple documents in conductimg pathing calculations. He did not
solely rely on balancing sheets in making his dattens, andsuggesting he did
otherwise is incorrect ID at P 164 (emphasis added).
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case.®*® BP has not provided any argument to show thataisynatch of volumes at the
Houston Ship Channel Pool would somehow invalidageALJ’s finding of jurisdiction
in this matter.

356. BP argues that in direct testimony, Bergin attemhpdepresent only

two examples of BP sales for resale at Houston Ghannel during the 73 days

that comprise the Investigative Period. BP argbhasboth examples concerned gas that
BP transported on October 20, 2008 and neither phaai® jurisdictional. BP argues that
no link between the transactions and the allegedipntative trading was established.
BP asserts that both of the example trades occaftedtrading started at both the
Houston Ship Channel and Katy markets and wereanmntrades. BP argues that
because of these factors Bergin’s direct testime@amples do not reflect the so-called
manipulative characteristics that Abrantes-Metedsd as the basis for the alleged
manipulative scheme. First, the ALJ found thad Hillegation was contradicted by the
testimony of Abrantes-Metz who testified that dgrthe Investigative Period, the

Texas Team changed its trading patt&rrend that such trading pattern changes were
“consistent with an effort to influence other margarticipants and to reinforce artificial
downward pressure on the [Houston Ship Channel]iZ&ly index.? Accordingly,

the ALJ found that the two examples BP focuses erewart of BP’s larger scheme to
manipulate the Houston Ship Chan@eals Dailyindex, and are connected to the
manipulation.

357. Finally, BP contends that Bergin’'s examples ofgdictional sales were not tied
to the manipulative scherf& BP contends that both the sales included in B&rgi

Direct Testimony occurred after trading began atigion Ship Channel and Katy, both
were economic as defined by Abrantes-Metz, and Wetle traded after 15 percent of the
Houston Ship Channel market had already been tradékdat day** Enforcement Staff
states that the examples were part of the manipol3 We agree. BP’s proposition

891D at P 172.

8111d. P 161 (citing Ex. OE-129 at 31:1-6).
812|d. (citing Ex. OE-129 at 31:15-17).

813 Bp Br. on Exceptions at 78.

841D at P 161.

815 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 60.
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appears to us to be that conduct must rakketf Abrantes-Metz’s indicia before it can be
found to be manipulative. But that is not the caBke indicia of manipulation are
simply factors that indicate potential manipulatiand a particular sale need not exhibit
every factor to be part of a manipulative schemmeany event, the examples meet at
least some of the indicf4® Moreover, as Bergin explained, according to bas@mnomic
principles known to all traders, increasing supplypther conditions being equal, will
depress price$! The evidence indicates that, using supply thahitsported from

Katy to Houston Ship Channel, the Texas Team wiiagapproximately three and a
half times more gas at Houston Ship Channel duhadnvestigative Period than earlier
in 2008%'® BP’s 52 jurisdictional sales discussed in thistise were part of its increased
selling at the Houston Ship Channel. Thus, thea$&eam must have known that these
sales were adding supply to the Houston Ship CHamakket,with an attendant effect

on prices. Therefore, we agree with the ID thateakamples were instruments of the
manipulation.

V. Remedies

A. Disgorgement

1. Hearing Order and Initial Decision

358. In the Hearing Order, the Commission directed thd o “make findings
concerning the amount of profits obtained by BPittoalleged manipulated trading
conduct, entertaining any reasonable method fauéaing this amount, and provide
both a gross number of profits and a net amountibducts BP’s losses from its
physical trading 3*°

816 SeeEx. OE-161 at 110-174See alsdx. OE-175 (indicating that BP sold for
resale 30,000 MMBtu of natural gas at 8:14 a.nHa@aiston Ship Channel to one
counterparty on October 28, 2008 to flow the next)dd. (indicating that BP sold
for resale 10,000 MMBtu of natural gas at Houstbip&hannel on October 9, 2008 at
8:18 a.m. to flow the next day).

817 Ex. OE-001 at 105:6-8.
818|d. at 105:8-10.

819 Hearing Order at P 49 (vi).
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359. The ALJ gave consideration to the evidence put éodby Enforcement Staff and
by BP. Enforcement Staff contended that BP grobstdeen $233,330 and $316,170
from the schem&° Enforcement Staff derived this figure from Bergitestimony
applying Abrantes-Metz’s analysis of price impaoih “but-for pricing” to BP’s
exposure to the Houston Ship Chan@ek Dailyindex each montf#* From this gross
figure, Enforcement Staff contended that Bergi@laltted the net profits by deducting
the losses from BP’s physical trading, resultingét profits between $165,749 and
$248,589%%? In particular, Bergin calculated gross profitingsBP’s total Houston Ship
ChannelGas Dailyexposure each month because such exposure bdrfedite the index
price manipulation, and then used Abrantes-Metztsraates of artificial price to obtain a
second measure of gross proffts. The ALJ stated that BP did not dispute the usb®f
total Houston Ship Chann€las Dailyexposure to derive gross profits, or any evidence
disputing Abrantes-Metz’s methodolo@fy. Enforcement Staff further approximated
BP’s net profits by subtracting its next-day fixedee losses at Houston Ship Charifi@l.

360. The ALJ rejected BP’s counterarguments. FirstAhé rejected BP’s contention
that the estimates were not reliable because tleeg hased on hypotheticals; the ALJ
noted that the Commission has upheld disgorgenmeatiats calculated using such
method$?® Next, BP proposed a counterexample which modiietyin’s historical
analysis to reflect incremental P&L of Houston S@ipannel compared to Katy, which
BP contended was superior because it removed hrozatiet price movements’ The
ALJ found that the hypothetical P&L of $50,000 abubt be supported because it was
predicated on the assumption that the team solaf &8 physical volumes at Katy rather
than Houston Ship Channel; yet the ALJ found thd@bEement Staff never suggested

820|D at P 265.

8211d. P 271 (citing Ex. OE-001 at 118:8-119:2).

822|d. (citing Ex. OE-001 at 119:7-10).

823|d. P 273 (citing Ex. OE-161 at 51:9-11).

8241d. (citing Ex. OE-129 at 138:1-139:20, 147:6-148:5).
823|d. (citing Ex. OE-161 at 51:12-13).

826|d. (citing Barclays 144 FERC 61,041 at P 150).

8271d. P 268.
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that BP sold all of its gas at Kat§? BP’s next contention was that P&L should be
calculated by taking the difference between thaloegated Houston Ship Channel price
and the actual index, which results in gross psafftabout $35,000 and no net proffts.
The ALJ denied the approach of using Evans’s catmui of P&L against what the index
might have been absent BP’s sales, in part becaigsmred the impact on volume
caused by BP’s increased s&f8sBP’s last proposition was that Bergin’s actuallP&
calculation should be modified by Abrantes-Metzypdithetical “but for” analysis to
show the financial position’s impact on prié&s.The ALJ also rejected this contention,
stating it is “unreliable since it double-counts'8®sses and it is also inconsistent with
his P&L against-the-indexX2®? Finally, the ALJ stated that while the law sugpor
defendants “when they have shown that the govertisnéisgorgement figure was not
reasonable,” the ALJ actually found that BP hadestablished thi&*

361. Accordingly, the ALJ found that Enforcement Stadfdhproven that the gross
profits were between $233,330 and $316,170, artdhbanet profits from the scheme
were between $165,749 and $248,8¥9.

2. BP Exceptions

362. Inits brief on exceptions, BP states that the Atréd in adopting Enforcement
Staff's gross profits computatioft§. In particular, BP contends that Bergin’s profit
computations “used a combination of hypotheticaialdes and actual pricing data and

8281d. P 274 (citing Exs. BP-037: 17-19; OE-161 at 5056162); Ex. OE-129 at
131:11-132:2).

8291d. P 269.

8301d. P 274 (citing Exs. OE-129 at 65:5-67:2; OE-211%.1-76:2; OE-161 at
52:14-18).

81l1d. P 270.
8321d. P 274.
8331d. P 275.
8341d. P 271.

83°BP Br. on Exceptions at 84.
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omitted or replaced relevant information” and thp®duced distorted and misleading
profit computations that do not accurately refibet result of BP’s trading activitie§>

BP states that Bergin failed to consider all of 8positions, and thereby obscured the
financial performance relative to the actual PEL.BP also states that Bergin's
historical P&L analysis was flawed “because it uaethial P&L instead of incremental
P&L” which “excludes the broader price movements thffect P&L in ways that would
have occurred with or without the alleged manipuéaimpacts,” and that Bergin should
have used incremental P&E® BP also contends that Bergin’s but-for analysis
erroneously mixed real pricing data outcomes withnterfactual estimates, and this use
of hypothetical gains and actual losses “is amitlal mismatch.®° BP similarly states
that Bergin’s but-for analysis is inconsistent wtaff expert Ronn’s market impact
analysis because they do not account for additialtedjed losses from exposure to
Katy.#*® Furthermore, BP states that Abrantes-Metz’s firfggact analysis was flawed
because it did not consider a historical period aheyh level of uncertainty embedded in
the artificial price estimat&'

363. Instead, BP contends that a proper methodologydwslubw that it lost money on
its trading®*? First, BP states that if Bergin’s analysis hadliegd incremental P&L of
Houston Ship Channel compared to Katy, it wouldehsivown that BP lost a net of
$50,000 after transport co$fs. Second, BP states that Bergin's P&L analysis khbe
modified to provide what it calls a “more relevabtit-for analysis of P&L, and states
that Bergin himself did not challenge this appro¥éhThird, BP states that modifying
Bergin’s actual P&L analysis to use Abrantes-Metris-for calculation of artificial

836 |(. at 85.

837|d.
8381d. at 86.
839|d.

840 |d

841d. at 85.

842|d. at 87.

843
Id.

844 |d
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price—what BP calls a “counterfactual” analysis—g#enet profits of $47,000-$74,000,
which BP avers starkly contrasts with Bergin’srastie of $225,000-$304,06¢ In so
doing, BP argues that the ID fails to address BRidence.

3. Enforcement Staff Response

364. Enforcement Staff urges the Commission to rejecs BBjections and to adopt
the ALJ's findings*® Enforcement Staff emphasizes that the Commigsieviously
determined that disgorgement “need only be a me@sie approximation of profits
causally connected to the violation,” and stated the ALJ correctly found that
Enforcement Staff had done 8. Enforcement Staff contends that BP is incornect i
claiming that there is anything inappropriate ab®dbitantes-Metz’s estimates of price
differences, likening what was done here to what d@ne irBarclays—namely, that
“[e]xposure multiplied by an estimate of price di#nce is what Enforcement Staff did
here.®*® Enforcement Staff further states that it wasinobnsistent to use BP’s total
Houston Ship Channéas Dailyexposure to calculate disgorgement, and BP’s Henry
Hub exposure to determine intéft.

365. Enforcement Staff also contends that the ALJ didenmneously reject BP’s
alternative P&L measures. First, BP’s hypothet®%0,000 P&L “assumed that the
Texas [T]eam soldll its physical volumes at Katy instead of [HoustdmpSChannel],
despite [BP expert Evans’s] admission that Enfoer@nStaff never suggested BP should
always have sold at Katy instead of at [Houstomp $Hiannel].**° Second, Enforcement
Staff states that BP’s “P&L against-the-index” aggirh used a hypothetical index that
removed all of BP’s transactions from the market this was incorrect because it
ignored the “informational” and “volumetric” effectf BP’s trading on market
participants>! Enforcement Staff also states that BP is fagriatiorrect when it

#°1d. at 88.

846 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 71-73
#71d. at 71.

#%1d. at 71-72 n.307.

#91d. at 72.

8504,

811d. at 72-73.



Docket Nos. IN13-15-000 and IN13-15-001 -172 -

contends that Bergin did not challenge this apgrpand ignores the portion of his
testimony where “he explicitly challenged 2 Third, Enforcement Staff states that
BP’s “counterfactual” P&L “double-counted BP’s lessand was inconsistent with
[BP's] ‘P&L against-the-index.®* Enforcement Staff instead states that the ALJ was
correct in stating that BP’s expert “incorrectlyriped together Abrantes-Metz’s
estimates of the price effects of BP’s shift tdieasales and BP’s transport of excess
volume to [Houston Ship Channel], even though theseestimates were not
additive.”®™* Finally, Enforcement Staff states that BP citesa evidence that
overcomes the flaws in its alternative P&L measfites

4. Commission Determination

366. After reviewing the evidence and arguments, weeawi¢h the ALJ that
Enforcement Staff provided a “reasonable estimateinjust profits. It is well
established that, for Enforcement Staff, “disgorgmt need only be a reasonable
approximation of profits causally connected tovtwation.”%*® Once Enforcement
Staff has met its burden of introducing a reasanapbroximation, BP is “then obliged
clearly to demonstrate that the disgorgement figuae not a reasonable
approximation.®®’ We find that Enforcement Staff proposed a reasienmethod and
used a reasonable and accurate approach to deicglculations. The burden then
shifted to BP to show that Enforcement Staff’'smate was not in fact reliable, and that
BP’s alternative approach was reasonable.

82|d. at 73 (citing in part Ex. OE-161 at 52:4-53:8 &t P 274).

853|d.
854
Id.

855 4.

8%Barclays 144 FERC 1 61,041 at P 148 (quotBi§C v. Whittemore
659 F.3d 1, 8 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (quoting in p&EC v. First City Fin. Corp 890 F.2d
1215, 1231 (D.C. Cir.1989))3ee also Zacharias v. SEB69 F.3d 458, 470 (D.C.
Cir. 2009) (quoting sameBEC v. Patel61 F.3d 137, 139 (2d Cir. 1995) (the
disgorgement amount “need only be a reasonablezaippation of the profits causally
connected to the violation.”flIstate Ins. Co. v. Receivable Fin. Co., LI5D1 F.3d 398,
413 (5th Cir. 2007) (quoting same).

857 SEC v. First City Fin. Corp., Ltd890 F.2d 1215, 1232 (D.C. Cir. 1989).



Docket Nos. IN13-15-000 and IN13-15-001 -173 -

367. We agree that one reasonable approach to estims gains is to calculate the
product of the estimate of the scheme’s impactrarep (that is, the amount by which the
index was moved by the manipulation) and the stlsjbenefiting position (that is, the
volume exposed to the manipulated index). It feidhat subtracting losses suffered in
the physical trades (which were used to manipukeendex) from the gross gains is a
reasonable way to approach disgorgement. We dagret with BP that this is
unreasonabl&® From our assessment of the evidence, we agréethgtALJ that this is
the approach that Enforcement Staff used heretraidnforcement Staff's approach
was reasonable.

368. The next question is whether Enforcement Staff nmtadeonable calculations in
determining gross and net gains. We find thaidit &nforcement Staff reasonably
calculated that the gross gains here were in thgeraf $233,330 to $316,170, and that
the net gains were between $165,749 and $248,68&n this reasonable range, we will
select the mid-point. Accordingly, we find that BRould be disgorged of $207,169.

B. Penalty Guidelines Factors

369. In the Hearing Order, the Commission directed thd #o make certain fact
findings that relate to certain elements of thedigrGuideline€™® In particular, the
ALJ was to make findings as to (1) the number ofations, if any, and the number of
days on which such violations occurred; (2) the am@f loss, the quantity of natural
gas affected (financial and physical), and the tilbma(3) whether BP “committed any
part of the [alleged] instant violation less thapears after a prior Commission
adjudication . . . or less than 5 years after gadacation of similar misconduct by any
other enforcement agency”; (4) whether the viotatigolated a judicial or Commission

858 Because we find that Enforcement Staff's appraaas reasonable, we do not
need to address BP’s alternatives. Nevertheles$ing that the alternative approaches
as articulated by BP are not more reasonable théoré&ement Staff’'s approach. In
particular, it was not necessary to require thasB#3ses include transportation costs
between Katy and Houston Ship Channel, and we seglvantage in using a model that
simply removes a market participant's manipulatraeles from the market, thereby
ignoring the dynamic impact on other traders. \Ige agree with Staff that BP’s third
proposal appears to double-count BP’s losses.

89 Hearing Order at PP 48-49.
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order or injunction”; and (5) findings respecting§’B compliance program, including
each of the factors specified in § 1B2.1 of thedfgrGuidelines®

370. The ALJ made findings respecting these five factdk&e will address each in
turn. BP makes a general objection that the Atdisclusions regarding the statutory
factors for assessing penalties are flawed, antends that Enforcement Staff was
unable to substantiate its computations or allegaf* We reject that general
proposition, and address each of the factors m tur

1. Number of Violations

a. Initial Decision

371. Two sets of proposals were put before the ALJ.oEi@ment Staff contended that
BP committed hundreds of violations during the @ing days of the Investigative
Period, with a minimum of 48 violatiori8* Specifically, Enforcement Staff pointed to
four types of affirmative conduct that occurredd @mat during the Investigative Period
BP made 680 fixed-price sales, 101 bid-initiatddsat Houston Ship Channel when a
more economical offer existed at Katy, and 129refiégiated sales when the team could
have made more money at K&%. By contrast, BP maintained that no violations
occurred or, in the alternative, that the numbettayfs was fewer than the 73 total days of
the Investigative Periof* Specifically, BP contended that Abrantes-Metiethto
identify any day when the manipulation occurred| Bergin identified only a few of the
trade days containing the alleged manipulativeattaristics’>

372. The ALJ found that the evidence shows that BP ‘thadreds of affirmative acts
in furtherance of the manipulative scheme durirglttvestigative Period” including

801d. at P 49(i)-(vi). The Sixth Factor, gross profissaddressed in the
disgorgement section above.

81Bp Br. on Exceptions at 80-81.
82D at P 175.

831d. P 177.

841d. P 180.

865|d. PP 181-182.
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“680 fixed-price sales at Houston Ship Channel, Aidiinitiated sales at Houston Ship
Channel when they could have hit a more econondi@bKaty, and 129 offer-initiated
sales when they could have sold more economicgldjusting their price at Katy'*®
The ALJ then stated that “[i]f each individual teaid treated as a separate violation the
facts support a high number of violatiorf&”” The ALJ noted that Enforcement Staff's
recommendation of 48 minimum violations was pretidan the notion that “all
transactions on a given day are treated as a sirg#tion.”*® However, the ALJ
concluded that “Commission rules allow countingheact as a violation” and that “the

record supports the finding that BP committed, ati@mum, 48 violations®*°

b. BP Exceptions

373. BP states that the ALJ erred in finding 48 viola®@ver 48 days “because BP
was a net seller as [Houston Ship Channel] durirah ®f the 48 days'® In particular,
BP contends that it could not have engaged in theipalative scheme on days when its
physical trading was profitabfé' BP also states that it was error to find thateheere
680 manipulative fixed-price sales at Houston SIti@nnel because “[m]aking fixed-
price sales, selling towards the beginning of ditrgsession, and selling via offer-
initiated transactions are not prohibited by then@ussion’s rules or the NGA* BP
further states that it could not be held liablevfmiations for the days on which Staff did
not allege jurisdiction, and that trades executedeveral of the days had none of the
characteristics of the scheme alleged by Enforce®eif®"

86614. p 187.

867

Id.
8814,
869 4.

870BpP Br. on Exceptions at 81.

871|d.

8721d. at 82.

873
Id.
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C. Enforcement Staff Response

374. Enforcement Staff states that BP errs in propotiageach violation must carry
every indicia of manipulation, noting that the Coission implicitly rejected that
approach irBarclays®’* Enforcement Staff agrees that the ALJ was coirestating

that the Commission treats each purchase, salgrmactions as a separate violation,
“and thus requires no proof that each purchase, eatransaction within that scheme is
‘in connection with’ a jurisdictional transactiof’® Enforcement Staff therefore
contends that because Enforcement Staff provedhbatnti-manipulation rule applies to
the scheme, and because the scheme was “in camaath” jurisdictional transactions,
therefore every act done pursuant to the schemeuwasct to the Commission’s anti-
manipulation authorit§’®

d. Commission Determination

375. This is an important issue because we may not sqenalty that is greater than
the maximum authorized by Congré5s.Our statute calls for a maximum penalty of
$1,193,970 per day per violatiBff. Accordingly, it is fundamental to determine the
number of violations and number of days in ordegnisure that any penalties we may
assess are not in excess of that cap.

376. We agree with the ALJ that every transaction madsyant to a manipulative
scheme counts as a separate violation. Accordibgised on the evidence before us,
while the ALJ was correct that this matter invohagdeast 48 violations, we find that it
actually involved well over 600 violations, and—eeging on how the various
transaction are counted—perhaps more than 900cefidne, we find that the maximum
penalty for the scheme here is at least $716 millio

874 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 67-68

872|d. at 68 (citing ID at P 187 n.122).

87614,

877 See Barclaysl44 FERC 1 61,041 at P 128ee also Apprendi v. New Jersey
530 U.S. 466 (2000) (the Sentencing Guidelines nmyenhance criminal penalties
beyond the statutory maximum).

878 NGA Section 22, 15 U.S.C. § 717tQivil Monetary Penalty Inflation
Adjustments155 FERC 61,230 (2016).
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2. Estimate of Loss

a. Initial Decision

377. With respect to the estimate of loss, the ALJ nabed Enforcement Staff's
position was that the manipulation “artificiallymlessed the [Houston Ship Channel]
Gas Dailyindex” which “resulted in financial impact of $¥3482 to $1,927,728 on
next-day natural gas markets at [Houston Ship Célaand Katy during the
Investigative Period®® The ALJ also stated that Enforcement Staff's exBergin
concluded that the volume of BP’s physical natges sales was approximately

10.6 Bcf, and the volume of its financial positiomas approximately 25.3 B&¥° The
ALJ then stated that BP objected on the groundttigae were no financial impacts, and
because, they contended, Abrantes-Metz’s price cirgoaalysis was flawed since her
estimates were small (ranging from a half-penng.focents) and did not control “for
price changes at the related Texas/Gulf area @r dtimdamental control variable®™*
According to the ALJ, BP also objected that Enfaneat Staff's expert Ronn erred by
including Katy trades in the price impact modeljmt&ining that Abrantes-Metz “never
found evidence of manipulative activity at Kaf*and that Bergin’s conclusions are
unsupported®

378. The ALJ first stated that proof of “artificial peas not required to find violations
of the Anti-Manipulation Rule®**and that calculating the amount by which the index
was manipulated by BP is relevant to determiningketsharm and gross profits. The
ALJ then assessed the testimony of Abrantes-Metzerming the metrics used to
quantify the scheme’s impact on prices, which idelli (1) selling Katy gas at Houston
Ship Channel when better prices were availableaty K2) selling more volume

earlier in the day to increase market share duhegeriod of greatest price discovery,

(3) selling at artificially low prices at Houstomi Channel by offering prices lower than

891D at P 188.
880|d.

%11d. P 189.
821d. P 190.
831d. P 191.

841d. P 192 (citingBarclays 144 FERC 1 61,041 at P 59 & n.191).



Docket Nos. IN13-15-000 and IN13-15-001 -178 -

contemporaneous orders by other market participants (4) by increasing the
proportion of their sales by hitting bid%. The ALJ then noted that this led to Abrantes-
Metz’s conclusion that, conservatively speaking, sbheme suppressed the index by a
range of 1.5 cents to 2.2 cents between SeptenSband 30, by 1.2 cents to 1.5 cents in
October, and by a half-cent to 7 tenths of a aeitavembef®® The ALJ also found that
because Abrantes-Metz adequately refuted BP’s gpeiticism and because that same
expert did not challenge her methodology, herrastiy “is given significant weight®®”
The ALJ then noted that Enforcement Staff expertrRealculated the financial impact
by multiplying the sum of open interest positiolysAbrantes-Metz’s estimates of price
impact, yielding a product of approximately $1.3%t09 million®®® Meanwhile, the ALJ
stated that Bergin calculated the amount of phygias involved in BP’s sales as being
approximately 10.6 Bcf, and that the volume of etiée financial positions was
approximately 25.3 B¢t

379. The ALJ stated that the Commission’s penalty assestsorder irBarclays
supports Enforcement Staff's approach in this madtied agreed that Enforcement
Staff's calculation was conservative “since itimited to ICE transactions directly
affected by the Texas [T]Jeam’s behavior and exdutlese in which BP was a seller . . .
because it does not account for off-ICE transasticend because “it excludes
counterparty transactions netted out through dffgetrade$®™ Accordingly, the ALJ
concurred with Enforcement Staff’s estimates o$los

b. BP Exceptions

380. BP contends that the ALJ erred in finding that Ecdonent Staff's estimates of
loss were reliable, stating that Abrantes-Metztseated range of price impact is too
wide and does not control for price changes atedlbcations or other fundamental

8°1d. P 193 (citing Ex. OE-129 at 138:1-18, 140:1-17,:34142:7, 143:1-144:2,
and 144:5-145:16).

838 |d. P 194 (citing Ex. OE-129 at 146:9-147:1).
887|d.

88 1d. P 195.

891d. P 196.

8014, p 197.
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variables® BP further states that Enforcement Staff experirRcompounded the error
by incorporating Abrantes-Metz’s analysis into tedculations, ignoring the fact that
Enforcement Staff expert Bergin had identified obytrade days on which jurisdictional
sales had been made, and including days on whith@®sical trading had been
profitable®¥? BP finally contends that the ALJ erred by notradding BP’s argument
that the price impact analysis should include tsamteKaty, and that Bergin’s
computation of natural gas volumes was oversta¢eduse it included all of BP’s
positions and not simply those on days in whichdemh described by Abrantes-Metz
occurred and on which Bergin had asserted invowesdictional transaction-

C. Enforcement Staff Response

381. Enforcement Staff states that its estimate of We&s conservative and that the
ALJ correctly accorded substantial weight to theegoartificiality estimate by Abrantes-
Metz and the loss estimate by Rdfth.Enforcement Staff states that Abrantes-Metz
provided substantial testimony on how she quaxti#®’s suppression of prices at
Houston Ship Channel, and that BP fails to subistinits claim that she failed to control
for certain variable&” Enforcement Staff further states that the Comimist Barclays
endorsed the methodology that Ronn used to estimt@idosses, and also states that
Ronn’s estimate was conservative because it dithohtded non-ICE transactions
directly affected by the scheme or BP’s s&f8sEnforcement Staff states that BP is
incorrect in stating that Ronn should not haveudeld Katy in his loss calculations
because it was undisputed why Ronn did so (bedg&atseprices were highly correlated
to Houston Ship Channel prices, and price discolgri{aty market participants was
mostly done at Houston Ship Channel), and becdgsscdheme thus had an impact on
prices at Katy®’ Enforcement Staff also states that its unjusfifcalculation from

891 BP Br. on Exceptions at 83.

892|d. at 83-84.

893d. at 94.

894 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 69.
895 Id

%% d. at 69-70.

8971d. at 70.
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BP’s Houston Ship Channel conduct is not inconststgth the impact of that conduct at
Katy 5%

d. Commission Determination

382. We agree with the ALJ’s findings regarding the amiaaf loss. We find that
Enforcement Staff's methodology produced a readersgiproximation. We also find,
contrary to BP’s contention, that Enforcement Spaffved that every trade was at a
minimum “in connection with” jurisdictional transaans because every trade made
pursuant to the manipulative scheme went into daxrthat, in turn, affected the price of
jurisdictional transactions such as cash-out salée.also reject BP’s contention that
Enforcement Staff must prove that every trade blogesame characteristics of
manipulation; there is no singular list of charaistecs that will be found in every
manipulation or every transaction or act made thierance of a manipulative scheme.

3. Adjudication of Similar Misconduct within 5 Years

a. Rehearing Request

383. BP timely requested rehearing from the Commissionder directing the ALJ to
make factual findings on the Penalty Guidelinesdiarelating to the question whether
BP committed any part of the violation less thayreérs after an adjudication by the
Commissiort®® In particular, BP contends that consent decre=sat adjudications,
that the decrees were entered into three yearstpribe Penalty Guidelines, and that the
Commission does not have authority to find thatBfPated a district court’s permanent
injunction. We deny rehearing. BP misconstruesriture of the factual findings
directed here. The Penalty Guidelines do not radependent force of law—they are
simply a means that the Commission has selectagsist in assessing civil penalties
according to the factors set out in the statute.séch, whether BP is found to have
violated an injunction or other court decree doassnbject BP to independent liability
for the act, nor does it increase BP’s NGA pensltieyond that which Congress has
authorized. Instead, such findings provide a mégnshich the Commission will
determine the proper penalties that BP will be ss=# within the Commission’s
statutory authority. Moreover, the alleged pridjualication occurred after Congress
passed the Energy Policy Act of 2005. As sucis, bt necessary for a court or other
government agency to have found that BP violatemhjamction or other court decree in

898 d. at 70-71.

899 Rehearing Request at 38-43.
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order for the Commission to consider BP’s conduactlation to that injunction or other
court decreé®

b. Initial Decision

384. The ALJ noted that Enforcement Staff claimed thatscheme “violated

three relevant settlements and are therefore dutjenhanced penalties under the
Penalty Guidelines®* This includes one self-reported capacity reledsiation and

two separate actions alleging propane manipulattmthe Commodities Futures

Trading Commission and Department of JustféeEnforcement Staff also alleged that
BP’s conduct violated a permanent injunction inQ&TC settlement because the scheme
constituted manipulation of a commodity in intetsteommercé® The ALJ then noted
that BP contended that Enforcement Staff did nagtrite burden of proving a violation
within five years of a prior Commission or simikjudication>* In particular, BP

stated that the prior settlement between BP an@dmemission did not involve any
company that was a party to this matter, and tinseat agreement was in any event
unrelated to the alleged manipulation h&feBP further argued that the prior settlements
with CFTC and the Department of Justice (DOJ) ate‘adjudications” within the
meaning of the Penalty Guidelines, in part bectluseettlements preceded the
Commission’s release of the Guidelir®5.BP also stated that because the

%9 loosely analogous circumstances, federal congg use criminal conduct
for which the defendant has not been convictedchb@ace penalties under the Sentencing
Guidelines. See, e.g., United States v. S;mM&RO F. App’x 29, 37-38 (11th Cir. 2010);
United States v. Ashqga82 F.3d 819, 823-25 (7th Cir. 200@ited States v. Sampson
245 F. App’'x 263, 269-70 (4th Cir. 200Qnited States v. Frias39 F.3d 391, 392 (2d
Cir. 1994).

11D at P 198.

9921d. (citing In re BP Energy C9.121 FERC 61,088 (2007)).
%931d. P 199.

%41d. P 204.

%°1d. P 205.

964, p 207.
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Commission’s policy statements are not precedenttialstatements in the Guidelines are
not binding and cannot be treated as having theefof federal law®’

385. The ALJ noted that the Penalty Guidelines providg &n organization’s
culpability score may be enhanced if it committieel turrent violation less than

five years against a prior Commission adjudicatbany violation or an adjudication of
similar misconduct by any other enforcement agéfftyhe ALJ found that BP had
entered into three settlements which constituter gristory of adjudication under the
Guidelines—the 2007 settlement with the Commissilovolving a $7 million penalty),
and 2007 consent agreements with DOJ and CFTQlégyea manipulation of the
propane market (totaling $225 million in penaltéesl $53.5 million restitutior’® The
ALJ found that the scheme at issue in the propatieements constituted an adjudication
of similar misconduct to the scheme at issue A8r@he ALJ further found that the fact
that the Guidelines are in a non-binding policyesteent does not obviate their use, and
noted that agencies routinely speak through paliatements$** The ALJ further found
that the fact that the conduct occurred beforeatielelines does not mean that the
Commission cannot take Guidelines factors into i@mation in determining appropriate
sanctions for market manipulatiétf. Finally the ALJ found that while the entities
specifically at issue in those prior settlementsen®t the same as the BP subsidiaries at
issue here, it is well established that “the Consiis can disregard corporate forms
when necessary to fulfill its statutory obligatidris®

%71d. p 208.
0814, p 212.

%991d. P 213 (citingin re BP Energy Cp.121 FERC { 61,088 (2007);
Commodity Futures Trading Comm’n v. BP Prods. N. lam, No. 06-cv-03503,
Consent Order for Permanent Injunction and OthdieR &Y 14-15, 38-43 (N.D. lll.
Oct. 25, 2007)United States v. BP America, InDeferred Prosecution Agreement,
No. 07 CR 683, 11 7-9 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 25, 2007)).

M014. p 212.
1 |d. PP 214-215.
121d. p 217.

%31d. P 218 (citingSan Diego Gas & Elec. Co. v. Sellers of Mkt. Ene&gy
Ancillary Services127 FERC 61,269, at P 221 (200pital Tel. Co. Inc. v. FCC

(continued...)
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C. BP Exceptions

386. BP states that the ALJ erred in concluding thatlinee prior settlements should

be treated as adjudications, stating that the Be@Galidelines are merely a statement of
policy that does not justify treating them as stiéhBP further states that settlements are
not akin to trial judgments and that the Commisg$ias never established a rule that prior
settlements should be treated as adjudicafibn8P then states that the three settlements
at issue here should not be treated as adjudicaiecause they involved a subsidiary
that is not named in this matter, that subsidiag ho expectation that the consent order
would be treated as an adjudication, and becaesagieement with DOJ was eventually
dismissed once BP had satisfied its conditidfisrinally, BP contends that the prior
settlements should not be treated as adjudicatar3enalty Guidelines purposes
because they were entered into nearly three yefoseothe Commission articulated the
Guidelines’’

d. Enforcement Staff Response

387. Enforcement Staff states that BP’s contention tth@tPenalty Guidelines are non-
binding is a meritless defen$¥. Enforcement Staff states instead that the Conioniss
routinely uses the Guidelines to evaluate the t&tutory factors required by the
NGA.**® Enforcement Staff also states the BP is incottett Commission settlements
cannot constitute “adjudications” under the Guidesi because all such settlements can

498 F.2d 734, 738 (D.C. Cir. 1972) (“[Clourts haamsistently recognized that a
corporate entity may be disregarded in the inteyeptiblic convenience, fairness and
equity . . . [W]hen the notion of legal entity isad to defeat public convenience, justify
wrong, protect fraud, or defend crime, the law weljard the corporation as an
association of persons.”)).

94 BP Br. on Exceptions at 88.

*°Id. at 89.

*%1d. at 89-90.

7 1d. at 90.

%18 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 73.

191d. at 74.
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only be approved by the Commission after it haisfsad itself that a violation

occurred?®® Enforcement Staff also states that BP cannotdaawienhanced penalty
stemming from the 2007 Commission settlement bexaoe of the respondents here was
named in that order, and that the BP subsidiaa@sed here should not be able to use
corporate formalities to escape responsibilityther CFTC and DOJ settlemerits.

e. Commission Determination

388. We reject BP’s contention that this factor canrotpplied here because the
settlements or conduct occurred before the Pefaltgielines were promulgated. The
Guidelines do not have the force of law, and as 8RR is only subject to the
Commission’s determination of penalties. At théset; we note that the Penalty
Guidelines are merely advisofyf,and were promulgated to assist the Commission in
assessing penalties according to the relevanttstatiactors enunciated in Section 22(c)
of the NGA: (1) “the nature and seriousness olvib&ation” and (2) “the efforts to
remedy the violation®*® Thus, BP is subject to the penalties and fadt@sCongress
enunciated in the Energy Policy Act of 2005. SitleeGuidelines are merely a means
by which the Commission achieves the assessmantCumgress directed, applying them
here does not implicate questions about retroactilamaking.

389. As was stated in thRevised Policy Statement on Penalty Guidelities
Commission rejected the “suggestion that we naitt fpeior settlements as ‘adjudications’
that would trigger the prior history enhancementerthe Penalty Guideline&%
Accordingly, we agree with the ALJ that BP’s prgattlement with the Commission
counts as a prior adjudication.

920|d. at 74-75.
9211d. at 75.

922 Revised Policy Statement on Penalty Guidelit88 FERC { 61,216, at P 32
(2010) (“our decision to adopt a guidelines-baggatr@ach does not restrict the discretion
that we have always exercised and will continuexircise in order to make an
individualized assessment based on the facts gegbana given case.”).

92315 U.S.C. § 717t-1(c).

924 Revised Policy Statement on Penalty Guidelit88 FERC 1 61,216, at P 162
(2010).
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390. The next question is whether the CFTC and DOJeseéhts also count as prior
history. BP contends that they do not becausesthettlements involved different
corporate subsidiaries. The ALJ held, and BP ditdcontend otherwise, that the
Commission has authority to disregard the corpdata when necessary to achieve the
purposes of the statute. BP did not persuade ¢inen@ssion to find otherwise, and the
interests of justice and appropriate deterrencegatalin favor of treating the prior
settlements as applicable under this factor.

4. Violation of Judicial or Commission Order within 5 Years

a. Rehearing Request

391. BP timely requested rehearing from the Commissionder directing the ALJ to
make factual findings on the Penalty Guidelinesdiacelating to the question whether
BP committed any part of the violation less thayeérs after an adjudication by the
Commissiort?® For the reasons stated above, we deny rehearing.

b. Initial Decision

392. The ALJ noted that Enforcement Staff stated thistmot required to prove a
violation of the Commodity Exchange Act in ordewuse the 2007 consent order to
enhance penalties here, because the Guidelinesé¢heaa contain no such
requirement?® By contrast, BP contended that by failing to grafvat the scheme
directly violated a judicial order, Commission arder injunction, this factor cannot be
used to enhance penalti5.BP also stated that Enforcement Staff did nov@m
violation of the consent order here because theidialny who was party to that
agreement was not named in this mattérMoreover, BP contended that the consent
agreement enjoined violations of the Commodity Exaje Act, which was not proved

92> Rehearing Request at 38-43.
9%|D at P 219.
%271d. P 220.

9281d. p 221.



Docket Nos. IN13-15-000 and IN13-15-001 - 186 -

here®?® Finally, BP stated that Enforcement Staff waitteid issue because its brief
“groups this issue and the preceding issue togétfier

393. The ALJ stated that the Penalty Guidelines prothd an organization’s
culpability score may be enhanced if the condunliated a judicial or Commission order
or injunction by federal and state enforcement aigsi>* The ALJ found that BP’s
conduct contravenes the terms of the permanemadtipn that was part of the 2007
settlement with CFTC, and therefore is covered ¥ 8.3(d) of the Guidelines, and
therefore warrants a 2-point enhancement to BR{sability score®™? The ALJ further
found that § 1C2.3 does not require a finding eydburt that issued the order that the
conduct in this matter violated that ord&t.

C. BP Exceptions

394. BP states that the ALJ erred in ignoring the sdpararporate identities of the

BP subsidiaries at issue in this proceeding as eoaapto the entities at issue in the prior
orders™* BP notes that the Commission “may disregard tparate form” but to do
that it “must determine that doing so would be ssaey to fulfill its statutory duties™*

BP also contends that the ALJ did not engage isoread decision making in determining
that BP violated an order in the CFTC matter beedls injunction applied to a different
BP subsidiary and because it claims the injundioplied only to violations of the
Commodity Exchange ACE® BP therefore states that the ALJ could not haved a

91d. p 222.

901d. P 223.

Bl1d. P 224.

%21d. P 225.

%314,

%% BP Br. on Exceptions at 90-91.

9% |d. at 91 (citingAdm’rs of the Tulane Educ. Fund v. Ipsen Pharmd, SA
112 F. Supp. 2d 24, 28 (D.D.C. 201$khattner v. Girard, Inc668 F.2d 1366 (D.C.
Cir. 1982)).

936 d. at 91-92.
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violation of that injunction because there is naewuce of such a violation in the
record®™’ BP also states that it complied with the DOJ egrent’®

d. Enforcement Staff Response

395. Enforcement Staff states that BP offers no supjpoiits position that the ALJ
cannot find that BP violated the injunction in @07 CFTC Consent Order because that
provision related to the Commodity Exchange RetEnforcement Staff states that the
injunction included as an example manipulationhef price of a commodity in interstate
commerce, which is what is alleged to have happeeeef*® Enforcement Staff further
states that it is appropriate for the Commissioait®to the CFTC injunction for the sole
purpose of addressing appropriate penalties uheelGA.

e. Commission Determination

396. We agree with the ALJ that BP’s culpability scom@sld be enhanced because its
manipulative scheme violated another order withia {ears. To perform our penalty
analysis, we do not—and need not—find that the gonhdiolated the Commodity
Exchange Act or any other statute; rather, thetoqpress merely whether the conduct is
prohibited by the plain language of a prior ordellere, the CFTC order prohibited the
company from manipulating any commodity, and teatihat happened here. Moreover,
the fact that DOJ rescinded the Deferred Prosatétgreement after BP established
compliance with it does not mean that we canndt toahat order in determining
whether the conduct here violated it. And as askire above, we are not persuaded that
BP’s formal corporate structure precludes us fromiyang this factor here.

%71d. at 92.

938
Id.

939 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 76.

%914, (citing CFTC v. BP Prods. N. Am., In€onsent Order for Permanent
Injunction and Other Relief, Civil Action No. 06-&8503, T 83(a)(i) (N.D. Ill. Oct. 25,
2007).
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5. Compliance Program

a. Initial Decision

397. Enforcement Staff submitted that BP’s complianaggpam was ineffective for
three reasons: it failed to prevent or detecsttiteme at issue here during the
Investigative Period; its internal inquiry constédd a “whitewash” of the scheme; and in
moving to discredit Luskie’s concerns, BP demonsttanore concern with self-
protection than uncovering the tritt. BP countered that its compliance program was
effective, contending that Enforcement Staff didlintroduce any evidence addressing
the program’s effectiveness and focused insteaattempting to discredit it while
disregarding evidence to the contrdfy.Instead, BP contended, the evidence showed
that the compliance program was effective, anddbatpliance staff did not try to cover
up questionable trading behavi6t.

398. The ALJ noted that the Commission directed thatifigs be made respecting
BP’s compliance program under the factors liste§l iB2.1 of the Penalty Guidelin&$.
The ALJ recited the factors of 8 1B2.1, and stélgd be effective a compliance
program must minimally meet these seven factdrs The ALJ then found that BP’s
compliance program did not satisfy those fact8tsAs an initial matter, the ALJ also
found that Enforcement Staff's support for BP’s @liance program during the
investigatory phase of this proceeding does notntieat Staff cannot introduce its
subsequent discovery, during the administratiwgaiton phase, of evidence that the
program was not in fact satisfactdfy. The ALJ then proceeded to analyze the
seven factors, as follows:

11D at P 2263ee alsad. PP 227-231.

%21d. P 233.

31d. PP 235-236.

94|d. P 237 (citing Hearing Order at P 49(v)).
%51d. PP 238-239.

%%1d. P 239.

%71d. P 240.
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Factor 1: Internal Standards and Procedures toverg and Detect
Violations The ALJ found that BP did not have strong inkkstandards that
would prevent and detect violations, including fihets that its reports excluded
certain markers of manipulation and Compliancentitialways follow up when
reports flagged questionable trading beha¥dr.

Factor 2: High-Level Management Knowledge and Giggt of Internal
Compliance ProgramsThe ALJ found that BP’s management’s actionswsho
minimal oversight, including having inappropriategersations about Luskie’s
statements, predetermining the outcome of thenatgrocess before the
investigation was complete, and not taking thegalliens seriously?*®

Factor 3: Reasonable (Due Diligence) Efforts togen Out “Bad
Actors.” The ALJ found that BP had failed to screen oatd‘lactors” because its
reports and reporting requirements could not addhdt effectively screen out
“bad actors,” nor was there evidence of any foliggwhen certain trading was
flagged?®

Factor 4. Reasonable Communications and Trainiffgrs. The ALJ
found that while BP’s compliance team frequenttgaded manager meetings,
they did not use it as an opportunity to review pbamce procedures or otherwise
take an active role in the meetirigs.The ALJ also found that although traders
attended anti-manipulation training, there was vidence that the training
addressed physical-for-financial manipulatich.

%81d. PP 241-243.
91d. PP 244-248.
%01d. P 249.
%11d. P 250.

%21d. P 251.
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Factor 5: Reasonable Steps to Evaluate Prograradffeness, Including
Confidential Avenues for Employees to Report Noptiance The ALJ found
there was no evidence that BP took any steps toaesthe effectiveness of its
compliance program, and that in fact the actionsdiypliance members indicated
a lack of support for employees to report violasidti

Factor 6: Compliance Incentives and NoncompliaBaeactions The ALJ
found that BP’s compliance program lacked incestifice employees to comply
with the anti-manipulation rules, and that in fdwtre were affirmative incentives
for certain traderaotto comply because, as the ALJ found, “financiatiars
generally receive a higher percentage of the Whleg generate, versus physical
traders.”* Accordingly, traders who traded both physical &indncial “would
benefit . . . to do well in financial tradind>® As such, traders in that position
would make more money by not complying with theesul The ALJ also rejected
BP’s contention that its “Passport to Work” programs an incentive to comply
with the rules, and noted BP cited no evidencéérécord that completing the
program was required for all employ€gs.

Factor 7: Reasonable Responsive Steps After atibalhas been
Detected The ALJ found that BP had failed to take reabtmateps after
detecting a violatio>” The ALJ in particular found that after detectthg
violation, BP’s compliance personnel took minimeti@ns conducive to
complying with the company’s protocols (such asfyiolg the Independent
Monitor, who in turn notified CFTC), and BP did nake reasonable steps
afterwards, for while the initial report includedeview of BP’s physical and

%31d. PP 252-254.
%41d. P 255.

955|d.

%%1d. PP 255-256.

%71d. P 257.
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financial positions, this data was deleted froredalrafts’>® At the same time,

language was inserted into the draft stating tbatiolations had been found, and
then BP ended the internal inquiry before it wasmpleted?*
Accordingly, the ALJ found that BP is not entitfedcompliance credit®

b. BP Exceptions

399. BP contends that the ALJ erred in finding that B&Smpliance program failed to
satisfy the factors set forth in the Penalty Gurded®®* In particular, BP states that
Enforcement Staff had previously said that the seofithe compliance program
“reflected applicable industry practices” and tB& provided it with sufficient
resource€®® BP contends that these statements constitutesaims by a party
opponent and cannot be ignor&d.With respect to each of the factors, BP avers the
following:

Factor 1: Internal Standards and Procedures toverg and Detect
Violations BP states that the ALJ’s finding that BP faitechave strong internal
standards to prevent and detect violation was easeind inconsistefft: BP
further states that the ALJ erred by ignoring tbeuntless other sources of data to
which BP Compliance had access that containedfamftion such as its financial
and physical positions, and that there is no evidehat the reports could have
been improved by including additional data.BP contends that it was incorrect
to fault the compliance program for failing to hdaebowed up on a single report

%8|d. PP 258-261.

%91d. PP 262-263.

%01d. P 264.

%1BP Br. on Exceptions at 92.
%21d. at 93.

963 |d.

%41d. at 94.

%51d. at 95.
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because there was no company-wide requirementitegptollow up every time a
daily report flagged a tradé®

Factor 2: High-Level Management Knowledge and Giggt of Internal
Compliance ProgramsBP states that the ALJ concedes that it ha@atahy of
high-level officials involved in compliance, plus andependent monitor, and
further states that the ALJ was incorrect in faigitmanagement oversight because
one manager “made an admittedly bad joKé.”

Factor 3: Reasonable (Due Diligence) Efforts toeen Out “Bad
Actors.” BP states that the ALJ erred in finding that BRefl to make reasonable
efforts to screen out “bad actors,” because théezve shows that BP utilized
measures to enhance its compliance progfdm.

Factor 4: Reasonable Communications and Trainiffgrs. BP further
states that the ALJ erred in finding that BP’s caimmation efforts and training
were flawed, contending instead that the evidehogs that compliance officers
frequently attended manager meetings, and thatdaheng was not deficient
simply because the training slides in one exhititrebt specifically address
physical-for-financial manipulatio??® BP states that the slides in that exhibit
included warnings about transacting outside theketarice, and that Luskie’s
testimony referred to “semiregular” conversatiorihwompliance officerd’®

Factor 5 Reasonable Steps to Evaluate Program Effectivehedading
Confidential Avenues for Employees to Report Noptiance BP states that the
ALJ erred in finding that BP’s program was not cocigte to employees reporting
compliance violations, and notes one instance iichvé trader reported a line
manager for a violatiol! BP further states that its confidential “Helplirsend its

966
Id.

%71d. at 96.

968 |d.

**91d. at 96-97 (citing Ex. OE-047).
901d. at 97.

911d. at 98.



Docket Nos. IN13-15-000 and IN13-15-001 - 193 -

requirement that employees report violations sheatify this factor, and the
facts specific to Luskie’s incident “is wholly ilevant to whether BP meets the
objective standard for this factot'?

Factor 6: Compliance Incentives and NoncompliaBa@actions BP states
that the ALJ was incorrect in finding BP deficiémthis regard because, it
contends, a financial trader’s potential to receiregher percentage of the value
they generate than a physical trader is not inifieadf the lack of complianc¥?
BP states that the record does not support a fintthiat BP’s bonus structure paid
traders a percentage of their individual P&L, amak the ALJ erred in finding that
the fact that Comfort traded both financial andbtsl did not mean he had an
incentive to make more money on his financial thapsical book"

Factor 7: Reasonable Responsive Steps After atibal has been
Detected BP also contends that the ALJ erred in findimat BP did not take
reasonable steps after detecting a violalidrBP states that the fact that certain
language was removed from the report is not proatemand the ALJ’s finding
that BP ended its internal inquiry on Novemberfoigs the record evident@.
Finally, BP states that there are no requiremdraisthe company “continue an
internal investigation in the face of investigagdsy two federal agencie&’”

C. Enforcement Staff Response

400. Enforcement Staff contends that the ALJ correcifedmined that BP’s
compliance program did not satisfy the factorstegcin the Penalty Guidelines. As a
general matter, Enforcement Staff states that th&was not bound by Enforcement
Staff's preliminary statements made during the stigation, and that it was Enforcement
Staff’'s subsequent discovery of previously unkndagts that led Enforcement Staff to

97214,

973|d.

941d. at 99.

5 d.

976|d.

971d. at 100.
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recommend finding that BP’s compliance program wm@satisfactory’® This included

the discovery of serious deficiencies in BP’s caargte program in early 2009 after it
deposed one BP witness, and BP’s production oblegiopies of compliance reports that
flagged certain tradin’ Further, Enforcement Staff states that the evidetoes not
support making Enforcement Staff's preliminary sta¢nts binding, and that BP should
not get self-reporting credit simply for furnishiagcopy of the call to the independent
monitor ®® Enforcement Staff also states that the ALJ warecbin rejecting as
evidence of the program’s effectiveness the faatt tthe DOJ moved to dismiss the
Defegrgiad Prosecution Agreement since that actiohwmaelated to the conduct at issue
here:

401. Staff then addresses each of the 7 factors aswsillo

Factor 1: Internal Standards and Procedures tovemg and Detect
Violations Enforcement Staff states that the ALJ did int ssess and describe
the intended or theoretical purpose of the compbéaeports that BP claims
validate its program, and that BP’s own witnesdestified humerous
deficiencies and limitations of those repdfts.

Factor 2: High-Level Management Knowledge and Giggt of Internal
Compliance ProgramsEnforcement Staff states that the ALJ correfciiynd that
BP’s management did not exercise appropriate ayletrsif compliance, and that
BP’s rebuttal fails because the “point of the fatts “to determine whether
management waactually committed to ensuring Compliance’s effectivened.”
Enforcement Staff then states that the evidence/stidhat BP’s management’s

978 Enforcement Staff Br. Opposing Exceptions at 78.
*d. at 79.

980 Id

*%11d. at 80.

*%2|d. at 81-82.

%3|d. at 82.
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instinct was to discredit Luskie and to defendatyy term employees from
allegations of market manipulation without firseexining the trading behavié?

Factor 3: Reasonable (Due Diligence) Efforts togen Out “Bad
Actors.” Enforcement Staff states that BP cites no evideéosupport its
assertion that it took reasonable efforts to scoeeribad actors®> Enforcement
Staff also states that the ALJ correctly noted BRats compliance group failed to
follow-up on flagged trading®

Factor 4: Reasonable Communications and TrainiffgrEs. Enforcement
Staff states that the ALJ correctly found no eviethat BP’s compliance group
actively participated in weekly meetings with tresjeand that compliance
personnel did not regularly communicate with tradard that BP’s anti-
manipulation training efforts were deficiefif.

Factor 5 Reasonable Steps to Evaluate Program Effectivehedading
Confidential Avenues for Employees to Report Noptiance Enforcement Staff
states that the record contains no evidence thab&Psteps to evaluate the
effectiveness of its compliance program or thatgularly reviewed its program
in any fashion’®

Factor 6: Compliance Incentives and NoncompliaBaactions
Enforcement Staff states that BP’s traders lackedrtives to comply with anti-
manipulation rule§®® In particular, Enforcement Staff cites BP’s bopuasgram
as rewarding financial traders with more profitrthhysical traders, which
Enforcement Staff contends created incentives yorid traders to shift their
profits from physical to financiaf’

984 |d

%°1d. at 83.
986 |d

%71d. at 84.
%81d. at 85.

%91d. at 86.

990
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Factor 7: Reasonable Responsive Steps After atibalhas been
Detected Enforcement Staff states that the ALJ correfctiynd that BP’s
compliance program did not take reasonable stepsraiceiving the November 5
call®** In particular, Enforcement Staff states that Bébgections ignore the fact
that the company had in fact represented thatstaeaducting an internal
investigation and would keep the monitor in theplo@hen in fact it abandoned
the inquiry shortly after the government investigias begari??> Moreover,
Enforcement Staff states that the BP complianceiigalid not review actual
trading patterns with the traders even thoughnasvatness had said, the truth
could be found in the daf&

d. Commission Determination

402. For the reasons stated in the ALJ’s findings, weaghat BP’s compliance
program does not satisfy the factors listed in 8 1Bf the Penalty Guidelines. After
reviewing the facts, we are not persuaded by BBjsations, and find instead that BP’s
compliance program was deficient in structure agoeration.

C. Assessment of Penalties

403. The next step is to assess penalties. Assessiaitips under Section 22 of the
NGA involves two critical steps. The first is tecartain the statutory maximum, so that
we can be sure that the penalties we assess areaatess of what Congress has
authorized. The second step is to apply the tatuiry factors—seriousness and efforts
to remedy—to determine the appropriate amount néjbes to assess.

404. As addressed above, we find that this matter ireivell over 600 violations,
and perhaps more than 900. Each manipulativetiool#éasted for at least one day.
Accordingly, the largest penalty authorized by Gesg is in excess of $716 million
(at $$1,193,970 per day per violation), which isHfeher than the penalties we will
assess in this proceedirty.

*11d. at 87.
9921d. (citing Tr. 2028:14-24 (Simmons)).
9931d. at 88 (citing Ex. OE-196 at 5:16-6:1-6).

994 NGA Section 22(a), 15 U.S.C. § 717t-1(a).
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405. Regarding the second step, we have promulgatembtinddinding Penalty
Guidelines to assist us in applying the two statutactors listed in section 22 of the
NGA.** Under § 1C2.1 of the Penalty Guidelines, we fastertain the base penalty
amount, which is derived from the violation lev&lor manipulation matters, we begin
with a base violation level of ¢ As addressed above, BP’s manipulative scheme
caused financial losses of between $1,375,482 &182%,728, which adds 16 to the base
violation level®®” The scheme affected more than 35 Bcf of physindlfinancial

natural gas, which adds another 6 to the basetiginlevel’®® This results in a violation

level of 28, which corresponds to a base penaltywarnof $6.3 million’*®

406. Next, we determine the culpability score, whichretates to minimum and
maximum multipliers that establish the penalty etfd® The base culpability

score is 5°°! Here we add two points for the prior adjudicatidthin 5 years of the
violation, and another 2 points for BP’s violatioha Commission or judicial order
within 5 years of the schem®? Then we subtract one point because BP cooperated
during the investigatiof?>® BP receives no deduction for its compliance progror for
self-reporting'®®* This yields a culpability score of 8, which capends to a minimum
and maximum multiplier of 1.6/32%

99° NGA Section 22(c), 15 U.S.C.§ 717t-1(c).

99 penalty Guidelines §2B1.1(a).

%971d. §2B1.1(b)(1)(1).

9% 1d. §2B1.1(b)(2)(C).

991d. §1C2.2(b).

10914, §1C2.3.

100114, §1C2.3(a).

100214, 81C2.3(c) & (d).

1903 Staff Report at 73; Penalty Guidelines §1C2.3(g)(2
1904 penalty Guidelines §1C2.3(f) & (g)(1).

100514, 81C2.4.
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407. The product of the culpability score multiplierdahe base penalty amount is
$10.08 to $20.16 million. This is the range defeed by our calculation of the
Penalty Guideline&®®

408. Finally, because the Penalty Guidelines provideetyex “first step in determining
an appropriate penally’’ and because “the Commission cannot predict hewillit
measure loss in every case” since “[t]here mayiloeiimstances when precise
calculations cannot be made” and “the availabditgvidence will likely vary from case
to case,***® we must undertake an independent assessment abthgon in order to
determine whether the amount calculated under ¢éin@lB/ Guidelines is reasonable and
appropriate under the NGR% As reiterated in thBarclayspenalty assessment order,
“the ‘decision to adopt a guidelines-based apprales not restrict the discretion that
we have always exercised and will continue to egern order to make an

individualized assessment based on the facts pegbéna given case*®*°

409. We find the violation here to have been very sexioBP manipulated the

market to profit from a natural disaster, and @ dot stop after a trade or two but rather
kept the scheme going for nearly three months.sBBheme did not simply defraud its
counterparties; by manipulating the Houston Shiprtel index, BP affected the price of
natural gas throughout the Houston region and llyeatiered the value of physical and
financial transactions of everyone trading in thgion—even those who did not trade
with BP. This sort of “ripple effect” is one reaswhy the manipulation of natural gas
indexes is so damaging: other market participantsconsumers are the inevitable
victim of the sort of scheme that BP’s traders cated. The Commission deregulated
wholesale natural gas prices to achieve Congressitove that rates be just and
reasonable, but this sort of market manipulatiotieumines the value and stability of our
deregulated markets, and if left undeterred ultglyamay raise questions about whether
the benefits of deregulation outweigh the costsrtHérmore, with respect to efforts to

100814 §1C2.5(a)-(b).
1907 Revised Policy Statement on Penalty Guidelit88 FERC { 61,216 at P 19.
10984, p 2086.

190956 Barclaysl44 FERC § 61,041 at P 125 (undertaking independe
assessment of penalties under the FPA).

1019Barclays 144 FERC 61,041 at P 125 (quotidevised Policy Statement on
Penalty Guidelings1l32 FERC 61,216 at P 32).
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remedy the violations, we note that BP cooperatiéll Einforcement Staff’s
investigation, but BP did not self-report the viaa, did not use its internal inquiry to
assist Enforcement Staff, and did not take othegrssto remedy the harm.

410. Accordingly we find that the appropriate civil pégehere is at the top of the
Guidelines range: $20.16 million.

The Commission orders:

(A) The Commission affirms the ID, as discussethabody of this order.

(B) The Commission directs BP to pay to the Uni&attes Treasury by a wire
transfer a sum of $20,160,000 in civil penaltiethimi 60 days after the issuance of this
order, as discussed in the body of this ordeBPfdoes not make this civil penalty
payment within the stated time period, interestabdgy to the United States Treasury will
begin to accrue pursuant to the Commission’s réigmis at 18 C.F.R. § 35.19(a) (2015)
from the date that payment is due.

(C) The Commission directs BP, within 60 days atfterissuance of this order,
to disgorge its unjust profits in the amount of $2®9 to the Low Income Home Energy
Assistance Program (LIHEAP) of the state of Texagtie benefit of its energy
consumers.

(D) BP’s Rehearing Request is denied, as discussth@ body of this order.

By the Commission. Chairman Bay is not participgti

(SEAL)

Nathaniel J. Davis, Sr.,
Deputy Secretary.



